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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD. (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2022 (“2022", the “Year” or the “Reporting Period”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The total
million (total revenue was approximately RMB1,209.27 million in 2021),
representing an increase of 22.5% as compared to the year ended 31

revenue of the Group was approximately RMB1,481.64

December 2021. The gross profit amounted to approximately RMB341.85
million in 2022 (approximately RMB248.14 million in 2021), representing an
increase of 37.8% as compared to the year ended 31 December 2021,
mainly due to the increase in revenue, enhanced facilities efficiency and
reduction in unit power consumption. The profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately RMB112.74 million (loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB26.82
million in 2021), turning profits from losses.

REVIEW

In 2022, one set of 60,000Nm3/h and two sets of 40,000Nm?3/h air
separations units of the Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd.
(“Zhonggqi Investment (Tangshan)”’) which is part of the Group were
commissioned. With the commissioning of the new plants, the Group’s
production capacity and technical capability of its equipment have been
substantially enhanced. The new plants of Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan)
have capitalised on its competitive advantages in terms of equipment,
technology and talents; successfully achieving its production output and
operational efficiency targets through technological innovations such
as automatic variable load, liquid oxygen self-pressurisation and steam
heating. These have become an important source of profit growth for the
Group. Meanwhile, the successful development and market launch of rare
gas products (lean krypton xenon) has addressed the Group’s market gaps
in the aerospace and high-end electronic products sectors, continuously
enhancing its market core competitiveness.
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In 2022, the proactive efforts of the Group’s research and development
personnel have accelerated the Group’s efforts
independent innovation capability. This includes strengthening the
management of intellectual property rights such as solving specific
research topics, patent applications and computer software copyright
registrations, providing the Group with solid technological support for high
quality development. The Group’s main subsidiary, Tangshan Tangsteel

in enhancing its

Gases Co., Ltd. (“TTG"), has passed the annual qualification review and
obtained the certification as a high-tech enterprise for 2022 to 2025.
Furthermore, in 2022, we established eight new science and technology
topics and were granted a third-class award for science and technology
advancement. The Group made applications for eight patents for utility
models and one patent for invention.

OUTLOOK

Building on its solid experience in serving the steel smelting industry,
the Group will in particular have more in-depth cooperation with HBIS
Group Co., Ltd. (“HBIS”) at the steel base in Laoting. Focusing on the
development needs of its customers, the Group will evaluate market
trends, accelerating the research and development of high value-added
products. The Group also endeavors to cultivate high quality customers
with a view to enhancing the influence and awareness of its enterprise
brand, thereby improving the market competitiveness of the Group.

| will continue to uphold the principle of “serving the society, rewarding
shareholders and advancing employees interests”. By accelerating the
Group’s strategic layout throughout the markets in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”), and increasing the pace of developing new markets,
this will lead the Group towards high quality development through
technological innovation.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Chairman’s Statement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff of the Group
for their contribution in 2022 and to express our sincere appreciation to our
customers, shareholders and the community for their continuous support
to the Company!

Mr. Yao Li
Chairman

Tangshan, 27 March 2023
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Five Year Financial Summary

20224 20214 20204 20194 20184
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ARETR ARBTIT ARBTT ARETT ARETTT
£ | RESULTS RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
W &= Revenue 1,481,644 1,209,271  1186,824 1305152 1145578
W& F7 18 % A% Al Profit before income tax 161,018 14,118 3,688 172,026 152,354
FEHEX Income tax expense (48,275) (40,935) (31,385) (38,188) (32,521)
AATEEAEEEARFE,  Profit/(loss) for the year
(E5#8) attributable to owners
of the Company
ERARHEBA Owners of the Company 112,743 (26,817) (27,697) 133,838 119,833
Hitimal A Other comprehensive
income
EHER Currency translation
differences (8,940) (9,647) 2,542 (951) 1,606
FRESWFZBE Total comprehensive
income for the year 103,803 (36,464) (25,155) 132,887 121,439
BEERAE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EEBE Total assets 2,606,676 2,406,049  2,524718 2,052,539 1,936,977
BEEHE Total liabilities (1,220,843)  (1,124,019) (1,206,225)  (748,505) (833,764
R Total equity 1,385,833 1,282,030 1,318,493 1,304,033 1,103,214

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LT LU

In this report, “we”, “us”,
Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in this report shall
have the same meanings as defined in the prospectus of the Company

dated 16 December 2020 (the “Prospectus”).

our” and “China Gas” refer to the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of industrial
gases in the PRC.

In 2022, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, China’s economic
growth fell short of market expectations. According to the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) in 2022 was
approximately RMB121,020.7 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 3%.

The Group’s key products, industrial gases, are mainly used in the
production of iron and steel. The Group’s revenue is derived mainly from
steel production companies. In the first half of 2022, the steel industry in
China was generally stable, but turned negative after a favourable start.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the crude steel
output was 1,013 million tons in 2022,
decrease of 2.1%. Steel enterprises in China actively adopted measures
to reduce costs and increase efficiency, which resulted in generally stable

representing a year-on-year

industry operations.

Benefiting from the gradual release of production capacity in the coastal
production bases of the Group’s main customer, HBIS, the Group’s pipeline
industrial gas business increased as compared to the corresponding
period last year, while the sales volume and price of the new product
lean krypton xenon increased. Consequently, the Group’s revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2022 increased to approximately RMB1,481.64
million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 22.5% from
approximately RMB1,209.27 million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

£ ¥ Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Supply of Pipeline Industrial Gas

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas is produced and transmitted to its
customers via pipelines. The Group’s production facilities are all located
on, or in close proximity to, the production facilities of its pipeline industrial
gas customers for the convenience of those customers being provided
with industrial gas products. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group had three pipeline industrial gas production plants in operation,
namely the TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Laoting Branch plant and
Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan) plant.

Supply of Liquefied Industrial Gas

To maximise the utilisation of its designed production capacity and
increase its revenue, the Group also engages in the supply of liquefied
industrial gas. The Group’s liquefied industrial gas products include
oxygen, nitrogen, argon and carbon dioxide. Oxygen and nitrogen in gas
form and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon are generated in its air
separations unit(s) (“ASUs”), and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon
can be sold directly as liquid products. Liquefied oxygen and nitrogen
are obtained after oxygen and nitrogen in gas form are generated at the
ASUs and further processed through the liquefier. After meeting all the
demand for oxygen and nitrogen in gas form in the pipeline, the Group
utilises the spare design capacity to produce and sell liquefied nitrogen,
thereby maximising the use of the ASUs. Carbon dioxide is produced in
a separate production line independent from the production of oxygen,
nitrogen and argon.

Supply of LNG and the Provision of Gas Transmission

Service

The Group’s LNG-related business includes the supply of LNG and the
provision of gas transmission service. The supply of LNG refers to the
production and sales of LNG products by the Group. The provision of gas
transmission service refers to the Group’s coke oven gas pressurisation
and transmission service provided via pipelines which are independent
from the pipelines used for its supply of pipeline industrial gas. The Group’s
Luanxian plant produces LNG and also provides gas transmission service,
and has relevant equipment and machinery used for the Group’s LNG-
supply business.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue and gross profit from each segment for the Reporting Period are
set out as follows:

B ZE2022F12R31ALEE HZE2021F12A31A L F &
For the year ended 31 December 2022 For the year ended 31 December 2021
W 38 E7 ER= W s EF ERE

Gross profit Gross profit

Revenue Gross profit margin Revenue  Gross profit margin
AR¥RT AR AR¥RT AR ARET AR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
HETERE(BENBRIL) Supply of industrial gas ~ 1,194,342,987 334,105,185 27.97% 1,047,227,064 242,720,623 23.18%
(pipeline and liquefied)
BIERAR R REHE XK LNG and gas transmission 305,207,749 7,745,428 2.54% 181,881,285 5,418,510 2.98%
service
i Elimination (17,906,495) - - (19,837,474 - -
A& The Group 1,481,644,241 341,850,613 23.07% 1,209,270,875 248,139,133 20.52%
SEEK Operation of the Group

REBEE2022FME BT EREBHERE
#93,6227 & 1% #E 37 J5 K (20214 : 493,094
BBFRELFTK)  WAHAREI27.74E
&t (2021F : Y AR¥EB0218B E L) : K
FE T REEIHE A 5T4190,553MF (20214 :
#9212,979MF) + WA LA R#228.038 &L
(20215 : H A R#206.39E B L) : BILK
RR R R & IR WA LA RH305.21
BB (2021 : H AR K181.88B B L) &
E U A AREE20.665 & 70 (20215 : 49
AR#18.82HE L) °

In 2022, the total sales of the Group’s pipeline industrial gas reached
approximately 3,622 milion Nm® (2021: approximately 3,094 million
Nm3), with (2021:
approximately RMB802.18 million); the sales of liquefied industrial gas
totaled approximately 190,553 tons (2021: approximately 212,979 tons),
with revenue of approximately RMB228.03 million (2021: approximately
RMB206.39 million); the
transmission service was approximately RMB305.21 million

revenue of approximately RMB927.74 million

revenue generated from LNG and gas
(2021:
approximately RMB181.88 million); and other revenue was approximately
RMB20.66 million (2021: approximately RMB18.82 million).

£ ¥ Annual Report 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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OUTLOOK

Opportunities brought by industry development

prospect

China’s industrial gas industry will enjoy soaring growth driven by national
policies, foreign investment, high and new technology development
and other factors. The market scale of industrial gas industry in China
increased from approximately RMB121.1 billion in 2017 to approximately
RMB192.8 hillion in 2022, with CAGR of approximately 9.75%. With the
rapid development of industry, national policies promotion and emerging
gas demand represented by electronic special gases, it is expected that
the industrial gas market in China will continue to grow in the future.

As a leading company in Northern China with respect to industrial gas,
the Group has a huge advantage in the bulk industrial gas market.
Meanwhile, the Group also keeps abreast of the industry development
trends, actively develops special gas products, expands the market share
of electronic special gas products, so as to enhance its prospect for future
development.

Opportunities brought by gas-supply model

development

The industrial gas supply model includes self-established equipment gas
supply and outsourced gas supply. As compared to the self-established
equipment gas supply model, the outsourced gas supply model has lower
operating cost and one-off financial cost with high stability and efficient
resources utilisation. Therefore, the market share of outsourced gas supply
had grown steadily, accounting for approximately 55% in 2017, and had
gradually increased in the past five years, reaching approximately 65% in
2021. It is expected that the outsourced gas supply model will gradually
replace the self-established equipment gas supply model in the future.

The Group will leverage on its successful experience and technical
advantages as an outsourced gas supplier to keep pace with the changing
market trends of the gas-supply model and explore external development
opportunities.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

While setting its GDP growth target at around 5.5% for 2022, China’s GDP
had only recorded an increase of approximately 3% in 2022. The year 2022
was a challenging year for the steel industry, and the external environment for
the steel industry was extremely grim. Facing difficulties such as weakening of
downstream demand, fall in steel prices and rise in raw fuel costs, the steel
industry had adhered to the principle of “marking rational market judgment,
setting realistic measures and proactively responding to the market” when
formulating counter-measures by actively taking measures to reduce costs
and increase efficiency, strictly controlling operational risks, endeavouring to
maintain a dynamic balance between supply and demand in the market, thus
achieving an overall stable industry operation.

Group’s business development

The Group’s business development is supported by customers with strong
background. Based on the increasing demand for industrial gas products
resulting from the expansion of customers’ production capacity, the future
business development of the Group will grow steadily.

The increase in demand for industrial gas products will mainly be
underpinned by the following aspects:

1 The construction of the fourth blast furnace in the coastal base of
HBIS Company Tangshan Branch (A 8 f% 5 & LU 5> A &)) .

The fourth blast furnace is scheduled to commence construction
in the second half of 2023 and commence operation by the end
of 2024. The demand for the Group’s industrial gas is expected to
increase significantly.

2. The construction of cold-rolled production line in the coastal base
of HBIS Company Tangshan Branch.

Two cold-rolled production lines are scheduled to commence
operation in August 2023. The Group plans to build two sets of
800Nm3/h hydrogen production units in stages.

3. Increased iron production with high oxygen enrichment.
Based on high air flow, the blast furnace is enriched in oxygen
and gradually increases the differential pressure level. Production

is enhanced by high air flow, high top pressure, high differential
pressure and high oxygen enrichment.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately RMB1,481.64 million (2021: approximately RMB1,209.27
million), representing an increase of approximately 22.5% as compared to
2021. The gross profit for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB341.85 million (2021: approximately RMB248.14 million), representing
an increase of approximately 37.8% as compared to the year ended
31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the increase in revenue,
enhanced facilities efficiency and reduction in unit power consumption. For
the Reporting Period, the Company recorded a profit attributable to owners
of approximately RMB112.74 million (2021: loss attributable to owners of
approximately RMB26.82 million). The earnings per Share attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately RMBO0.09 (2021:
loss per Share of RMBO0.02).

Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period increased by
approximately 22.5% from approximately RMB1,209.27 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 to approximately RMB1,481.64 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022. For the Reporting Period, the revenue
derived from supply of pipeline industrial gas amounted to approximately
RMB927.74 million, representing an increase of approximately 15.7% as
compared to approximately RMB802.18 million for the year ended 31
December 2021, mainly due to the increase in steel production at HBIS
Laosteel and Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan
Plate”) and the increase in gas usage in the pipeline industry. The revenue
derived from supply of liquefied industrial gas for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB228.03 million, representing an increase
of approximately 10.5% as compared to approximately RMB206.39 million
for the same period in 2021, mainly due to the increase in price of lean
krypton and xenon liquid oxygen products. The revenue derived from
supply of LNG and gas transmission service for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB305.21 million, representing an increase
of approximately 67.8% as compared to approximately RMB181.88
million for the same period in 2021, mainly due to the normalisation of
LNG production in Luanxian plant in 2022. Other sales revenue for the
Reporting Period was approximately RMB20.66 million, representing an
increase of approximately 9.8% as compared to approximately RMB18.82
million for same period in 2021. The increase in other sales revenue was
primarily due to an increase in sales of bottled gas and growth in the
natural gas for vehicle business.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and other net gains/losses

The other income of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased
(2021:
approximately RMB10.82 million). The decrease in other income was mainly
due to lower amount of government grants received by the Group for the
Reporting Period as compared to the same period in the previous year.

by approximately 91.0% to approximately RMBO0.97 million

The other net gains of the Group for the Reporting Period were
approximately RMB11.87 million (2021: approximately RMB1.46 million of
other net losses). The change from other net losses to other net gains was
mainly due to net foreign exchange gains during the Reporting Period.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
increased by approximately 7.0% to approximately RMB2.00 million (2021:
approximately RMB1.87 million). The increase in selling and marketing
expenses was mainly due to the launch of a new product, namely lean
krypton xenon liquid oxygen, which resulted in additional marketing efforts.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group for the Reporting Period
decreased by approximately 14.0% to approximately RMB82.18 million
(2021: approximately RMB95.56 million). The decrease in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the decrease in professional fees.

Impairment provision on note investment

During the Reporting Period, there was no impairment provision on
note investment (2021: impairment provision on note investment of
approximately RMB66.40 million).

Expected credit losses for trade receivables

During the Reporting Period, the expected credit losses for trade
receivables was approximately RMB8.14 million (2021: no expected credit
loss for receivables), which was mainly due to the increase in trade
receivables with ageing period of more than six months.
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Finance costs, net

The net finance costs of the Group for the Reporting Period decreased
(2021:
approximately RMB28.05 million), mainly due to a decrease in interest

by approximately 7.2% to approximately RMB26.02 million

expenses for financing as the Group’s bank borrowings decreased.

Income tax expense

The income tax expense of the Group for the Reporting Period increased
by approximately 17.9% to approximately RMB48.28 million (2021:
approximately RMB40.93 million), due to the increase in operating profit
of certain subsidiaries.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
FUNDING

The Group had total cash and bank balances of approximately RMB360.74
million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB297.55 million). As at 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings
of the Group amounted to approximately RMB585.79 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB615.44 million), which included bank borrowings
of approximately RMB572.53 million (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB601.72 million) and lease liabilites of approximately RMB13.26
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB13.72 million). The bank
borrowings bore interest rate at a range of Loan Prime Rate +0.50% to
+4.785% and The People’s Bank of China benchmark interest rate of
4.35%. The Group’s gearing ratio (calculated as total debt divided by total
equity) was approximately 42% as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: 48%). Net debt, calculated as total borrowing as well as lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents was approximately RMB225.05
million as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately
RMB317.89 million). The outstanding credit facilities of approximately
RMB511.49 million as at 31 December 2022 can be utilised as additional
liquidity of the Group.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



R2022F12A31H - AEEBHBRHE
EHEEHARKI0.795 & It 82021
F12A318 49 A R#810.325 & T 1n 49
22.27% * X 2022128310 - RFaE
4 A R¥860.49F & JT 82021F12 A
31IHK A R#787.835 B 1% 1N 499.2% -
AEBZRBLEUAREEELER
B B E &) N2022412 A31H 49115
(2021%F12 A31H : #71.03) °

BAl AERENEENBEARAIETEZHE

BFRERS  ABRADES  RARKE
fit o
iz 2.

EEeTEZ RN BEHO KRR E(H
Z2021F 12 A3IH I FE « &) o

TR
T%%

H@Hﬁ%ﬂ(fﬁ CEEEEE TN

Y

M

7202212 A31H © ANEE KB A
BumasAREI261A8L T8
HMEEME  WEMLEENE L EE
B - BETHRGE LS RE MR
mEERER  AEEFERAES
EeAmB il EEHTXRENTE

SN o

. BEBRERNEE 8 E20234F
K BEEENHARES50608 THM
HEMTEFTEHEE

KR FE &%
FRENEEREE -

EFgRER LR

EEENWEDN

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group recorded total current assets of approximately RMB990.79
2022,
approximately 22.27% as compared to approximately RMB810.32 million

million as at 31 December representing an increase of
as at 31 December 2021; and total current liabilities of approximately
RMB860.49 million as at 31 December 2022, representing an increase
of approximately 9.2% as compared to approximately RMB787.83 million
as at 31 December 2021. The current ratio of the Group, calculated by
dividing total current assets by total current liabilities, was approximately

115 as at 31 December 2022 (31 December 2021: approximately 1.03).

Currently, the Group’s operating and capital expenditures are mainly
financed by cash generated from operation, internal liquidity and bank

borrowings.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (for the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).

Cognisant of the Group’s dividend policy, the Board has considered the
fact that:

. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had total capital commitments

of approximately RMB126.1 million, mainly related to contracted
respect of purchase of property,
equipment. With the imminent construction of the fourth blast

commitments in plant and
furnace of HBIS Company Tangshan Branch, the Group plans on
committing more capital investments so as to meet the additional
industrial gas demand from HBIS.

. In line with the disclosures in the Prospectus, approximately

RMB50.6 million has been earmarked for the procurement and

installation of a new air separation unit by end of 2023.

Having weighed the above, the Board has therefore adopted a prudent
approach when arriving at its aforesaid decision.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s principal financial instruments include financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income, trade and other receivables
and bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, borrowings and
lease liabilities. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
support the Group’s industrial gas business. The Group also has various
financial assets and financial liabilities arising from its business operations.
The principal risks arising from its financial instruments are foreign currency
risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group intends to
achieve an appropriate balance between these risks and the investment
returns so as to minimise the potential adverse impact on its business and
financial condition. The Group will not obtain collateral from counterparty.
At the end of the Reporting Period, the provision for impairment loss of
approximately RMB8.14 million (31 December 2021: Nil) was made for
trade receivables as part of the trade receivables were considered to be
subject to certain credit risk due to their ageing exceeding six months.
The management of the Group also evaluated all available forward-looking
information, including but not limited to the expected growth rate of the
industry and the settlement, and expected and concluded that there is no
significant increase in credit risk. As at 31 December 2022, approximately
97% of trade receivables of the Group was payable by HBIS and its
subsidiaries and associates (collectively, the “HBIS Group”) (31 December
2021: 95%). The credit period granted to the Group’s customers, including
the HBIS Group, is usually no more than 180 days and the credit quality
of these customers is assessed taking into account their financial position,
past experience, business relationship with the Group and other factors.
In view of the sound history of receivables, the management of the Group
believes that the fixed credit risk of the Group’s unsettled trade receivables
balance is insignificant, however, an impairment provision has been made
for trade receivables in accordance with the principle of prudence. The
Group aims to maintain its current assets at appropriate level and is
committed to a capital limit. This ensures that the Group can satisfy its
short term and long term liquidity needs. The Group had been following
its liquidity policy during the Reporting Period, which has been effective
in managing liquidity risk. The cash flow generated from the Group’s
operation is expected to be able to satisfy the Group’s needs for cash
flow in the future.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign currency risk

Other payables as well as cash and cash equivalents of the Group, which
are dominated in other currencies different to the function currency of
its related business, were mainly generated from the business outside
China. The currencies that caused such exposure are primarily the United
States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The Group did not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge against its foreign exchange risk. The Group
periodically reviews its foreign exchange risk and considers that there is
no significant exposure to its foreign exchange risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities
as they fall due. This may arise from mismatches in amounts or time
with regard to the financial assets and liabilities. The Group manages
its liquidity risk through regular monitoring with the following objectives:
maintaining the stability in developing the Group’s principal businesses,
timely monitoring cash and bank position, projecting cash flows and
evaluating the level of current assets to ensure liquidity of the Group.

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2022, certain property, plant and equipment of the
Group amounting to approximately RMB16.60 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB16.96 million) were pledged to banks for loan facilities
granted to the Group.

TREASURY POLICIES

The bank balance and cash held by the Group were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency and interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors foreign currency and interest
rate exposure from time to time and considers hedging significant foreign
currency and interest rate exposure when necessary.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group had no significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies, or investment projects
for sale during the Reporting Period.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2022, the total
Group amounted to approximately RMB126.13 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB47.28 million). They were mainly contracted
commitments in respect of purchase of property, plant and equipment.

capital commitments of the

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022
(31 December 2021: Nil).

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group believes that talent is one of the key factors which has led to
our success. The Group has experienced management team members
and employees to assist it in its business expansion. The Group plans
to continue to attract and retain highly skilled personnel and further
strengthen our corporate culture by continuing to invest in supporting
employees in their career development. The Group also plans to provide
its employees with trainings and professional development programmes
and further align employees’ interests with its own interest.

The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of its
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for its management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides trainings for its staff members
with respect to its operation, technical knowledge and work safety

standards and environmental protection.

To attract and retain the suitable personnel who are beneficial to the
development of the Group, the Group has adopted a share option scheme
conditionally by the written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17
June 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”) and such scheme is effective
for a period of 10 years commencing from 29 December 2020. Pursuant
to the Share Option Scheme, share options may be granted to eligible
employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. No share option were
granted, cancelled or lapsed up to the date of this report.

The Group hired 341 employees in total as at 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: 369 employees) with total staff costs of approximately
RMB58.38 million (for the year ended 31 December 2021: approximately
RMB54.04 million). The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
to our employees.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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REVIEW OF CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL
RESULTS BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed together with the Board and BDO Limited, the Group’s external
auditor (the “Auditor”), the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the Reporting Period. The Audit Committee satisfied that the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period were prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards and fairly present the Group’s financial position and results for
the Reporting Period.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATING TO
THE QUALIFIED OPINION

As set out on pages 120 to 129 of this annual report, a qualified opinion
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Qualified Opinion”) had been issued by the
Auditor. The qualified opinion was in connection with:

(i) three overdue receivables of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022 (the “Loan Receivables”) resulting from the three
loan agreements entered into between the Company as lender and
Company A, Company B and Company C separately as borrowers,

amounts of RMB50,000,000, RMB53,522,000

and RMB14,478,000, respectively, which were repayable on 30

with principal

December 2020 (the “Loans” or “Loan Transactions”); and

(i) the interest bearing note investment in the principal amount
of HK$80,000,000 (approximately RMB66,400,000) (the “Note
Investment”) pursuant to a loan note agreement entered into
between Company and Company D, which was repayable on 17
December 2021, the repayment of which remained outstanding as
at 31 December 2022 (together with the Loan Transactions, the
“Transactions”).

For details of the Loan Receivables and the Note Investment, please refer

to the announcement of the Company dated 23 March 2022 in relation
to key findings of independent investigation.
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The Auditor issued a qualified opinion on:

(i) whether the write-offs on the Loan Receivables and the Note
Investment recognised during the current year were free from
material misstatement (the “Write-offs Qualification”); and

(i) the Auditor’s limitations on the scope of work on the comparability of the
current year’s figures and the 2021 figures included these consolidated
financial statements. (the “Comparative Figures Qualification”,
together with the Write-offs Qualification, the “Audit Qualifications”).

The Company acknowledged the above Audit Qualifications issued by the
Auditor in this regard.

Management’s position and view on the Qualified
Opinion

During the preparation of the resumption proposal, which was submitted
to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 13 May 2022 (the “Resumption Proposal”), the Board had been
considering writing off, for financial reporting purposes, the outstanding
balances of the Loans and the Note Investment against the corresponding
credit loss allowance during the year then ending 31 December 2022. The
Company had discussed with the Auditor and was given to understand that
following the writing off of the Loans and the Investment for the year then
ending 31 December 2022, barring any unforeseen circumstances, the
Auditor (i) would consider to modify its opinion for the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year then ending 31 December 2022 due to
the fact that the related figures for the year ended 31 December 2021
in the consolidated financial statements might not be comparable which
is an inevitable audit consequence as a result of the qualified opinion
issued by the Auditor in respect of the annual report for the year ended
31 December 2021 (the “2021 Annual Report”); and (i would take into
account all information available as at the next financial report date to form
its audit opinion. In respect of the ongoing effect of the qualified opinion,
the Board and the Audit Committee were further given to understand
from the Auditor that, in addition to the above, barring from unforeseen
circumstances, the Auditor would consider to completely remove the
audit qualification for the financial year ending 31 December 2023 and
the succeeding years as and when those succeeding years’ consolidated
financial statements no longer carry any balances or disclosure in relation
to the prior years’ audit qualification.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Subsequent to the write-offs of the outstanding balances of the Loans and
the Investment against the corresponding credit loss allowance for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Auditor, has expressed a qualified opinion
for the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 due to the fact that the related figures for the year ended
31 December 2021 in the consolidated financial statements may not be
comparable which is an inevitable audit consequence as a result of the
Auditor’s qualified opinion in respect of the 2021 Annual Report which is
in line with the management’s understanding as stated above.

In this connection, further to the submission of the Resumption Proposal
and based on the subsequent communications between the Audit
Committee and the Auditor on 23 August 2022, 16 March 2023 and 27
March 2023, there have been no changes in the management’s position
and view in respect of the Audit Qualifications and the management
acknowledged:

(i) the inherent limitations on the scope of the Auditor’s work to
ascertain the nature of the Loan Transactions and the Note
Investment for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the audit
scope limitations remained unresolved during their audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022; and

(i) the Auditor’s limitations on the scope of work on the comparability
of the current year’s figures and the 2021 figures included in these
consolidated financial statements.

In addition, during the process of preparing the Resumption Proposal,
the Board and the Audit Committee had sought to obtain the Auditor’s
preliminary view on whether the Audit Qualifications could be removed
in the next financial year (i.e. for the year ending 31 December 2023)
and were given to understand that (i) the relevant audit qualifications
are not permanent, and (i) such audit qualifications would be removed
in future years as and when the relevant disclosures/presentations of
the Transactions are no longer required in the future years’ financial
statements.
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Since the submission of the Resumption Proposal, the Board is given
to understand that there has been no change in the Auditor’s view. The
Auditor’s preliminary view on the removal of Audit Qualifications is as
follows:

(@)  Write-offs Qualification is not a permanent qualification. Such audit
qualification (i.e. relating to a balance sheet note for 2022) will
become a comparative figure qualification in the financial statements
for the year ending 31 December 2023, and therefore is expected to
be removed in the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for subsequent years thereafter (Please see the point below
regarding Comparative Figures Qualification for further explanation).

(b) Comparative Figures Qualification is not a permanent qualification.
Barring any unforeseen circumstances, the Comparative Figures
Qualification is expected to be removed in the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ending 31 December 2024.

The Company has a clear roadmap towards
Qualifications. The Company’s board and management have been working
and will continue to work closely with the Auditor in this respect.

removing the Audit

Audit Committee’s view on the Qualified Opinion
Based on the discussion with the Auditor, the Audit Committee agreed
with the view of the management as set out above. The Audit Committee
has maintained on-going thorough discussions with the Auditor regarding
the Audit Qualifications throughout the entire audit of the 2022 financial
statements and was given to understand that the Auditor’s view as stated
above remained unchanged based on the findings from their 2022 audit.
There is also no disagreement between the Audit Committee’s and the
board’s position.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

In the first half of 2022, under the effective pandemic prevention and
control measures conducted by the PRC government, sporadic and
localised cases of COVID-19 infection were reported, and until the second
half of 2022 when the epidemic prevention restrictions were lifted, the
steel production of HBIS Group, a major customer of the Company, had
suffered limited impact. Therefore, the business of the Company was
generally stable in 2022.

UPDATE ON EXPECTED TIMELINE FOR USE
OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Global Offering amounted to HK$315.9 million
(equivalent to RMB298.1 million) (the “IPO Proceeds”) after deducting the
underwriting fees and commissions and other estimated expenses payable
by the Company in connection with the Global Offering.

As at the date of this report, the Company had utilised RMB246,950,000
of the IPO Proceeds, representing approximately 83.0% of the IPO
Proceeds. The amount of the unutilised IPO Proceeds is RMB50,553,000,
representing approximately 17.0% of the IPO Proceeds. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has not utilised the IPO Proceeds. As at
the date of this report, there has not been any change to the intended
use or allocation of the IPO Proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus.

For the reasons set out in the paragraph headed “Reasons for Extending
the Expected Timeline for Use of Proceeds” below, the Board has resolved
to extend the expected timeline for using the unutilised IPO Proceeds from
31 December 2022 to 30 June 2024.
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AREEBBEBBESREAMBEENETH  The Group will gradually utilise the IPO Proceeds in accordance with
EM X ENSENTELRKFRMREZS  the intended purposes as disclosed in the Prospectus and the updated
FHEREEMSRIE - fiTHERNMEZE  expected timeline as disclosed above. The breakdown of the intended use

2022F12 A31IBEE H AN S EEAMA T : and amount utilised as of 31 December 2022 were as follows:
220226 H22022F
RRER 12A31H 12A31H *BA
izt EER EEEES:S ABA2R 2REEHMS
2RBE RERBRE RERERE HENES
MERE AAHEE AAHEE ERBEEX
Approximate Approximate
amount of amount of Expected
Planned use of utilised IPO unutilised IPO timeline of
IPO Proceeds Proceeds as of Proceeds as of application of
as stated in 31 December 31 December the unutilised
the Prospectus 2022 2022 IPO Proceeds
ARBTR ARETR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

RERREETRR(BELBENBERABNZRIBERE

Procurement and relocation of ASUs relating to the development at the Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan) plant

E-KR Phase |
E-ATERANEEE: First ASU:
TNBRTEERREMA payment for the remaining
procurement and installation cost 64,990 64,990 - -
FATRABEE: Second ASU:

IRBTHRERTERALHERR payment for the remaining

BEIREREETREBYRER procurement and installation cost

e (mEEHE) and relocation of certain existing
ancillary equipment and machinery
such as air compressors from the TTG

headquarters plant 101,790 101,790 - -
FoAZANBERE: Third ASU:
NERARBEIHEERERLE -5 relocation and installation of a used
ENZERIBERE ASU from the TTG headquarters plant 80,170 80,170 - -
EZRE Phase Il
EMAEANEEE: Fourth ASU:
BERZE-GHNTRAIEES procurement and installation of 202463308
a new ASU 50,553 - 50,553 30 June 2024
BELSREM-RARAR Working capital and other general
corporate purposes 27,300 27,300 - -
Foh Total 324,803 274,250 50,553 -

FHENEASERIIERESS/ELRA  The updated expected timeline is based on the estimation made by the
et HeREBEIAEMmRE/{LMARE  Board which is subject to change in accordance with the change in market
EI conditions from time to time.

26 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



ERFERAAZREE
REEH

ERXNAEEEFPMNABEZRTH  NKHE
EREEEPNEBIEREBERIERD
NHEBARENABRENER  UEEE
FHBZERE -

EZ2ARERABIANERLFMEE
FISRERERERRERIEHAEER
EXBREEELBEATNEE AFE
ARRREBEROEBRENE - BAR
ERREEN  HRABERARBEEMERK
ER B EE MBS -

EEENWE DN
Management Discussion and Analysis

REASONS FOR EXTENDING THE
EXPECTED TIMELINE FOR USE OF
PROCEEDS

Due to the delay in the construction of the projects of the Group’s
customer, the Group, as the relevant customer’s exclusive supplier of
pipeline industrial gas, also postponed the construction of the Group’s
ancillary oxygen production projects so as to align with the development
progress of the customer’s projects.

The Board considers that the extension of the expected timeline for using
the unutilised IPO Proceeds will not have any material adverse impact
on the existing business and operations of the Group and is in the
best interest of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. Save as
disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the plan for utilising
the IPO Proceeds.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yao Li (#k4), aged 58, joined the Group in May 2010 as the general
manager of TTG, and has been a Director since 30 November 2015.
He was re-designated as the executive Director and vice chairman of
the Board on 13 December 2019; and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 3 May 2022. He is primarily responsible for the overall
and comprehensive leading management and supervision. Mr. Yao is the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”). He is also a director of TTG since 22 June 2011.

Mr. Yao has over 36 years of working experience in the industrial gas
industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yao had been working in various
positions in HBIS Group during June 1989 to August 2008, including as
the section head of the mechanical section of the energy department,
where he was primarily responsible for facilities management, spare parts
management, maintenance organisation; as the deputy plant manager
of the southern zone power plant and the hot rolled steel factory, where
he was primarily responsible for the facilities management of southern
zone power and hot rolled sheet plant; as the deputy supervisor of the
power generation department, where he was responsible for the facilities
management, management of water workshop, gas workshop, machine
repair workshop, thermoelectricity workshop and mechanical division,
energy division. From August 2008 to May 2010, Mr. Yao served as the
deputy manager of Tangshan Luanxian Steel project.

From May 2010, Mr. Yao joined the Group and served as the general
manager of TTG until April 2013, where he was mainly responsible
for the comprehensive work of the Company, and the management of
comprehensive division. From April 2013 to May 2014, Mr. Yao has served
as the department head of non-steel business department of Tangshan
Steel Company Limited (/F L # & 3% 9 B BR 2 7)) (currently known as
HBIS Company Limited (il 3% {7 5 R 2 &) (“HBIS Company”)), mainly
responsible for the operation management, planning and development
and business collaboration of non-steel systems. Since May 2014, Mr.
Yao has been serving as the vice general manager of Tangshan Iron and
Steel Group Co., Ltd. (& 1L # & & B H R &£ 2 7)) (currently known as
HBIS Tangsteel Power Technology Branch Company (fE ILfEEE A
RETRAFEREE KD QA (“HBIS Tangsteel”), mainly responsible
for the operation management, planning and development and business
collaboration of the non-steel business department, and he currently
also serves as a director of HBIS Tangsteel. Mr. Yao also served as the
director of Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, since its establishment in July 2018 until January 2019.
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Mr. Yao received the title of professional senior engineer in December
2003 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (il 1t % B 78
HEBZPEARRE).

Mr. Yao obtained his bachelor’s degree in chemical engineering from
Hebei Institute of Technology GAldt T2 %) (currently known as Hebei
University of Technology GAIdE T2 X2)) in China in July 1985. Mr. Yao
then went on to obtain a master’s degree in technical economics from
Renmin University of China (B A R KZ) in June 2001. Mr. Yao further
obtained his doctoral degree in metallurgy and engineering from University
of Science and Technology Beijing (3t ® &l KX£), China in January
2015.

Ms. Gao Guimin (& & #(), aged 53, joined the Group in March 2007.
She was appointed as an executive Director on 13 December 2019. She
is responsible for overall and comprehensive leading management and
supervision of the relevant business of the Company. Ms. Gao is a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”). She is also a director of TTG, since 13 December 2019.

Ms. Gao has over 27 years of working experience in the industrial gas
industry. Before joining the Group, between September 1993 and July
2006, Ms. Gao worked as a technician at the mobile division of a factory
of Tangshan Steel Company Limited (& 1L $f & 3% {5 & R 22 &) (currently
known as HBIS Company which principally engaged in producing and
supplying industrial oxygen. Between July 2006 and March 2007, Ms. Gao
was the deputy head of operation workshop No. 1 of Tangshan Steel
Oxygen Factory (& il & & 80 .
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Between March 2007 and February 2008, Ms. Gao served as a deputy
manager at the engineering department of TTG. Between February 2008
and August 2009, Ms. Gao was the manager at the facilities management
department of TTG. Between August 2009 and January 2016, Ms. Gao
was the manager at the production facilities department of TTG. Between
January 2016 and February 2018, Ms. Gao worked as the operation
director of the Company. Between February 2018 and December 2020,
Ms. Gao was the general manager of Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
Electric Co., Ltd.,, a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel, which principally
engaged in production of electrical appliances such as high and low
voltage switches, circuit breakers and smart meters, where Ms. Gao was
responsible for organising, implementing, and hosting the production,
operation, management and investment plan of the company and
implementing resolutions of the board. Between May 2018 and December
2020, Ms. Gao was a director of Tangsteel-POSCO LED Co., Ltd. (fFiiH
1B (B # A YR AR AR]), a subsidiary of Chuangyuan Fangda Electric
Co., Ltd. Between January 2016 and February 2018, Ms. Gao has been
named a specialist expert of TTG where she was responsible for training

and technology sharing.

Ms. Gao received the title of professional senior engineer in December
2014 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (] 1t %4 B 78
REBEPNEWRE).

Ms. Gao obtained her bachelor’'s degree in electrical automation from
Tangshan Institute of Engineering and Technology (J& [l T2 £ fi1 223 )
(currently known as the North China University of Science and Technology
(4L T AZ)in China in July 1992. Ms. Gao obtained her master’s
degree in business administration from Nankai University (£ 5 A£2) in
China in December 2012.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Wenli, aged 52, was appointed as non-executive Director on
20 January 2023 and a member of the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), has over 30 years of accounting experience in
the industrial sector. He joined HBIS Company, a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000709.SZ) in September 1992.
Between September 1992 and January 2022, Mr. Zhang served various
subsidiaries of HBIS Company in finance related roles. Since January
2022, he served as the head of finance department of HBIS Puxiang Car
Plate Company Limited* G5 /3 B RAMR Q7)) . He also served as the
deputy head of finance and operation department from January 2022 to
October 2022 and the assistant to the general manager of HBIS Tangsteel
since January 2022, where he is mainly responsible for the operation and
finance matters.

Mr. Zhang Wenli obtained his bachelor’s degree in international economics
and management from Shijiazhuang Tiedao Institute (currently known as
Shijiazhuang Tiedao University) in June 2007. He obtained his qualification
of a Senior Accountant (IE & 4% & 51 All) in December 2020.
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Mr. Lai Yui (2#&)), aged 48, was appointed as a Director on 19 August
2011 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 13 December
2019. He is responsible for participating in decision-making in respect of
major matters such as strategy, etc. Mr. Lai is also a director of TTG since
December 2012.

Mr. Lai has more than 24 years of working experience in the investment
banking and private equity industries. Between July 2007 and December
2012, Mr. Lai served as director of investment, with Temasek Holdings
(Private) Limited and/or its wholly-owned subsidiaries. From September
2014 to June 2020, Mr. Lai was as a non-executive director of Canvest
Environmental Protection Group Company Limited (stock code: 1381), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
From January 2013 to September 2022, Mr. Lai was employed by various
subsidiaries of BOC International Holdings Limited as the managing
director and was most recently the chief executive officer of CITP Advisor
(Hong Kong) Ltd.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor's degree in science (magna cum laude)
and a bachelor’'s degree in arts (magna cum laude) from University of
Pennsylvania, the United States in May 1997.

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming (fE3f88), aged 45, was appointed as a Director
on 19 August 2011 and re-designated as a non-executive Director on 13
December 2019. She is responsible for participating in decision-making in
respect of major matters such as strategy, etc. Ms. Ng is also a director
of TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since 15 July 2015.

Ms. Ng has more than 14 years of working experience in the private
equity industry. Between September 2007 and June 2010, she worked
as an associate and senior associate at Excelsior Capital Asia, a direct
investment firm focused on North Asia area, where Ms. Ng was responsible
for executing and monitoring high value investments. Since June 2010,
Ms. Ng has been working as an associate and subsequently a principal at
CITP Advisors (Hong Kong) Ltd., where Ms. Ng is responsible for project
development, executing and monitoring high value investments.
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Further to her professional experience, Ms. Ng has been a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2003.

Ms. Ng obtained her bachelor’s degree in professional accountancy from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1999. Ms. Ng obtained her
postgraduate diploma in Financial Strategy from Said Business School,
University of Oxford in June 2021.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Siu Chi Hung (F& %), aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Siu is the chairman of
the Audit Committee, a member of each of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Siu has 25 years of accounting experience. He joined KPMG (Hong
Kong) in August 1994 as an accountant and became a partner in July
2008. Mr. Siu was the head of real estate of KPMG (China) and the
head of capital markets development, Southern China of KPMG (China)
before his retirement in June 2018. He has been the independent non-
executive directors of Dongjiang Environmental Company Limited (Stock
code: 00895), Central China Management Company Limited (Stock code:
09982), China Aluminum International Engineering Corporation Limited
(Stock code: 02068), and MicroPort NeuroTech Limited (Stock code:
02172) since December 2020, May 2021, April 2022 and June 2022,
respectively. Mr. Siu also served as the executive director of LVGEM
(CHINA) Real Estate Investment Company Limited and independent non-
executive director of Roiserv Lifestyle Services Co., Ltd. from September
2019 to September 2021 and from June 2020 to July 2022, respectively.
The shares of those companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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Mr. Siu is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). He was also a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and a member of the Hong Kong
Independent Non-Executive Director Association (HKiINEDA). He obtained
the qualification certificate of independent directors for listed companies
(EWRBIEILEEEKFESE) from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in
February 2021.

Mr. Siu obtained his bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 1994.

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei (B #{&), aged 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 17 June 2020. He is responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice to the Board. Mr. Xiao is the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Xiao had over 14 years of work experience in the investment industry.
From July 2005 to May 2014, Mr. Xiao served as executive director, group
chief executive, chairman of the group executive committee, and group
chief executive director of VXL Capital Limited (currently known as Crown
International Corporation Limited (27&RKE B HR A F])) (stock code:
0727), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, where he was responsible for overseeing acquisitions, asset
transfers, planning and construction development of various projects.
Since December 2021, Mr. Xiao has been the independent non-executive
director of CAQ Holdings Limited (Stock code: CAQ), the shares of which
are listed on the Australian Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xiao has been the chairman of Secret Garden (Zhangjiakou) Resort
Co., Ltd. (# %8 (R K A1) Jik 52 I D B R 2 7)) (“ZJK”) since February 2014,
a company that principally engaged in the construction and operation of
projects relating to comprehensive and all-season ecotourism resources
development, greenery and environmental protection, skiing, outward
bound, competition and sports skills training, stadium and playground
construction and provision of agent services, where Mr. Xiao has been
responsible for the comprehensive leading of the operation management
and administration work of ZJK. Mr. Xiao is also the chairman of certain
subsidiaries of ZJK.

Mr. Xiao is a member of Beijing 2022 Olympics Winter Games Bid
Committee and the 11th and 12th Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference national committee of Hebei Province.

Mr. Xiao obtained his associate degree in Theory in Marxism-Leninism
from Fudan University (1§ B KX £), China in May 1984.

Ms. Li Chun Elsy (Z%), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
on 17 June 2020. She is
supervising and providing independent advice to the Board. Ms. Li is a

non-executive Director responsible for

member of the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Li has over 11 years of working experience in global financial
institutions. Between March 2008 and November 2014, she has held
various roles at Deutsche Bank AG, Hong Kong Branch, including
managing director of institutional client group and managing director of
financial institutions group of the investment banking department. Between
May 2015 and January 2017, Ms. Li was a consultant of Egon Zehnder
International. Between May 2017 and August 2022, she was the group
treasurer and head of corporate development of Sun Hung Kai & Co.
Limited (stock code: 0086), the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. Since December 2022, Ms. Li has been
the Chief Operating Officer of Peterson Holdings Company Limited.
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Ms. Li has been a member of the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
since July 2019. Ms. Li was qualified as a certified public accountant of
the State of New York, United States in January 2002.

Ms. Li acquired her bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from
University of Michigan Business School, University of Michigan, United
States in May 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Libing (23 &), aged 52, joined the Group in March 2007. Mr.
Li has been appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company on
31 March 2022.

Before joining the Group, from August 1992 to June 1995, Mr. Li worked
as a technician at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (/= 8l & & B ) where
he was responsible for the management of technology relating to oxygen
production. From June 1995 to October 1997, he was the leader of
the2#15000Nm3/hr machinery planning group of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (FEifl & & ), where he oversaw the infrastructure project
management. From October 1997 to February 2000, he worked as the
deputy head of operation workshop No. 3 of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE#fi & & B) , where he was responsible for the production of
oxygen and technology management. From February 2000 to August
2003, he worked as a technician at the production division of Tangshan
Steel Oxygen Factory (F % % M), where he was responsible for
the management of craftsmanship and infrastructure and technology
renovation project management. Between August 2003 and January 2007,
he held various positions within the engineering technology division of the
power generation department of HBIS Tangsteel (currently known as HBIS
Tangsteel Power Technology Branch Company (B ILU#EEEER ST A
FREREHE 5 A7), a branch company of HBIS Tangsteel), where, from
January 2007 to March 2007, he was the director at operation workshop
No. 3 of the power energy division of HBIS Tangsteel.
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After joining the Group, between March 2007 and February 2010, he
was the manager of the branch of Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd.
Between February 2010 and February
2016, he worked as the manager of engineering and technology
department of TTG. Between January 2016 and December 2018, Mr. Li
was retained as an expert in oxygen production technique (% T 2 &

(“Tangshan Stainless Steel”).

fiT# %) and has been the technology and business development director
since January 2016.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Li received the title of
professional senior engineer in November 2017 from Hebei provincial title
reform leading group office AL B BN EEE/NEPFAE).

Mr. Li obtained his bachelor’'s degree in refrigeration equipment and
cryogenics technology from Shanghai Institute of Mechanical Engineering
(£ /8 # # ZB) (currently known as University of Shanghai for Science
and Technology (_E/8¥ T K2)) in China in July 1992 and a master’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Tianjin University (K2 KX2) in
China in September 2008.

Mr. Hon Ming Sang (8$84), aged 44, committee member of the 11th
Luoding Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
joined the Group in August 2022. Mr. Hon has been appointed as the
chief financial officer and the company secretary of the Company on 16
August 2022 and 31 October 2022, respectively. He graduated with an
honour degree of Professional Accountancy in the School of Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a CFA charterholder, a
member of The Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts, a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate member
of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an associate
member of The Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 14 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance, merger
and acquisition, investment and financial management and compliance

services.
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Mr. Hon has been an independent non-executive director of Virtual Mind
Holdings Company Limited (previously known as CEFC Hong Kong
Financial Investment Company Limited) (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1520) since November
2016, Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed on
the GEM of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 8018) since June 2020,
Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 351) since November 2020 and
InvesTech Holding Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with stock code: 1087) since January 2023. Mr. Hon was
an executive director of SFund International Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with stock code: 1367)
from February 2017 to August 2022 and its company secretary and
authorised representative from July 2017 to August 2022.

Mr. Li Shuhui (Z##8), aged 49, joined our Group in March 2007, and
was appointed as our business development director on 13 December
2019, and is mainly responsible for the cultivation and development of new
product, new business and new areas of our Company. Mr. Li is currently
also a supervisor of Tangsteel Dongxin Village.

Before joining our Group, between November 1998 and August 2003, Mr.
Li worked at Tangshan Steel Oxygen Factory (f5 8% & ). Between
August 2003 and March 2007, he worked at a power plant of HBIS
Tangsteel. Between March 2007 and February 2010, Mr. Li worked as a
planning officer and host officer at the sales branch of TTG, where he
was responsible for the export business. Between February 2010 and
July 2013, Mr. Li was a manager at the market division of the sales of
products branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for the sales
of products, market development and logistics. Between July 2013 and
February 2014, Mr. Li worked as a deputy manager at the general division
of TTG, where he hosted the overall work of the division. Since February
2014, Mr. Li has been promoted as a manager at the general division
of TTG, where he is responsible for corporate operation management,
administration, party-community networking, human resource, the Broad,
legal affairs, tendering management, digitalisation, etc.
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Further to Mr. Li's profession experience, he received the title of senior
engineer of metallurgical equipment in November 2017 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office CAib & BifB ek £ EE/NEB R

=
=).

Mr. Li
manufacturing from Hebei Science and Technology College (a/ 1L 32 T &
B%) (currently known as North China University of Science and Technology
(4L T AE)) in July 1997 in China.

acquired his bachelor’'s degree in mechanical design and

Mr. Li Xiaojun (Z2EEE), aged 50, joined the Group in March 2007,
and was appointed as the equipment safety and quality control director
of the Company on 13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for
the formulation of equipment operation specifications and standards,
inspecting and supporting the safe operation of equipment of various
affiliated companies.

Before joining the Group, between July 1992 and March 2003, Mr. Li
served various positions at different divisions of Tangshan Steel Oxygen
Factory (JE il & & &) . Between March 2007 and August 2007, Mr. Li
worked as a salesman at the sales of products branch division of TTG,
where he was responsible for the sale of products. Between August
2007 and January 2008, he was a deputy manager of the Huludao
project of TTG, where he was responsible for the development of
Huludao’s new projects. Between January 2008 and February 2011, Mr. Li
worked as a deputy manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, respectively, where he was responsible for sales management
system. Between February 2011 and July 2013, Mr. Li worked as a
deputy manager and manager at the general division of TTG, and was
concurrently serving as the relevant party branch secretary, where his
then work responsibilities included branding, organising conventions and
events to boost the image of TTG. Between July 2013 and October
2018, Mr. Li was a manager and party secretary at the sales of products
branch division of TTG, where he was responsible for strengthening
market cultivation, establishing positive competition system and boosting
business development. Since October 2018, he has been a manager and
party secretary of TTG Ironmaking Branch, where he is responsible for
production, operation and product supply of the Ironmaking Branch.
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Mr. Li received the title of metallurgical experiment engineer in December
2005 from Hebei provincial title reform leading group office (il 1t %4 B 78
HWEBRGPENMRE).

Mr. Li received his associate degree in industrial analysis from Tangshan
Institute of Engineering and Technology (& L T#2 & fi1 2 %) (currently
known as North China University of Science and Technology ((£4t32T K
E)in July 1992 in China.

Mr. Li then received his bachelor of degree in management via distance
learning from University of International business and Economics (¥f4h &
BEE 5 A2)in China in June 2013.

Mr. Hui Guangyu (E ¥ 3F), aged 51, joined the Group in May 2007,
and was appointed as the public relationship director of the Company
on 13 December 2019, and is mainly responsible for the communications
between shareholders, public investors, institutional investors and potential
investors. Before joining the Group, from September 1994 to October
2003, Mr. Hui was a raw materials technician at a factory of the HBIS
Group engaged in processing of raw materials, where he was responsible
for safety and environmental Between October 2003
and May 2007, Mr. Hui served as a safety officer at a supply site of
HBIS Company, where he was responsible for safety management and

management.

development of management system.
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Mr. Hui joined the Group in May 2007, between May 2007 and September
2009, he worked as a safety officer at the safety division of TTG, where
he was responsible for safety and environmental protection management of
the company. Between September 2009 and November 2012, Mr. Hui was
the division head at the general division of TTG, where he was responsible
for corporate management. Between November 2012 and December
2012, Mr. Hui was a deputy manager at the safety division of TTG, where
he provided support to the overall work of the division. Subsequently,
between December 2012 and January 2016, he was promoted as a
manager of the safety division of TTG, where he was responsible for safety,
environmental protection and fire safety management of the company.
Between January 2016 and November 2018, Mr. Hui was a manager at
the production and facility division of TTG, where he was responsible for
coordination and organisation of production, management of maintenance
and repair of equipment and procurement of resources. Since October
2018, Mr. Hui has been a manager at the sales of products branch division
of TTG, where he has been responsible for pre-listing work of the company
and other corporate activities.

Further to his professional experience, Mr. Hui received the title of senior
engineer in environment engineering in November 2016 from Hebei
provincial title reform leading group office CAldt & B E B &/ NE A

=).

Mr. Hui received his first bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering
from Chongqing University (2B KX2)in China in June 1994. Mr. Hui
then received his second bachelor’ s degree in metallurgical engineering
via correspondence study from the Northeastern University (324t A22) in
China in January 2009.
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The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The Company’s vision is to serve the society, reward the Shareholders
and advance employees interests. Upholding the philosophy of “unity,
integrity, diligence and innovation”, the Group fully implements the “delicacy
management” model, integrates international and domestic resources,
strengthens environmental protection, develops circular economy and
strives for user satisfaction and success. The Group also adheres to the
concept of “providing users with high-quality products, comprehensive
technical supports and hassle-free after-sales services so as to become
their preferred supplier as well as their trusted service provider and
partner” in respect of the Group’s services and strives to build an
internationally competitive, high-quality and specialised gas production
base with first-class skills and technology, first-class products variety and
quality, first-class ecological environment and providing first-class service

to users.

The Board provides guidance to management by defining the purpose,
values and strategic direction of the Group, and plays an important role
in establishing and instilling a culture that reinforces the values of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly. The Group’s employee handbook
ensures that the corporate culture and expected behaviours are clearly
communicated to everyone in the Group. Appropriate policies and
procedures are in place to promote and reinforce the need for employees
and others who deal with the Group to act with honesty and integrity and
to raise concerns about actual or suspected cases of impropriety. The
Group offers competitive remuneration and benefits designed to attract,
motivate and retain talented people at all levels. Having regard to the
corporate culture reflected in the policies and practices of the Group, the
Board is satisfied that the purpose, values and strategic directions of the
Group are aligned with its culture.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board recognises the importance of incorporating elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and internal control
procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective accountability. The
Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
with a view to safeguarding the interests of Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance
practices.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period except as disclosed below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. David T Chen (“Mr. Chen”) (whose duties was suspended on 10
May 2021 and was removed as a Director on 5 May 2022) was the
former chairman of the Board who should be responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. As the powers and authorities
of Mr. Chen had been suspended on 10 May 2021, Mr. Yao Li, the then
vice-chairman of the Board, provided leadership and was responsible for
the effective functioning and leadership of the Board since 10 May 2021.
Subsequently, Mr. Yao Li was appointed as the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) on 3 May 2022. In addition, Mr. Li Libing was appointed as
the chief executive officer of the Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”)
on 31 March 2022 who is responsible for the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business.
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The Company will continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code, and
maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”).
have confirmed that the required standards of the Model Code had been
complied with throughout the Reporting Period.

Having made specific enquiry with the Directors, all Directors

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes decisions
objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board shall regularly review the contribution required from a Director to
perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director
is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition
The Board of the Company currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yao Li (Chairman)
Ms. Gao Guimin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Wenli

Mr. Lai Yui

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 28 to 41 of this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

During the Reporting Period, the role of the Chairman was performed by
Mr. Yao Li who has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company
since 3 May 2022 while the office of the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company was performed by Mr. Li Libing who has been appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer since 31 March 2022. In accordance with the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive officer are separate and performed by the different persons.

The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the functions of the Board
and providing leadership for the Board while the Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for managing the businesses and operations of the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no relationship (including

financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)),
between Board members and in particular, between the Chairman and

the Chief Executive Officer.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

During the Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of
whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

The members of the Board have skills and experience appropriate for
the business requirements and objectives of the Group. Each executive
Director is responsible for different business and functional division of
the Group in accordance with his/her expertise. The independent non-
executive Directors bring different business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board and they are
invited to serve on the Board committees. Through participation in
Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflicts of interests, the independent non-executive Directors have made
contributions to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of both the
Group and the Shareholders.

The Group has established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board.

All independent non-executive Directors are given regular updates such
as monthly reports. The senior managements are invited to participate in
Board meetings to provide business update to facilitate the independent
non-executive Directors in making informed decisions. The independent
non-executive Directors have access to the Group’s senior management
at all times on any queries they may have. In addition, the Company
engages legal advisors in Hong Kong to advise the Board on an
ongoing basis in respect of the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) and upon
the request of the Board, engages a valuer to provide advice to the
Board in relation to valuations of the assets and account receivable and
engages a financial advisor to provide financial advice to the Board on
any business transactions. A private meeting between the Chairman and
the independent non-executive directors takes place at least once each
year, to provide a channel for independent views to be communicated to
the Chairman directly.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



EFeRG AN ERER A RE
WRBARR BT EHS  ATHRREES
ERBUNEMEER - mMBEBBESD
REEB R

EEEAEREE
FRTESZ(BRBIUIFVTER)INRE
THR=F BEEHERERITTESR -

FMEESHEARNRRBFASHFERMT
WAl EAE - BIBARRIAGSEZMA
(IZR2#@8 ) REERREFRgL =
PRX—ERHNEE(KNESAHILIE=(I)
WEE AIBARREELERN IR =02—
WESAZVYEARFERT  HEBRESAE
OB =FRARRBAFAERE—KR-E
BRARITHE  FMEEFESZENER
RETETHRNESTHEEZEHEZTED
BEBRERAEARILE WARZATLER
HE - MEMNEEESZENABRKES
EMEFECHEEARR TERRAEAFK
gRAIE ERBEEREEEMT-

EEZENEEENEMR BERE
&k

E=gRBERERENARF X KR
ﬁﬁh%&%%K@T%%ﬁ
BBAMERBLREERER EFQEER
HEBEZEEREAENIEEER &
EAKENESERMHRE  UTHERFREER
TENARBEREMEREENGFERE -

TRERKRE

Corporate Governance Report

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms and considered that the Company has sufficient mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board and
these mechanisms remain effective.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to

renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three (3),
the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
an annual general meeting at least once every three years. The Articles
also provides that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of members after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and
any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board shall assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to the management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held
by them.

The Board is responsible for deciding all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company’s key plant sites and meetings
with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading material
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

During the Year, the Company organised training sessions conducted
by the qualified professionals for all Directors. The training sessions
covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory updates. In
addition, relevant reading materials including compliance manual/legal and
regulatory updates/seminar handouts had been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.
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EENARFENEINGE ST The training records of the Directors for the Year are summarized as
follows:

ES CETE R
Type of

Directors Training "o

HITEE

Executive Directors

BR K 4 55 4 (R2022F 5 A5H % e BE F) *

Mr. David T Chen (Removed as Director on 5 May 2022)

ks A/B

Mr. Yao Li

SEHZLE A/B

Ms. Gao Guimin

FHITEE

Non-Executive Directors

RE REE(R2023F1A20HF (T EF) A/B
Mr. Zhang Aimin (Resigned as Director on 20 January 2023)

SR X | (R2023%F1720H & Z (£ 5 E F) *
Mr. Zhang Wenli (Appointed as Director on 20 January 2023)

RE|ELE A/B
Mr. Lai Yui

hRAR 2+ A/B
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

BUHHTESE

Independent Non-Executive Directors

RS RE A/B
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

HBRERE A/B
Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

FELL A/B
Ms. Li Chun Elsy

Kt - Note:

ol g A Types of Training

A 2MBIRE - BEETRAEGNE  HT A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
g gERTWRE conferences and workshops

B: FEEMENERSE - WmaA - B - MERERBE B Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
T4 publications

*: EA * Not applicable
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BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, the Audit

Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,

namely,
Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written terms
of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms
of reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The list of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee on 17 June 2020 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Siu Chi Hung,
Mr. Zhang Wenli and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. Apart from Mr. Zhang Wenli,
who is a non-executive Director, the other two members of the Audit
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee
is chaired by Mr. Siu Chi Hung, who holds the appropriate professional
qualification. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist
the Board by providing an independent view on the effectiveness of the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control systems,
to oversee the audit process, to develop and review the Group’s policies
and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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Six meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the Reporting Period
to review, in respect of the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021, the
annual financial results and reports, in respect of the six months ended
30 June 2021 and 2022, the interim results and reports; and significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and
internal audit function, appointment of external auditors and relevant scope
of works and, connected transactions and arrangements for employees
to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee on 17 June
2020 with written terms of reference and then has adopted a revised
terms of reference on 29 December 2022 in compliance with Rule 3.25 of
the Listing Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee consists of three members, being Mr. Xiao Huan Wei, Ms. Gao
Guimin and Mr. Siu Chi Hung. Apart from Ms. Gao Guimin, who is an
executive Director, the other two members of the Remuneration Committee
are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee include (but without limitation): (i) making recommendations to
the Board regarding the Group’s policy and structure for the remuneration
of all the Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policies;
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management; and (iii) reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s
corporate goals and objectives

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general
market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments
are linked to the profit performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management members.
The Company’s remuneration policy is subject to review by and the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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There was no change in the policy and structure of the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee was held during the Reporting Period to review
and make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management of the Group
by band for the Reporting Period is set out below:

¥ GBI

Remuneration (HKD)

AB

No. of person

100,000—500,000
500,001—1,000,000

REZEY

RARERE LTHRANEI2AG R EE
A ST RIZEB.3ER MY TE R202056 H17H X,
VIREZEEE® Wi REEZEBESHE -
REZESHIGKREAMN Bk DL E
(XFF)  BREXE  BEELERTEL
T o BRNEEERRITESI  BEE
EEMEBR=-EKERBIIIENTES -
REZEBSEFAINELE - RBRZES
MEZBEANREERARTEENTER
MEZSgRIER ITEMEEeZl
BE(EESESTLEE]) -

Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee on 17 June 2020
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee
consists of four members, namely Mr. Yao Li (Chairman), Mr. Xiao Huan
Wei, Mr. Siu Chi Hung and Ms. Li Chun Elsy. Apart from Mr. Yao Li,
who is an executive Director, the other three members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Nomination Committee is Mr. Yao Li. The primary function of the
Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of the Directors and senior management, as well
as to review the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend
them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant

directorships,

criteria as set out in the director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) that are necessary to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

Two Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Reporting
Period to review the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and to consider
the qualifications of the retiring Directors standing for election at the annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 17 June 2020
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage, and attracting, retaining
and motivating employees from the widest possible pool of available talent.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will
review annually the composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a
balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board
composition, the Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all
levels and will consider a number of aspects, including but not limited
to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity and length of services.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is
also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all
levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a
diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board members are composed of 5 male and 3 female Directors.
The current male and female representation at Board level is about 62.5%
and 37.5%,
gender diversity and is of the view that the current male to female ratio
of the Directors are appropriate. The Nomination Committee will continue
to ensure that diversity of gender in the composition of the Board is
achieved. The Company will ensure that sufficient resources are available
for providing trainings and career development to develop a pipeline of
potential successors of the Board and maintain gender diversity.

respectively. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the

All workforce of the Company is equal regardless of their positions. The
basic principles of human resource management are impartiality, fairness
and openness.

The Company has taken, and continues to take, steps to promote diversity
at all levels of our workforce and has policies on equal opportunities. We
provide equal opportunity to all employees regardless of gender, age,
cultural and education background, ethnicity, and other aspects of diversity
and are against any forms of discrimination. As of 31 December 2022,
the Group’s total workforce is comprised of approximately 91% male and
9% female employees. Since the job stability of the Group is relatively
high, coupled with the fact that the retirement age of female employees
is lower than that of male employees, the proportion of female employees
is relatively low.

Given the nature of the Group’s business is production of industrial gas,
the Group has not specified any plans or measurable objectives for
achieving gender diversity at present. The Group will continue to focus is
on identifying the right person for the right role whilst taking into account
diversity in a range of areas, including gender. However, the Group will
consider and review its diversity policy and set measurable objectives
where necessary.

Details of gender diversity at Board and workforce levels (including senior

management of the Group) are disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.
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The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the corporate
governance report of the Company, on the process it has used in relation
to Board appointments. Such report will include a summary of the Board
Diversity Policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving the measurable

objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Director Nomination Policy
The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria and process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of
the Company and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and
the continuity of the Board and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed
candidate, including but not limited to the following:

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

. Requirements of independent non-executive Directors on the Board
and independence of the proposed independent non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

. Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest
to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.

The Director Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors
at general meetings. During the Reporting Period, there was no change
in the composition of the Board.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director of the Company

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
is as set out in the “Procedure for Shareholders to Propose a person
for Election as a Director of the Company” disclosed on the Company’s
website.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Audit Committee is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had reviewed the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and written
employee guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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EEHETH® ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS
TERHINESESEFENBRERLEITHNESE  The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board
EREECLECEEULARAIREA  committees meetings and the general meetings of the Company held

R during the Reporting Period are set out in the table below:
HERE BB RE
Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

BRRAE
BEEps Exg ENRZEE® ¥HZEEE REZES (mA)

General

Audit Remuneration = Nomination Meetings

Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee (if any)
BR K 50 (R2022F 5 A5 A B # B %) 0/5 - 0/2 0/1
Mr. David T Chen (Removed on 5 May 2022)
BhEE 12/12 - 212 3/3
Mr. Yao Li
SEHLLE 12/12 - 1 - 3/3
Ms. Gao Guimin
KB RE4E(ER2023F1A20H 5 8) 7/12 3/6 - - 213
Mr. Zhang Aimin (Resigned on 20 January 2023)
REA K E 1112 - - - 3/3
Mr. Lai Yui
AR+ 12/12 - - - 3/3
Ms. Ng Shuk Ming
mEELE 12/12 6/6 1 212 3/3
Mr. Siu Chi Hung
HlEEE 12/12 6/6 n 212 313
Mr. Xiao Huan Wei
FERL 10/12 - - 212 2/3

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

58 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



JE B o R R B B 4

ExemAEAHRREERAMEER
MEZEARRSREFRENEL - ZF
MERESHE T E EE B MIE B R RAEZRE
BEENRER BRERTEHREANK
BERAKBERIELAEBMIEBEHRE -

EFesRARTGREEEKARRR
BESEMEAEARNAR(BRERE HE
MERBB)MEERIEE  WESL KGR
BEREYORAREELRAREZE -EF
EEFRIBITAEENEREE KA

= 450 N
BEIE R —IR o

ARABRAEREERGEEEALXBER
LERENRER - ZEREITIEER:

gl
REXERARERNER -

- HHE DWERO TR Y B4
AT AR AA -

- EE-ZEEAREY BRANEFS
BRBBEFEEENGRRER -

ARRBEBEAZATRER : ()2 & =g (0
BT EBENKBERATNER BEEER
EEETHERKENRED  £ET
B EmEEEHMEPRE ()EER
R(NLE  RARLEFATER  FAX
HE) R ER(AMNERERR 8
R Kk ERER) -

TRERKRE

Corporate Governance Report

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviews their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks (including ESG risks) it is willing to take
in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Board conducts review of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year.

The Company adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its business and operations. The system comprises the
following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

. Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate
the risk portfolio accordingly.
Consider the risk ensure effective

. Management: responses,

communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks.

The Company is primarily exposed to the following risks: (i) operational
risks, such as relationship with members of the HBIS, ability to manage
expansion and relocation of certain machinery and equipment, production
control, product quality control and customer services; (i) regulatory risks,
such as safety, environmental protection and maintenance of required
licenses, permits and certificates; and (iii) financial risks, such as interest
rate risk, credit risk and capital management.
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The Board is responsible for establishing the internal control system
and reviewing its effectiveness. In accordance with the applicable laws
and regulations in the PRC, the Group has established procedures for
developing and maintaining internal control systems. Such systems cover
legal matters, finance
and auditing, as appropriate for the needs of the Group. The Directors

corporate governance, operations, management,

and management closely monitor the implementation and assess the
effectiveness of these guidelines and measures which are crucial to the
business sustainability.

The following sets out the key measures adopted by the Group under its
risk management and internal control systems:

. The Company has engaged an internal control consultant to appraise
the internal control systems and identify risk areas presented to the
operations and control environment of the Group. As the business
continues to expand, the Company will refine and enhance the
internal control systems to respond to the evolving requirements of
the expanded operations as appropriate. The Company will continue
to review the internal control systems to ensure compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

. The compliance matters are directly reported to the Board which is
led by the chairman of the Board.

. The Company has formulated a comprehensive internal control policy
which covers various major areas of the operations including capital
management system, contract approval process and management,
conflict of interest declaration notice, chop management system.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company conducted a comprehensive review of the Group’s risk
management and internal control system through its internal control
consultant, covering the Reporting Period. The scope of review is as
follows:

1) Corporate level control
. Control environment, general Board function review (Audit
Committee,
Committee), organisational structure, management capacity,

Nomination Committee and Remuneration

authority and responsibility
. Information and communication within and outside the
organisation
. Compliance status upon the update of the Corporate
Governance Code, including anti-corruption policy,
whistle-blowing policy,
independence

Board Diversity Policy and Board

2) Enterprise risk management
. Governance structure
. Mechanisms, procedures and functions for risk assessment,
updating of the risk register and documentation of the Group’s
risk policy

The management has reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for
the Reporting Period.

The audit department is responsible for performing independent review
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The audit department examined key issues in relation to
the accounting practices and all material controls and provided its findings
and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial controls,
risk management and internal control system, for the Reporting Period,
and considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual
review also covered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.
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The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and adequate. The Board will continue to
assess the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
systems by considering reviews and recommendations made by the senior
management, internal control consultant and Audit Committee.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
FOR THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION
OF INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group conducts its affairs with
close attention to the inside information provisions under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Directors and senior management
are responsible for determining whether any particular information is
inside information and overseeing and coordinating disclosure of inside
information of the Group. They are also responsible for taking reasonable
measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure requirement in relation to the Group from time to time and that
disclosures are made and/or announcements are published on a timely
basis in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, and before
such information is fully disclosed to the public, they shall ensure the same
is kept strictly confidential. The Directors are also committed to ensure that
information contained in announcements are not false or misleading as to
a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a material
fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced way.

Whistleblowing is an important part of an effective internal control and
risk management system. It is a useful means of uncovering fraud,
misconduct or significant risks within the Group. The Company expects
and encourages employees of the Group and related parties who deal
with the Group such as consultants, contractors, suppliers or customers
to report to the Company their concern, allegation or any information that
fraud, corruption or any other misconduct is occurring or has occurred
in the Group. In this regard, the Company has adopted a whistle-blowing
policy, which is posted on the website of the Company, with an aim
to provide guidance and reporting channels to whistle-blowers on any
suspected fraud, malpractice or inappropriate behaviour within the Group
(the “Reportable Conduct”). Full support will be given to whistle-blowers
who in good faith report any genuinely suspected Reportable Conduct.
During the Reporting Period, the Group received no complaints or legal
cases alleging any form of corruption.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Anti-Fraud Management Policy

The Company has adopted an Anti-Fraud Management Policy which
sets out the Company’s policy and systems that promote and support
compliance with applicable antibribery and corruption laws and
regulations, and enhances the provisions relating to bribery and corruption

in the Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct.

KEY FINDINGS OF INDEPENDENT
INVESTIGATION AND ENHANCED
INTERNAL CONTROL

On 23 March 2022, the Company announced the key findings of the
Independent Investigation (as defined in note 3(d) to the consolidated
financial statements) (the “Key Findings Announcement”) as set out
in note 3(d) to the consolidated financial statements. Unless otherwise
defined, capitalised terms used below shall have the same meanings as
those defined in the Key Findings Announcement.

The Board had reviewed the content and the findings of the Independent
Investigation in the two most updated draft investigation reports issued by
the Forensic Accountant on 18 February 2022 (the “Draft Investigation
Reports”). The Board was of the view that the Independent Investigation
has comprehensively investigated into the matters raised by PwC and
adequately addressed the concerns raised by PwC to the extent that
is practicable, despite the limitations as set forth in the Key Findings
Announcement, and that the content and the findings of the Independent
Investigation in the Draft Investigation Reports were reasonable and
acceptable.
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The Board was of the view that, based on its review of the findings of
the Independent Investigation in the Draft Investigation Reports and on
balance, the nature of Transactions 1, 2 and 3 is likely to be as stated
in the Loan Agreements, that they are loans from the Company to the
Borrowers; and the nature of Transaction 4 is likely to be as stated in the
Investment Agreement, that it is an investment in loan notes made by the
Company for the purpose of managing free cash to earn higher return.
None of the Transactions was approved by the Board. Notwithstanding
the Forensic Accountant’s conclusion that save and except for the Xijie'ai
Agreement, the Expanded Investigation has not uncovered direct evidence
of management override by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai, given that none of
the Transactions were approved by the Board, and that, in particular,
the telegraphic transfers made pursuant to the Loan Agreements and
the Investment Agreement were approved by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai
themselves, the Board considers that there was management override by
Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai.

In the assessment of the Board, the Board was of the view that the
unauthorised acts of Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai do not have material adverse
impact on the business operations of the Group as those acts concerned
the Company at the holding company level and did not concern the day-
to-day on-the-ground operations of the rest of the Group. Furthermore,
since all the day-to-day duties, powers and authorities of Mr. Chen had
been suspended since 10 May 2021. The Group’s business operations
have continued as usual despite the suspension of trading in the Shares
since 25 March 2021.
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Based on the recommendations made by the Investigation Committee, the
Board has taken or will take the following actions:

1. The Board proposed an ordinary resolution to remove Mr. Chan from
the office of the Director at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company and the resolution was approved by the Shareholders. In
addition, Mr. Chen was removed from the office of the subsidiary of
the Company.

2. The Board appointed Mr. Yao Li (an executive Director) as the
Chairman of the Board and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee in place of Mr. Chen and Mr. Li Libing as the Chief
Executive Officer.

3. The Company will designate the roles and responsibilities within
senior management and the Board as to particular areas of focus for
each member or class of members, and which members are to have
access to or be the designated owners or reviewers of particular
classes of documents.

4. The Company appointed a qualified accountant with the relevant
professional experience as chief financial officer (the “Chief
Financial Officer”) at the listed company level of the Group and
will recruit a professional team that would report to him.

5. The Company appointed the Chief Financial Officer as the company
secretary and appointed a law firm in Hong Kong to act as
company counsel to the Company to help ensure and supervise the
Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and the disclosure
requirements thereunder. Further, the Company will engage other
relevant professionals, as and when required, to help perfect
governance of the Group.

6. The Company engaged an internal control consultant to review the
Group’s internal control systems and procedures in response to
the concerns identified during the Independent Investigation. The
Company implemented and will continue to enhance its internal
controls measures to address and resolve all issues identified in
the course of the Company’s continuous efforts on reviewing and
enhancing its internal controls.
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The Company appointed a compliance director to ensure the
Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules, corporate governance
and all applicable laws, rules, codes and guidelines and to provide
regular trainings for management personnel of the Group in this
regard.

The Company implemented measures to strengthen its payment
authorisation processes, with new checks and balances to be
installed to ensure due supervision, authorisation and approval.

The Company implemented measures to segregate the approval and
supervision process for material contract approval and signing.

The Company adopted a dividend policy to strengthen and supervise
more tightly its dividend declaration, distribution and payment
processes, including maintaining appropriate records in relation
thereto; and strengthen board approval, disclosure and notification
to shareholders (i.e. all public and substantial shareholders).

The Company implemented measures to strengthen its governance
and operational control over the supervision of its office operations
and the Group.

The Company implemented and will continue to enhance the
measures on declaration of conflict of interests by directors and
senior management of the Group and will implement checks and
balances at the Company and subsidiary levels and enhance
and monitor systems and controls designed towards preventing
undetected abuse of power by any future director, chief executive
officer and/or other senior management.

The Company will continue to expend efforts on all available methods
and to exercise its rights in relation to the recovery of the defaulting
Loans and Investment.

For details of the key findings of the Independent Investigation, please
refer to the Key Findings Announcement.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period amounted
to RMB2,700,000 and RMB1,000,000 respectively. An analysis of the
remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company in respect of
audit services and non-audit services for the Reporting Period is set out
below:

Bk 7% 38 R e ENER

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable

AR

RMB

EET R 2,700,000

Audit Services

FE 2 5T AR5 1,000,000
Non-audit Services

3,700,000
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Hon Ming Sang, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company was
appointed as the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) on 31 October 2022.

Prior to the appointment of Mr. Hon as the Company Secretary, Ms. Siu
Wing Kit, Ms. Chow Yuk Yin vy, Ms. Mok Wing Wai of Tricor Services
Limited (an external service provider) were the Company Secretary from
1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022, 30 June 2022 to 23 August 2022 and
23 August 2022 to 31 October 2022, respectively. Mr. Hui Guangyu,
public relationship director of the Company was designated as the primary
contact person at the Company which would work and communicate with
Ms. Siu, Ms. Chow and Ms. Mok on the Company’s corporate governance
and secretarial and administrative matters during their respective tenure.

The above Company Secretaries have complied with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional
training during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company engages with shareholders through various communication
channels.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should
be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Director. All resolutions put forward at
general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and of
the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting Forward

Proposal at General Meeting

Article 58 of the Articles provides that the Board may whenever it thinks fit
call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company
will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the Company:

Address: Unit 2910, 29th Floor, Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
Investor Relations Department

Email: ir@cgiihldgs.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours
to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular,
through annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy to ensure
that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The
Company shall maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders and will review
the shareholders’ communication policy (available on the Company’s
website) at least annually to ensure its effectiveness.

1. GENERAL POLICY
11 In accordance with the Articles and the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules, this policy aims to ensure that the
Company’s Shareholders and other stakeholders at large
are provided with ready, equal, regular and timely access to
material information about the Company.

1.2 The Company aims to pursue the fundamental principles of
making fair disclosure of information to Shareholders to enable
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

1.3 The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue

with Shareholders and other stakeholders, and will regularly
review this policy to ensure its effectiveness.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company maintains a policy of frank communication, and
will deliver information to Shareholders and other stakeholders
through various channels:

(@ the Company’s financial reports (including interim and
annual reports);

(b)  annual general meetings and other extraordinary general
meetings that may be convened; and

(c) making available on the Company’s website all the
disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange,
the Company’s corporate communications and other
Company’s corporate publications.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS
Shareholders’ general meetings

21

2.2

2.3

2.4

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings.

There shall be appropriate arrangements to encourage

Shareholders’ participation in annual general meetings.

The Company shall monitor and regularly review procedures
for general meetings and, if necessary, changes will be made
to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served.

Members of the Board (especially the chairman of each Board
committee or his/her delegate), appropriate administration and
management executives and external auditor will attend annual
general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions.
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2.5 According to the relevant provisions of the Articles, notices
of an annual general meeting shall be despatched to
Shareholders no less than 21 clear days and no less than
20 clear business days, while notices of all other general
meetings (including an extraordinary general meeting) shall be
despatched no less than 14 clear days and no less than ten
clear business days. Relevant circulars and meeting materials
shall be delivered to Shareholders in advance in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ enquiries

2.6 If Shareholders have any questions regarding their
shareholding or corporate communications, Shareholders
should liaise with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar.

2.7 Shareholders and other stakeholders may at any time
request for the Company’s information to the extent that
such information is publicly available. The Company has
a designated email address at ir@cgiihldgs.com in which
Shareholders may make any query.

Company’s website

2.8 A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website at www.cgiihldgs.com. Information on the
Company’s website is updated on a regular basis.

2.9 Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange
is posted on the Company’s website immediately thereafter.
Such information includes financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
relevant explanatory documents, etc.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Ongoing communication with Shareholders
210 In order to facilitate communication between the Company
and its Shareholders, the Company organises various activities

regularly:

(@ inviting Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
results announcement briefings and roadshows; and

(b)  participating in investors summits or annual conferences
held by relevant organisations.
211 The Company aims to provide corporate communication in
plain language and in both English and Chinese versions to
facilitate Shareholders’ understanding.

3. SHAREHOLDER PRIVACY

31 The Company recognises the importance of protecting
Shareholders’ privacy and will not disclose Shareholders’
information without their prior consent, unless required by

applicable laws and regulations.

The Board had
communication policy and considered that the relevant policy is effective.

reviewed the implementation of the shareholders’

DIVIDEND POLICY

Subject to the Articles, the Company may announce and declare dividends
to Shareholders in any currency in general meeting, but no declared
dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The
Articles provides that dividends may be declared and paid out of the
profits of the Company, realised or unrealised, or out of any reserve set
aside from profits which the Board may determine to be no longer needed.
With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends may also be paid
out of share premium account or any other fund or account which can
be applied for this purpose as permitted by the Companies Act.
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The Company is a holding company incorporated under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. Hence, the payment and amount of any future
dividends will also depend on the availability of dividends received from
the subsidiaries. The PRC law requires that dividends be paid only on
the basis of profit for the year calculated in accordance with the PRC
accounting standards, which differs in many respects from accounting
standards generally accepted in other jurisdictions, including International
Financial Reporting Standards. The PRC law also requires foreign-invested
enterprises to set aside at least 10% of their after-tax profits, if any, as
their statutory reserves, which may not be distributed as cash dividends.
Distributions by the Company and its subsidiaries may also be subject
to any restrictive covenants relating to banking facilities, convertible bond
instruments or other agreements that may be entered into by the Company
or its subsidiaries in the future.

The amount of any dividend actually distributed to the Shareholders
will depend on the earnings and financial position of the Company, its
operating requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions
deemed relevant by the Directors, subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. The Board shall have the absolute discretion to recommend

any dividend.

Having due regard to the long-term interests of the Shareholders and
the Company, the Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Reporting Period. As at the date of this annual report, no
arrangement has been entered into to enable the Shareholders to waive
or agree to waive any dividends (including future dividends).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any changes
to its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Company’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the websites of

the Company and Stock Exchange.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 August
2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law. The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 December 2020 (the “Listing”). The
global offering comprised the Hong Kong public offering of 30,000,000
Shares and the international offering of 270,000,000 Shares (the “Global
Offering”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is an industrial gas supplier operating in Hebei Province of
the PRC. It mainly focuses on the supply of pipeline industrial gas and
liquefied industrial gas and it also operates a relatively small-scale LNG-
related business which includes the supply of LNG and provision of gas
transmission service. The Group’s industrial gas products include oxygen,
nitrogen, argon, hydrogen and carbon dioxide. Industrial gas is widely
used globally in a diverse range of industries. Particularly, industrial gas
products are important raw materials for the production of iron and steel.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 36 to the consolidated financial statements on page 242 of
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating
profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements on pages 197 to 198 of this annual
report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the Reporting Period, and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, could be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The following are the
principal risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:

. our relationship with members of the HBIS Group is crucial to our
business operation. Our business, financial condition and results of
operation may be adversely affected if there is any change to the
current arrangements between members of the HBIS Group and us.

. our customers may prematurely terminate or default under our
industrial gas supply contracts.

. our business operations and financial performance may be adversely
affected if there is any change to the operation and/or business
development plans of members of the HBIS Group who are our
customers.

. we are subject to risk due to our expansion and relocation of
equipment associated with the development of the Zhongqi
Investment (Tangshan) plant, which was our only production plant
under development as at the date of this report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Directors’ Report

we expect to incur substantial depreciation expenses relating to the
construction of the Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) plant, which may
materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.

. our business and results of operations may be subject to the
changes in the market conditions of the iron and steel industry.

For detailed disclosure about the principal risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group, please refer to the “Risk Factors” section in the Prospectus.

The list above is not exhaustive and there may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown above which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

The raw material used in the production process of the Group’s industrial
gas products is primarily air which we obtain at zero cost. During the
Reporting Period, consumption of utilities is the largest component of the
Group’s cost of revenue. During the Reporting Period, the Group procured
electricity, together with primarily water, heating and steam, mainly from
the Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers HBIS Company Tangshan
Branch (Al 8l % {5 /& L % 72 &)) , Tangshan Stainless Steel and Tangshan
Plate based on certain utility purchase contracts. The Group entered into
long-term utility purchase contracts with a term of 15 or 30 years with
them. The Group also entered into a utilities purchase contract with HBIS
Laosteel which is a new customer of Zhongqi Investment (Tangshan). It is
an industry norm that the on-site customers will provide utilities to their
pipeline industrial gas supplier.
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Concentration of Customers and Suppliers

As at the date of this annual report, the Group experienced concentration
of our customers and suppliers, primarily due to the Group’s relationship
with members of the HBIS Group and our business model. Considering
that (i) such concentration is common for industrial gas suppliers in the
PRC which primarily engage in supply of pipeline industrial gas; (i) the
Group’s relationship with members of the HBIS Group; and (iii) the historical
background of our establishment as well as the Group’s stability for the
past 12 years, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s concentration
of customers and suppliers would not impact on the operation of the
Group.

Overlapping Suppliers and Customers

The Group’s pipeline industrial gas customers are also our suppliers of
utilities. The sharing of utility distribution networks with the Group’s on-site
customers can save us the cost of establishing separate water pipeline
and power cable networks. Setting up production plants in close proximity
to the sites of the Group’s customers can also save delivery costs for
customers as pipeline delivery is much cheaper than road tanker delivery
in terms of large volume of constant gas supply. While the Group’s pipeline
industrial gas customers contributed significantly to the revenue during
the Reporting Period, the Group’s industrial gas products were essential
as key raw materials for their iron and steel production and the Group’s
pipeline industrial gas customers were incentivised to provide the Group
with stable and reliable utility supply.

For further details of the Group’s major customers and suppliers, please
refer to the section headed “Major Customers and Suppliers” in the
Directors’ Report.
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Relationship with Employees

Employees are regarded as valuable assets of the Group. The Group has
a workers’ union in accordance with PRC laws and regulations. The Group
did not experience any material labour dispute and we believe that the
Group has maintained a good working relationship with its staff members.
The Group places high emphasis on the training and development of our
staff. The Group invests in continuing education and training programs
for our management and other staff members to update their skills and
knowledge periodically. The Group provides training for our staff members
with respect to our operation, technical knowledge and work safety
standards and environmental protection.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases attributable
to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

HEAEEAENESL
Percentage of the Group’s total

HEH REBE

Sales Purchases
BRREF 68%
The largest customer
EREF & 81%
Five largest customers in aggregate
RRHEER 65%
The largest supplier
EA#ERSE 82%

Five largest suppliers in aggregate
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During the Reporting Period, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
(of which the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries only) is
considered as one single customer) together accounted for approximately
81% of the total revenue. During the Reporting Period, sales to the HBIS
group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries) which in aggregate was the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 68% of the total
revenue, and sales to the HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and
associates) accounted for approximately 69% of the total revenue. HBIS,
is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”). For more information, please refer to the section headed
“Connected Transactions” in this directors’ report.

During the Reporting Period, purchase from the Group’s five largest
suppliers (of which the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) is considered as one single supplier) together accounted for
approximately 82% of the total cost of revenue. During the Reporting
Period, purchase from the HBIS group (including HBIS and its subsidiaries
only) which in aggregate was the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 65% of the total cost of revenue, and purchase from the
HBIS Group (including HBIS, its subsidiaries and associates) accounted
for approximately 81% of the total cost of revenues for the same periods.
HBIS, is one of the Controlling Shareholders. For more information, please
refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this directors’
report.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Reporting Period have the
Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidation results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out on pages 130 to 272 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Reporting Period (the year ended 31 December 2021: Nil).

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not made any charitable
donations.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 235 to 236 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, there were no distributable reserves of the
Company.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 236 to 239 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Board during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual
report consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. David T Chen (Removed on 5 May 2022)
Mr. Yao Li (Chairman)

Ms. Gao Guimin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Wenli (Appointed on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Zhang Aimin (Resigned on 20 January 2023)
Mr. Lai Yui

Ms. Ng Shuk Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Siu Chi Hung

Mr. Xiao Huan Wei

Ms. Li Chun Elsy
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In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years. In addition, in accordance with article 84(2) of the Articles, a
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act
as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The Directors to
retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number
of directors to retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not
to offer himself for re-election. The executive Director Ms. Gao Guimin,
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Xiao Huan Wei and Ms. Li Chun
Elsy shall retire from office by rotation in accordance with article 84(1) of
the Articles at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the Board shall hold office only until
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election. The non-executive Director, Mr. Zhang Wenli
who was appointed as non-executive Director on 20 January 2023 by the
Board shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company and, being eligible offer, will himself for re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 28 to
41 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” to this annual report.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS

BANARE E202266 A30H L/ AHFR  Changes in Directors’ biographical details since the date of the interim
HA SR 45 T 3% A2k - iR ¥5 E 28 B 5513.51B  report of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022 which are
WIEMEFHRENEERBEABEESHE S required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules,

IR

ExEW

Director’s name

FEXL

Ms. Li Chun Elsy

EENBERBNESR

are set out as follows:

BEFE

Details of change

B20226 8 - FXL T HBEMEFIBEFRAF (MR 0086) H) KB 7 E
REEBHRPEE  ZARNRBIAER TR -

B2022F 12 FRETEEBHERBRATNNERFRELES -
Since August 2022, Ms. Li ceased to be the group treasurer and head of
corporate development of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (stock code: 0086), the

shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Li has been the Chief Operating Officer of Peterson Holdings Company
Limited since December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

RIBERAN - BRETAXA K SEK B During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective close
NRMERI  MEEENEZTEMNER  associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
B A(EER EMBADNEENMEEE  that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
AR E AN EBER B R FOESFTHE  the business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company

BiE#ERS -

and/or its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for an
initial term of three years commencing from 29 December 2020 (“Listing
Date”), which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for term of
three years, which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either of the Director or the Company. Mr. Zheng Wenli,
who was appointed as a non-executive Director on 20 January 2023, has
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three years,
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either of the Director or the Company. Under the respective
appointment letters, each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors is entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the Directors
has entered into any service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (excluding contracts expiring or determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation).

EMOLUMENT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 13(a) and 13(b) to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 203 to 207 of this annual
report.
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Certain Directors had waived their Directors’ fee during the Reporting
Period. No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments had been made or were
payable, for the Reporting Period, by the Group to or on behalf of any of
the Directors.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company has any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which will have to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short positions which they are
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which will
be required, under section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to in that section, or under the Model Code to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate,
and none of the Directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the share capital or debt securities
of the Company or any other body corporate, or had exercised any such
right.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, other than the Share Option Scheme as
set out in the section under “Share Option Scheme” and note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 271 to 272 of this annual
report, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme conditionally by the
written resolutions of its then shareholders on 17 June 2020 (the “Date
of Adoption”) and such scheme is effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 29 December 2020. The remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme is approximately seven years and nine months. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in accordance with
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The principal terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarised as follows:

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate Eligible Persons
(as set out in paragraph 2 below) to optimise their future contributions to
the Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract and
retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships with Eligible Persons
who are significant to and/or whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in
the case of Executives (as defined in paragraph 2 below), to enable the
Group to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or
to reward them for their past contributions.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Board may, at its sole discretion, invite any director of, manager of,
or other employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar
position in, any member of the Group (an “Employee”), any proposed
Employee, any full-time or part-time Employee, or a person for the time
being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the Group
(an “Executive”), a director or proposed director (including an independent
non-executive director) of any member of the Group, a general staff of
any member of the Group, a consultant, business or joint venture partner,
franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any member of the
Group, a person or entity that provides advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any member of the Group, or a close associate (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons (together,
the “Eligible Persons” and each an “Eligible Person”).

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme (and under any other share option schemes of
the Company) shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue at any time.
The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all share
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme (and under
any other share option schemes) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date (i.e. not exceeding 120,000,000
Shares) (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”).

The maximum number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the share options granted to any one Eligible Person (including exercised
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the Shares in issue from time to time.
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A share option may be exercised at any time during the option period to
be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years from the date of grant. An offer of
the grant of a share option shall be deemed to have been accepted when
the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the share option duly signed
by the grantee together with a remittance in favour of the Company of
HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within the period specified in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the share option. Once such acceptance is made, the share
option shall be deemed to have been granted and to have taken effect
from the offer date.

The subscription price in respect of any particular share option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine at the
time of grant of the relevant share option (and shall be stated in the letter
containing the offer of the grant of the share option), but the subscription
price shall be the highest of: (a) the nominal value of Share; (b) the closing
price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the offer date; and (c) the average of the closing prices of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date. The subscription price shall
also be subject to adjustment in accordance with the reorganisation of
capital structure.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 120,000,000, representing
10% of the issued shares of the Company.

No options was granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme
since the Date of Adoption. The Company did not have any outstanding
share options as at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

At the beginning and at the end of the Company’s financial year, the total
number of options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing 10% of the issued Shares.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, the persons (other than Directors or
chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
Shares or underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO are as follows:

RR&ER

EARR
BRERH ERITREAN
BEinE KRH#E R

Approximate
Number of percentage of the
Shares Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested share capital
EEFMERERLR(EBEEBN) EGBEEA 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Huitang Zhihe (Hong Kong) Co., Limited

(EEFA(AH) BB L) (“HK Huitang Zhihe)?

TEEESNREERAA(LEERBN]) @
Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd.

Beneficial owner

REAEED 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation

(LEEEBMIZEERAF) (“SH Huitang Zhihe")2

7 380 [ 17 @

HBIS Company @
HHREERFREC AR (DTRBE]) @
Handan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd.

(M3 #BiH & £ BB R & A7) ("HBIS Hansteel”)?

k-
HBIS @
hERBREBERAF(CG)®
China Gas Investors Ltd. (“CGI")®
Huang He Investment Limited ([Huang Hel) ®
Huang He Investment Limited (‘Huang He")®
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
(IChina Infrastructure]) ©
China Infrastructure Partners, L.P.
(“China Infrastructure”)®

REEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
REEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%

Interest in a controlled corporation

REEEER 431,904,000(L) 35.99%
Interest in a controlled corporation
ERERA 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Beneficial owner
RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
REEE#ER

468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Interest in a controlled corporation
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REREH BaEME R #E BB

Approximate

Number of percentage of the

Shares Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest interested share capital

CITP GP | Ltd. ([CITP GPJ) ® XEEERR 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
CITP GP I Ltd. (“CITP GP")® Interest in a controlled corporation

PRERKREFERARC REEEED 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
BOCI Investment Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

RRERERERAFS RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
BOC International Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation

HREIRTRHER AR XEEERR 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Bank of China Limited © Interest in a controlled corporation

Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. @ RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. @ RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. ® REEEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. © Interest in a controlled corporation

Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. © RErEER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. @ Interest in a controlled corporation

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited © XEEERER 468,096,000(L) 39.01%

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited ©

Interest in a controlled corporation

5 -
(1) LREZZBERRBDHEOER
2 BAEESNALERFESMEERE ML

BEERMEAHRG S EEAS - mOAHHR G5
B 1 8l 88 R (B 5 PR ) ([T 6 A 8 1) - A 8
HOER R S R 4 ) Bl B R R £94.17%
39.73% £18.32% - f A #ff K £ - A ) HE 3 K
7R 816 7 5 e )R] 3 5 [® 43 Bl % 5100% -~ 100% K2
92.99% o FE UL - A EEEBEMBE AR S
M5 5 B S AR 1D £062.22% M # © IRIFEH K
HEGKD - EEEBN - OTHERD - T
WMETHEESERERNEEEEDBNEE
MAERBERDPEEER -

The letter “L” denotes the Shareholder’s long position in the Shares.

HK Huitang Zhihe is wholly-owned by SH Huitang Zhihe which in turn is wholly-owned
by HBIS Company, which in turn is directly and indirectly owned by Chengde Iron and
Steel Group Co., Ltd. (7 72 8 &z &£ [# 5 fR 2 &]) (‘HBIS Chengsteel”), HBIS Hansteel
and HBIS Tangsteel as to approximately 4.17%, 39.73% and 18.32%, respectively,
and HBIS Chengsteel, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS Tangsteel are owned by HBIS as to
100%, 100% and 92.99%, respectively. As such, HBIS through its subsidiaries together
indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in HBIS Company. By virtue of
the SFO, each of SH Huitang Zhihe, HBIS Company, HBIS Hansteel and HBIS was
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by HK Huitang Zhihe.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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Ltd. & %% - MAnderson Investments
Pte. Ltd.f/3Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. %
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MTembusu Capital Pte. Ltd.HTemasek
Holdings (Private) Limited &= & # A °

M Springleaf Investment
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Anderson Ltd. ~ Thomson
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CGl is owned as to 80% and 20% by Huang He and OxyChina Limited (“OxyChina”)
respectively. Huang He is wholly-owned by China Infrastructure, whose general partner
is CITP GP, which is held as to:

(i) 60% by BOCI Investment Limited, which is wholly-owned by BOC International
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Bank of China Limited whose
shares are listed and traded on the Main Board (stock code: 3988) and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601988); and

(ii) 40% by Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., which is wholly-owned by Anderson
Investments Pte. Ltd., which is in turn wholly-owned by Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd.. Thomson Capital Pte. Ltd. is wholly-owned by Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

As at the date of this report, (a) each of the 4 shareholders of OxyChina charged all
of the shares registered in their respective own name in OxyChina; and (b) OxyChina
charged all of its shares in CGI registered in its name in favour of Eastern Sky Limited
as security agent nominated by Huang He pursuant to the charges dated 25 July 2011.
For details, please refer to the section headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Overview” in the Prospectus.

By virtue of the SFO, each of Huang He, China Infrastructure, CITP GP, BOCI
Investment Limited, BOC International Holdings Limited, Bank of China Limited,
Springleaf Investments Pte. Ltd., Anderson Investments Pte. Ltd., Thomson Capital Pte.
Ltd., Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd. and Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited was deemed
to be interested in the same number of Shares held by CGI.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company had
not been notified by any person (other than Directors or chief executives
of the Company) that they had interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained during the year under review the amount of
public float as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

Article 164(1) of the Articles provides that the Directors, among others, at
any time, whether at present or in the past, and the liquidator or trustees
(if any) acting or who have acted in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company and everyone of them, and everyone of their heirs, executors
and administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their
or any of their heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur or
sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts; and none of them shall be answerable for the acts,
receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or others of them or for joining in
any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons
with whom any moneys or effects belonging to the Company shall or may
be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency or deficiency
of any security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company
shall be placed out on or invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or
damage which may happen in the execution of their respective offices
or trusts, or in relation thereto; PROVIDED THAT this indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for the Directors
and senior management.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions”
in this directors’ report and in note 38 to the consolidated financial
statements contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
and contract of significance to the business of the Group which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or
any entity connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding bank borrowings of
approximately RMB572.53 million. Details of the borrowings are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual
report and note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 8 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 212 to 214 of this annual report.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 341 employees
as compared to 369 as at 31 December 2021. Total employee
expenditures during the Reporting Period amounted to approximately
RMB58.38 million as compared to approximately RMB54.04 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021. The Group operates a defined
contribution retirement scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for all
qualified employees. Employees of the Group’s factories in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC.

The remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management
members is based on their experience, level of responsibility and general
market conditions. Any discretionary bonus and other merit payments
are linked to the profit performance of the Group and the individual
performance of the Directors and senior management members.
The Company’s remuneration policy is subject to review by and the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee. To attract and retain
the suitable personnel for the development of the Group, the Group has
adopted the Share Option Scheme since June 2020. Pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme, share options may be granted to eligible employees of
the Group as a long-term incentive.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during the Reporting
Period.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group has engaged certain employees in its office in Hong Kong for
the Reporting Period and each of such employees has participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-
managed retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government.
The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement
benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 4(q)
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations in relation to its business including health and safety, workplace
conditions, employment and the environment. The Group has implemented
environmental protection measures and has also encouraged staff to be
environmental friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper
according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and
minimize unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental, social
and governance report of the Company for the Reporting Period to be
published together with this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in
this directors’ report and note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 243 to 255 of this annual report, no contract of significance
was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
Controlling Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting
Period or subsisted at the end of the year, and no contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by
a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the year.

NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, HBIS has executed a Non-Competition
Undertaking to the effect that it will not, and will procure its subsidiaries
not to, among others, engaged in any activities which are or may be in
competition, either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group.

HBIS has confirmed and undertaken in the Non-Competition Undertaking
that the Industrial Gas Assets are primarily ancillary facilities for the
iron and steel production of HBIS and its subsidiaries and the industrial
gas produced with such Industrial Gas Assets is primarily distributed to
subsidiaries of HBIS through pipelines for their own use.

As confirmed in the Non-Competition Undertaking, HBIS and its
subsidiaries have not engaged in any activities which are in competition,
either directly or indirectly, with those of the Group. HBIS and its
subsidiaries also undertake not to, either directly or indirectly, engage in
any activities which are or may be in competition with the business of the

Group in the future.

Upon Listing, in the event that the Group makes a request to acquire, or
HBIS intends to dispose of or any third party offers to HBIS to acquire the
Industrial Gas Assets, either in whole or in part, the Group shall have the
right of first refusal to acquire the Industrial Gas Assets on a preferential
basis at a fair consideration to be evaluated by an appraiser.

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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In the event that any adjustments of national policy(ies) or other force
majeure event(s) lead(s) to inevitable competition between the businesses
of the Group and those of HBIS and its subsidiaries in the future (the
“Potential Competing Businesses”), HBIS and its subsidiaries shall
forthwith adopt measures in a timely manner to transfer the Potential
Competing Businesses to the Group on a preferential basis under the
same conditions or cease such Potential Competing Businesses.

HBIS has further undertaken that it shall fully respect the Group as an
independent legal person and ensure our independent operation and the
Group’s autonomy in decision-making.

As confirmed by HBIS,
Undertaking for disclosure in this annual report during the Reporting

it had complied with the Non-competition

Period. HBIS did not transfer and no third party had offered to acquire
any Industrial Gas Assets during the Reporting Period and no Potential
Competing Business was identified by HBIS during the same period. The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the implementation
of the Non-Competition Undertaking and are of the view that the Non-
Competition Undertakings has been complied with by HBIS for the
Reporting Period.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
Reporting Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan or
provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors,
senior management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Discloseable and connected transaction during the
Reporting Period

On 29 June 2022, TTG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Tangshan Plate entered into the gas products supply agreement (“Gas
Products Supply Agreement”), pursuant to which (i) TTG shall invest in
the construction of a vacuum pressure swing adsorption oxygen generation
unit (A= # BRI HIE % E ) and ancillary facilities (“Production Unit”) in
the amount of RMB82.9 million; (i) TTG shall operate the Production Unit
during the initial term of 42 months commencing from the date when the
Production Unit is put into operation, which may be further extended for
(@) not more than six months in the event that the actual operating hours
of the Production Unit is affected by the production restrictions imposed
by the PRC government and (b) not more than 12 months in the event that
the Production Unit fails to operate due to TTG (the “Term”); (iiij Tangshan
Plate shall provide the construction site for the project for the construction
and operations of the Production Unit and the supply of gas products by
TTG to Tangshan Plate (the “Project”); (iv) Tangshan Plate shall provide the
utilities for the operation of the Production Unit including, among others,
water, electricity and steam (the “Utilities”) during the Term and TTG shall
pay the Utilities expenses pursuant to the operational utilities and related
services agreement entered into by Tangshan Plate and TTG in June 2018;
(v) Tangshan Plate shall purchase the gas products produced by TTG at
the Production Unit during the Term; and (vi) upon expiry or termination of
the Gas Products Supply Agreement, the Company is expected to receive
the aggregate amount of purchase of RMB124,355,400 (net of certain
operating expenses including the Utilities expenses incurred by TTG as
agreed under the Gas Products Supply Agreement, power supply circuit,
labour and maintenance costs and excluding tax). TTG shall transfer the
ownership of the Production Unit to Tangshan Plate (the “Transfer”) at nil
consideration.
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As disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 16 December 2022
(the “Circular”), TTG is the exclusive pipeline industrial gas supplier for
Tangshan Plate. The Group understands that Tangshan Plate’s demand
for oxygen is expected to further increase by approximately 30% in 2023
according to its production plan. In light of the above, Tangshan Plate and
TTG decided to cooperate in implementing the Project to tackle the oxygen
supply shortage. In addition, the Project also allows the Group to benefit
from reduced energy consumption and production cost and enhance the
Group’s technical resource reserves, expand the Group’s business scope,
and further enhance the Group’s competitiveness in oxygen production.
For further details of the reasons for and the benefits of the entering into
the Gas Product Supply Agreement, please refer to the Circular.

Since Tangshan Plate is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS Company,
a Controlling Shareholder of the Company, Tangshan Plate is a connected
person of the Company. As the highest applicable percentage ratio as
defined under the Listing Rules in respect of the Transfer is more than 5%
but less than 25%, the Transfer will constitute (i) a non-exempt connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; and (ii) a discloseable
transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules, and will be subject
to the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 6 January
2023, the independent Shareholders voted in favour of an ordinary
resolution for approving the Gas Products Supply Agreement and the
transaction contemplated therein.

For further details of the Gas Products Supply Agreement, please refer to
the announcement, the Circular and the poll result announcement of the
Company dated 29 June 2022, 16 December 2022 and 6 January 2023,
respectively.
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Continuing connected transactions for the Reporting

Period

As each of HBIS Company and HBIS is a Controlling Shareholder,
members of the HBIS Group are the connected persons of the Company.
Therefore, the following transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group for the Reporting Period, which are subject to
the reporting and annual review requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules:

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a gas products and
related services framework agreement (the “Master Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Company agreed
to supply gas products (including pipeline and liquefied industrial gas and
other gas products as agreed by the Company and members of the HBIS
Group from time to time) and provide related services (including provision
of gas transmission and storage tanks rental services) to members of the
HBIS Group mainly for their production of iron and steel products (the “Gas
Products and Related Services Transactions”) for a term commencing
from the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be
automatically renewed for a successive period of three years thereafter
subject to review and approval by the independent Shareholders after the
expiration of the three-year term and the compliance with the Listing Rules.
The renewal of the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
for a successive term of three years was approved by the independent
Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022. The Group may from time to time
enter into operational agreement(s) with members of the HBIS Group in
relation to any Gas Products and Related Services Transaction(s) upon,
and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master Gas Products
and Related Services Agreement (the “Operational Gas Products and
Related Services Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed
to procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement.
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The following table sets out the major existing Operational Gas Products

and Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2022:

HFH Bk 5 @I B R REME MR
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
A E L AR (MR ] 50 s A7 B HEIXRE BEETERNEEER A 2007F37%
VNG ARTRARBILER ARRER 203743
HBIS Tangshan Branch Branch of HBIS Supply of industrial gas, including but not  March 2007 to March
(Note 1) Company limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, and 2037
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon
& L 45 500 (BT 51 2) ] 5 4 £ MEIXRE BEETRANEEERNL 2007F3R %
oy FNC] ARARBILLER ARREAR 203743

Tangshan Stainless Steel
(Note 2)

LR ER (D)

Tangshan Plate (Note 1)

FEILHEEERRTER
ARAR(ELER)
(K1 5E3)

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group

High-strength Car Plate
Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan

High-Strength”) (Note 3)

30 48 = (Pft 5£4)

HBIS Laosteel (Note 4)

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

] 50 B A0
oy FNG]

Subsidiary of HBIS
Company

o7 48 5 800 )
oy pNC]

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

2k ESE L)
2EMBAR

a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HBIS

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen and nitrogen, and
liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and argon

HETXRE BRETRREEEAR &
RESRARBIEEAR BRREAR

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen and
hydrogen and liquefied oxygen, nitrogen and
argon

BRETRREEARLK

Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline nitrogen and hydrogen

HEIXERE BRETRREEEAR A
RoSRARTRARBEERIAR
Supply of industrial gas, including but not
limited to pipeline oxygen, nitrogen, argon
and hydrogen and liquefied oxygen and
nitrogen

March 2007 to March
2037

20151 &
2029512 A -
VE-—FERE
2033%9A

January 2015 to
December 2029 and
further extended to
September 2033

2019F1A %
2022412 R

January 2019 to
December 2022

2020 10H £2035%F 10 A

October 2020 to
October 2035
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Notes:

1 HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. Tangshan High-Strength is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel. Accordingly, Tangshan
High-Strength is a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

4. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement
has an initial term of three years, the majority of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements were
entered into on a long-term basis as set out above. The Directors
believe that the long-term industrial gas supply arrangement can protect
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders by minimising the
Company’s investment and capital risk in incurring a large amount of
capital expenditure in the construction of the production facilities before
generating any revenue. The Directors are of the view that the long-
term industrial gas supply arrangement is necessary for the efficient and
continuing operation of the Company and that the long-term industrial gas
supply arrangement is an established feature of the Company’s business
model for the on-site industrial gas supply operation and is consistent with
the industry norm. For further details of the terms of the major existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, please
refer to the sections headed “Business — Our business — Customers —
Pipeline industrial gas customers”, “— Customers — Liquefied industrial gas
customers” and “— Customers — LNG-related business customers” in the
Prospectus.
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Each of the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements
is and will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master
Gas Products and Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and
in the event that the approval from the independent shareholders for its
renewal or new annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply
with the relevant Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of
the Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements, where
applicable.

Pricing guidelines

The unit price for each type of industrial gas products and the fees for
related services are set out in the relevant Operational Gas Products and
Related Services Agreement subject to adjustment by parties entering into
a supplemental agreement. The unit price for each type of the pipeline
industrial gas products is determined on cost plus basis after arm’s length
negotiations between the relevant parties, taking into account major costs,
including electricity expenses (with reference to the government-prescribed
price), depreciation of our equipment and the administrative and finance
cost. The unit price of each type of liquefied industrial gas and fees for
storage tanks rental services will be determined with reference to the
relevant market price charged by independent third party providers for
the same or similar type of liquefied industrial gas and rental services
and actual cost which includes the transportation cost, where applicable.
The fees for gas transmission are based on actual costs and expenses
incurred in providing such service. Monthly settlement is made on the basis
of the actual supply volume by each of the relevant member of the HBIS
Group under the relevant Operational Gas Products and Related Services
Agreement where applicable.

As the Group’s business is electricity intensive, where relevant, the existing
Operational Gas Products and Related Services Agreements provide for
a price adjustment mechanism with a pre-determined formula to factor in
the fluctuation in electricity price and supplemental agreements between
the Group and relevant member of the HBIS Group have been or will be
made to reflect the price adjustment under such mechanism.
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Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
HBIS Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Gas Products
and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Gas
Products and Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Gas
Products and Related Services Transactions contemplated under the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement shall be subject
to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

(2) Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a utilities and
related services framework agreement (the “Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to procure
from members of the HBIS Group utilities including, among others,
water, electricity, steam and coke oven gas (“COG"), related equipment
(including electrical cabinet and cables) and services (including sewage
treatment services) (the “Utilities and Related Services”) (the “Utilities
and Related Services Transactions”) for a term commencing from
the Listing Date and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be
automatically renewed for a successive period of three years thereafter
subject to review and approval by the independent Shareholders after
the expiration of the three-year term and the compliance with the Listing
Rules. The renewal of the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement
for a successive term of three years was approved by the independent
Shareholders’ on 29 December 2022. The Group may from time to time
enter into operational agreement(s) with members of the HBIS Group in
relation to any Utilities and Related Services Transaction(s) upon, and
subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and Related
Services Agreement (the “Operational Utilities and Related Services
Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to procure their
respective members to comply with the terms of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement.
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The following table sets out the major existing Operational Utilities and

Related Services Agreements as at 31 December 2022:

EIESy] HAKBEHER REME HR
Relationship with
Counterparty the Group Nature of the transaction Term
A3 = L > AR (BT REL) A AR 10 89 73 A 7 REARER  8EEN K EZAREE 200743H£203743A

HBIS Tangshan Branch
(Note 1)

FE LA 30 (BT 55 2)
Tangshan Stainless Steel
(Note 2)

LR EAR (D)

Tangshan Plate (Note 1)

A 0 % = (P 5E3)

HBIS Laosteel (Note 3)

Branch of HBIS
Company

7 48 2 580 ) Y I X R

Subsidiary of HBIS
Tangsteel

] 5 i A 9 B B 2 )

Subsidiary of HBIS
Company

G TESE T g =N

a wholly-owned
subsidiary of HBIS

ER
Procurement of utilities, including electricity,
water, steam and COG

REBLAARER BEEN KREA
Procurement of utilities, including electricity,
water and steam

RBARER BREH KREA

Procurement of utilities, including electricity,
water and steam

REARER BEEH K ZAREE
Procurement of utilities, including electricity,
water, steam and COG

March 2007 to March
2037

200743 A £2037%F3A4
March 2007 to March
2037

2015F 1A 22029121 -
3 — R £ 2033694
January 2015 to
December 2029 and
further extended to
September 2033

2020101 £ 20355 10H

October 2020 to
October 2035
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Notes:

1 HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder indirectly holding 35.99% of the issued
share capital of the Company and therefore is a connected person of the Company.
HBIS Tangshan Branch is a branch company of HBIS Company and Tangshan Plate is
a subsidiary of HBIS Company and therefore are connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

2. HBIS, through its subsidiaries, indirectly holds approximately 62.22% equity interest in
HBIS Company. HBIS Company indirectly holds 35.99% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Each of HBIS and HBIS Company is a Controlling Shareholder and a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Tangshan Stainless Steel
is a subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel which is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of HBIS.
Accordingly, Tangshan Stainless Steel is a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

3. HBIS Laosteel is a subsidiary of HBIS Company. Accordingly, HBIS Laosteel is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Despite that the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement has
an initial term of three years, the major existing Operational Utilities and
Related Services Agreements were entered into on a long-term basis as
set out above. The terms including the renewal arrangements of the major
existing Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements are in line
with the terms of the major existing Operational Gas Products and Related
Services Agreements with the respective members of the HBIS Group.
For further details of the terms of the major existing Operational Utilities
and Related Services Agreements, please refer to the section headed
“Business — Our business — Raw materials, utilities and suppliers” in the
Prospectus.

Each of the Operational Utilities and Related Services Agreements is and
will be subject to the terms and conditions of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement. Upon expiration of the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement and the annual caps and in the event that
the approval from the independent shareholders for its renewal or new
annual caps is not granted, the Company will re-comply with the relevant
Listing Rules or apply for waivers in respect of each of the Operational
Utilities and Related Services Agreements, where applicable.
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Pricing guidelines

The pricing of each of the Utilities and Related Services provided under
the Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement shall be determined
with reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i) government-prescribed price: if at any time, the government-
prescribed price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities
and Related Services, such type of Utilities and Related Services
shall be provided at the applicable government-prescribed price,
whether national or local, such as the electricity price prescribed by
the Development and Reform Commission of Hebei Province and
water price prescribed by the Development and Reform Commission
of Tangshan;

(i) government-guided price: if at any time, the government-guided
price is applicable to any particular type of the Utilities and Related
Services, such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be
provided within the range of such government-guided price, whether
national or local;

(i) tendering process (where applicable): where the above two price
standards are not available for a particular type of the Utilities and
Related Services and any of the Utilities and Related Services
Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance with the
relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the Group,
the price of such type of the Utilities and Related Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with the relevant
internal policies and procedures of members of the Group; and

£ ¥ Annual Report 2022 107



EEEHG

Directors’ Report

(iv) /& IFIRRLR AR RIS A E
FIA L EARIRE - ZIREEIR R ARR AR
BHMERAZEMEET  BEME
BRI AER T ETEREK:

@ MABYE=7TRNAHKEEHE
MERE A B R A 2 1 BE IR S AE B
PR 75 19 3b [ L 4R (AR R S AR B
T 2R RE R B 4 B AR 7 M Y B Y
BRiTmi{E:

(b) EAHKESREARKE
Bt 12 AR (R ok KB DU TR fE A
B8 AR 7% 1 (M) %8 32 88 = 75 YA
WER: &

N A
N

© AR ESREMERKERRN
1R 48 A 38 DU 2R s R S AE
B AR 75 1 20 Bl 1) ) ) X B &= B
B H AR R B A B YR E S -

SAFEF
R 2 E RE IR N A BE AR 75 h ik 0 R 3R -
RAEBER MR SE LN ERER
THAXf -

AR R 608

RN ABREIR MR IR TS T HRUETTAIRE
BEMBRERZHN-—AXZHERED
Lo RZTR5% -+ #8BE IR K A0 B8 AR 75 1p o H
THARERLRBHRIZBXNTNERRE
BREERS  BETLTRAUFUAETH
FEEZ BB 25 BREBIKRR
BOERE °

(iv)  market price: where the above price standards are not available for
a particular type of the Utilities and Related Services, the price of
such type of Utilities and Related Services shall be determined with
reference to the market price. In determining the market price, both
parties shall take into consideration the following key factors:

(@) the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and
Related Services in the region where the type of the Utilities
and Related Services is provided by relevant members of the
HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to the Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group
for providing the same or similar type of Utilities and Related
Services to other members of the HBIS Group.

Payment term:

In accordance with the terms of the Operational Utilittes and Related
Services Agreements which will be payable within seven days from the
Group’s receipt of the invoice issued by the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Utilities and
Related Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and
Related Services Agreement is more than 5%, the Utilities and Related
Transactions contemplated under the Master Utilities and Related Services
Agreement constitute non-exempted continuing connected transactions
and are subject to annual review, reporting, announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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PARTIALLY EXEMPT CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(1) Master Lease Agreement

Description and Principal Terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a lease framework
agreement (the pursuant to which,
members of the HBIS Group shall lease to the Group the land use rights of

“Master Lease Agreement”),

certain parcels of land and certain buildings and common facilities thereon
or in the proximity to the production sites of certain members of the HBIS
Group for the operation of the Group’s industrial gas production facilities
(the “Lease Transactions”) for a term commencing from the Listing Date
and ending on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed
for a successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance
with the Listing Rules. The Master Lease Agreement has been renewed
prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years. The Group
may from time to time enter into separate operational agreement(s) with
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Lease Transaction(s) under
the Master Lease Agreement (the “Operational Lease Agreements”)
and therefore the Lease Transactions under the Master Lease Agreement
will be treated as continuing connected transactions of the Company. The
Operational Lease Agreements will be subject to the terms and conditions
of the Master Lease Agreement. Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master
Lease Agreement.

Pricing guidelines

Each of the Operational Lease Agreements will set out the annual fees
payable by the Group to the relevant members of the HBIS Group in
respect of the lease of relevant land use rights and use of the relevant
buildings with reference to the respective prevailing market rates per
square meter of the surrounding comparable premises in the vicinity of
such lands and buildings, taking into account their respective sizes.
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Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Lease
Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement is more
than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage ratios are less than 5%, the
Lease Transactions contemplated under the Master Lease Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(2) Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement
Description and principal terms

On 17 June 2020, the Company and HBIS entered into a miscellaneous
services framework agreement (the “Master Miscellaneous Services
Agreement”), pursuant to which, the Group agreed to outsource certain
services (the “Miscellaneous Services”) including, among others, the
maintenance of utilities facilities, canteen, healthcare, parking for the staff
and visiting personnel, transportation of hazardous chemicals, labour
despatch, project design and mapping, the maintenance of vehicles and
greenery services (the “Miscellaneous Services Transactions”) to the
HBIS Group for a term commencing from the Listing Date and ending
on 31 December 2022, which would be automatically renewed for a
successive period of three years thereafter subject to compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement has been
renewed prior to the expiry date for a successive period of three years.
The Company shall have the right to terminate at any time by giving to
HBIS not less than thirty (30) business days’ prior written notice. The
Group may from time to time enter into operational agreement(s) with the
members of the HBIS Group in relation to any Miscellaneous Services
Transaction(s) upon, and subject to, the terms and conditions of the Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement (the “Operational Miscellaneous
Services Agreements”). Each of the Company and HBIS agreed to
procure their respective members to comply with the terms of the Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement.
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Pricing guidelines

The pricing of each of the Miscellaneous Services provided under the
Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement shall be determined with
reference to the following principles in ascending order:

(i) tendering process (where applicable): where any of the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions is subject to tendering process in accordance
with relevant internal policies and procedures of members of the
Group, the price of such type of Miscellaneous Services shall be
determined by tendering process in accordance with relevant internal
policies and procedures of members of the Group; and

(i) market price: where the above price standard is not available for a
particular type of Miscellaneous Services, the price of such type of
Miscellaneous Services shall be determined with reference to the
market price. In determining the market price, both parties shall take
into consideration the following key factors:

(@) the prevailing market prices charged by independent third
parties for providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous
Services in the region where the type of Miscellaneous
Services is provided by relevant members of the HBIS Group;

(b)  the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to Independent Third Parties; and

(c) the prices charged by relevant members of the HBIS Group for
providing the same or similar type of Miscellaneous Services
to other members of the HBIS Group.

Implications under the Listing Rules

Since one or more of the applicable percentage ratios for the Miscellaneous
Services Transactions contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous
Services Agreement is more than 0.1% and all the applicable percentage
ratios are less than 5%, the Miscellaneous Services Transactions
contemplated under the Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement are
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempt from circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

¥ Annual Report 2022 111



EEEHG

Directors’ Report

RECERFELR Transaction amounts and annual caps
TEREEEBESHNES M RMEE  The following sets forth the annual caps and actual transaction amounts
BRESINBERNFE LR LEELZ  for the non-exempt continuing connected transactions and partially exempt
S EEHINMNT continuing connected transactions for the Reporting Period:

REE2022F REE2022%F
12A31HLFEE 12A31BLEE
WEELR NEBRXZEH
Actual

transaction

Annual cap amount
for the for the
year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

2022 2022
ARBEETR ARB®EBEETR
RMB’ million RMB’ million

TERRBFEBERS Non-exempt continuing connected
transactions

mEEEMK Master Gas Products and Related Services

18 8 PR 75 175 Agreement 1,671.5 1,015.3
#a 8 IR AR A R 7S Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement 1,496.0 921.8
BTOBREN Partially exempt continuing connected

BEREXRS transactions
BB E W Master Lease Agreement 10.5 0
BEBERG WS Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement 25.1 10.7

ERERBEERLABRSE S - 28R For further details regarding the Master Gas Products and Related Services
LEBREHE  GEEWENREMIER  Agreement, Master Utilities and Related Services Agreement, Master
BiEaE—FSHE 0 F2H0OBIRERE Lease Agreement and Master Miscellaneous Services Agreement, please
[FEMERS]—&: (i)ARFBEA2022 refer to (i) the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of the
FUABEHMAE K (i) FIBHA2022  Prospectus; (i) the Company’s announcement dated 15 November 2022;
F12A12HMBK ° and (i) the Company’s circular dated 12 December 2022.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-executive

Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the transactions under each of the
Master Gas Products and Related Services Agreement, Master Utilities
and Related Services Agreement, Master Lease Agreement and Master
Miscellaneous Services Agreement (the “Master Agreements”), and
confirmed that the transactions under the Master Agreements have been
entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent

Auditor

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Group has
engaged its auditor to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing
its findings and conclusions in respect of the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions conducted by the Group for the Reporting Period.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 243 to 255 of this annual report.
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The related party transactions set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 243 to 255 of this annual report include
related party transactions disclosed under accounting standards and
related party transactions which also constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of Directors
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transactions
in respect of the remuneration of key management personnel (other than
Directors and chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Unless otherwise disclosed
in this annual report, the Directors believe, all other related party
transactions set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
on pages 243 to 255 of this annual report do not fall within the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected transactions” under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (as the case may be). The Company
confirmed that it was in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period or a waiver from
such provisions has been obtained from the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises one non-executive Director and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Wenli, Mr.
Siu Chi Hung and Mr. Xiao Huan Wei. The Audit Committee has reviewed
with the management of the Company the audited Consolidated Financial
Statements for the Reporting Period.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the Auditor with effect from 29
November 2021. BDO Limited was appointed as the Auditor on 3
December 2021 to fill the vacancy following PricewaterhouseCoopers’
resignation.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Period have been
audited by BDO Limited who will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
re-appointment at the annual general meeting. Having been approved by
the Board upon the Audit Committee’s recommendation, a resolution for
the re-appointment of BDO Limited as the independent auditor for the
ensuing year will be put to the annual general meeting for Shareholder’s
approval.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, save as disclosed
below, the Group is in compliance in all material aspects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group.

The non-fully compliance with the PRC laws and regulations during the
Reporting Period and the relevant internal control measures for continued
compliance are summarised below. Details of the situation regarding the
Group’s properties with defective titles are set out in the section headed
“Business — Our Properties — Properties with Defective Titles” in the
Prospectus. Unless otherwise defined in this annual report, capitalised
terms used below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Prospectus.
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Absence of the land use right certificate to be obtained for
other occupied land of the Group as well as title defects
relating to the buildings and structures constructed by the
Group on its land with land use right certificates and its
other occupied land with the land use right certificates to be
obtained
A.  TTG Yutian Branch did not hold the land use right certificates
for part of Yutian plant, and failed to obtain the subsequent
necessary construction permits or to submit the requisite
completion and acceptance filing materials for the buildings
and structures constructed on such properties

As Yutian county government did not have any land use quota,
land certificate cannot be executed temporarily, and thus land
use planning permit, construction project planning permit and
other permits were unable to be executed.

B. Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. has acquired the land use
right certificate of a parcel of land in Luanxian Industrial Cluster
with a site area of 95 mu (approximately 63,999 sg.m.) on 8
July 2020, and obtained construction land planning permit on
29 December 2021 and obtained the execution of construction
work permit on 11 October 2022.
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Title defects relating to the Group’s leased land and the
buildings and structures constructed by the Group on such
leased land

As the Group was not the owner of the land, the Group failed to
obtain/complete the necessary construction permits and procedure
to construct certain buildings and structures on the parcels of leased
land at the TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch
plant, the TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant, the TTG Laoting Branch
plant and CNG and LNG gas station. Also, the lessors failed to obtain
the construction land use planning permits (i =& 3 b 3% 2| 5F 7] &
for such leased land. The Group failed to complete the registrations
for five parcels of leased land and obtain certificates of other rights
over land (1 #i4th TH# F| 55 BH2) to be issued after completion of
such registrations. However, the lessors of the parcels of leased
land at TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant,
the TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant, the TTG Laoting Branch plant
and CNG and LNG gas station agreed to indemnify for the losses
incurred if the Group unable to continue to use the leased land.

As the production facilities at the TTG headquarters plant were
no longer in use for production purpose following the cessation of
the operation due to the implementation of the exit and relocation
agreement entered into between HBIS Company and the People’s
Government of Tangshan on 19 August 2020, the Group was not
required to obtain the certificates of other rights over land and the
completion of Construction Permits in relation to TTG headquarters
plant.

As the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant has ceased production and
some equipment has been relocated to the plant of Zhongqi
Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd., the Group has obtained the
required construction land use planning permit and the construction
permits for the plant, and have submitted the required completion
and acceptance documents, which is in line with relevant Chinese
laws and regulations.
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Save for the production facilities at the TTG headquarters plant and
the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant which were no longer in use for
production purpose following the cessation of the operation due to
the exit and relocation agreement, the government has transferred
approval authority for construction project planning permit and
other permits of the leased land of the TTG Stainless Steel Branch
plant, the TTG Laoting Branch plant and the gas station to the
administrative approval center, which led to a slow progress. The
Company has conducted close coordination with the land lessor to
speed up adjustment for application documents, and endeavoured
to procure the lessor’s completion of approval for construction land
planning permit as soon as possible.

Title defects relating to the leased buildings and structures
of the Group

As the leased buildings and structures at the TTG headquarters
plant were no longer in use for production purpose due to the
implementation of the exit and relocation agreement entered into
between HBIS Company and the People’s Government of Tangshan
on 19 August 2020, the leasing registration will not be granted for
the time being; In addition, due to the slow progress in the approval
of stainless steel house leasing record formalities by the government,
the Group failed to complete house leasing registrations with respect
to the leased buildings and structures for offices buildings at the
TTG headquarters plant, the TTG Ironmaking Branch plant and office
building for TTG Stainless Steel Branch plant. TTG will continue to
try its best to impel lessors to cooperate in completing house leasing
registrations.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group is not aware of any
actual or anticipated action, claim or investigation by any government
agency or third party against the Group in relation to the above
matters. The Group will continue to monitor the situation, and the
situation updating will be disclosed in the annual reports of the
Company until the Group’s complete rectification of such title defects
has been fully disclosed therein.
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HEEH SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
RBEBHERBEAFTIREE - EEWT  The Directors are not aware of any significant event requiring disclosure
MBECEEEMAETHEENEANEIE - that have been taken place subsequent to the Reporting Period and up

to the date of this report.

REEFZ On behalf of the Board
k& A Mr. Yao Li

EEGEH Chairman of the Board
EIL - 2023F3H27H Tangshan, 27 March 2023
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT
HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
(the
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 130 to 272,

statements of China
Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. “Company”) and its
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effect of the matters described in
the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the
(the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

International Accounting Standards Board
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

On 30 November 2020 and 1 December 2020, the Company entered
into three loan agreements with Company A, Company B and
Company C (collectively “the Borrowers”) with principal amounts of
RMB50,000,000, RMB53,522,000 and RMB14,478,000 respectively (the
“Loan Agreements”). On 7 December 2020 and 10 December 2020, the
Company transferred the funds as stipulated in the Loan Agreements to
the Borrowers. Pursuant to the Loan Agreements, the loans were interest
bearing at 2% per annum and the principal amounts would mature on 30
December 2020. The principal amounts and the interests thereon would
become repayable on 30 December 2020 (hereinafter referred to as the
“Loan Transactions”). The Company accounted for the transfers of
funds to the Borrowers as loan receivables in the consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2020, 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2022.

The loan receivables (“Loan Receivables”) were measured at amortised
cost. As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022, repayment of the
principal balances and interests thereon under the Loan Agreements were
overdue. Repayments of these balances remained outstanding up to the
date of this report. The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”)
determined that full loss allowance of the outstanding principal balances
of RMB118,000,000 in aggregate should be provided. Accordingly, a
loss allowance of RMB118,000,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2020. The resultant amortised costs of the Loan Receivables became RMB
Nil as at 31 December 2020 and these amounts were brought forward to
31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
determined that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the Loan
Receivables and fully wrote-off the Loan Receivables. Details of the write-
off are disclosed in Note 23 in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 18 January 2021, the Company entered into a loan note agreement
with Company D (the “Loan Note Agreement”). Pursuant to the Loan
Note Agreement, the Company agreed to provide Company D with a loan
of principal amount of HK$80,000,000 (approximately RMB66,400,000).
The loan was interest bearing at 4.5% per annum. Both the principal
amount and the interests thereon would become repayable on 17
December 2021. On 28 January 2021, the Company transferred the
principal amount as stipulated in the Loan Note Agreement (hereinafter
referred to as the “Note Investment”) to Company D. The Company
accounted for the transfers of funds to the Company D as note investment
in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022.
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The Note Investment was measured at amortised cost. As at 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2022, repayment of the principal
balance and interests thereon under the Loan Note Agreement was
overdue. Repayments of this balance remained outstanding up to the
date of this report. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board
determined that full loss allowance of the outstanding principal balance
of RMB66,400,000 in aggregate should be provided. Accordingly, a
loss allowance of RMB66,400,000 was recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
2021. The resultant amortised cost of the Note Investment became RMB
Nil as at 31 December 2021. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board determined that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the Note Investment and fully wrote-off the Note Investment. Details of the
write-off are disclosed in Note 24 in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Since our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, we have obtained knowledge relating to the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment (“our Knowledge”) including:

(i) the Group is engaged in the production and supply of industrial
gases. The Loan Transactions and the Note Investment are

transactions outside the normal course of business of the Group;

(i)  the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment were approved
by the ex-Chairman of the Board (the “ex-Chairman”) who was
also an executive director of the Company (being removed as the
Chairman of the Board and the executive director on 3 May 2022
and 5 May 2022 respectively). According to the Company’s internal
control policies and procedures, due to the amounts of the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment, the Loan Transactions and
the Note Investment should have been approved by the Board;

(i)  the Company had not performed background check and due
diligence on the Borrowers and Company D before entering into the
Loan Transactions and the Note Investment;
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(iv)  the Company had set aside funds in a bank account for distributions
to its shareholders to settle the dividends payable to them. To
change the use of these designed funds would need the approval
by the Board. Without prior approval by the Board, the ex-Chairman
instructed the transfer of these designated funds to the Borrowers
and Company D to fulfil the Company’s commitment in the Loan
Agreements and the Loan Note Agreement; and

(v) as at the date of this report, there were no repayments from the
Borrowers and the balance due from Company D was outstanding.

Scope limitation on our work to ascertain the nature
of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment

Given our
Transactions and the Note Investment, we have concerns about the
commercial substance and business rationale of these transactions, and

Knowledge obtained in the audit relating to the Loan

whether it is appropriate to recognise the Loan Transactions as the Group’s
Loan Receivables and the Note Investment as the Group’s Note Investment
in the consolidated financial statements. We have communicated our
concerns to the Board and requested explanations from the Board on
how our concerns have been considered in their determination that the
Loan Transactions were recognised as Loan Receivables of the Group
and the Note Investment was recognised as the Group’s Note Investment
in the consolidated financial statements. However, we have not received
explanations from the Board that would satisfy ourselves as to the
commercial substance and business rationale of the Loan Transactions
and the Note Investment. There were no alternative audit procedures that
we could perform to satisfy ourselves on the above concerns.
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We modified our audit opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December
2021 due to limitations on the scope of our work to ascertain the nature
of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment. Accordingly, we
were unable to conclude whether the Loan Transactions and the Note
Investment were properly accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements, and the consolidated financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 are free from material
misstatement. During the current year, the Board determined to fully
write-off the Loan Receivables and the Note Investment. However, as
the abovementioned audit scope limitations remained unresolved during
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022, we were unable to conclude whether the write-offs on
the Loan Receivables and the Note Investment recognised during the
current year are free from material misstatement. Any adjustments that
might be found necessary would have a consequential impact on financial
performance for the year ended 31 December 2022, the financial position
as at 1 January 2022 and the disclosures thereof in these consolidated
financial statements. Our opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for year ended 31 December 2022 is also modified because
of the effect of the abovementioned limitation of scope of our work on the
comparability of the current year’s figures and the 2021 figures included
these consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matters described in the “Basis
for Qualified Opinion” section, we have determined the matters described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment

Refer to summary of significant accounting policies in Note 4(d), critical
accounting estimates and judgements in Note 5(c) and disclosure of
property, plant and equipment in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
as at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB1,560,472,364 (2021:
RMB1,540,715,120). Written off recognised in respect of the property, plant
and equipment was RMB7,537,864 during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

We identified impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
as a key audit matter due to its significance to the Group’s consolidated
financial position and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the value in use based on future cash
flow of each asset group and the discount rate of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment at the end of the year.

Management performed an impairment assessment when indicators of
impairment were identified. Management determined the recoverable
amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. When performing an
impairment assessment, management makes assumptions and estimates
on future operating profit, growth rate and discount rate to calculate
expected value in use and compared the carrying values of property,
plant and equipment, to determine the impairment loss which should be
recognised for the year, if any.
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Our procedures on the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment included:

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal controls
relating to the impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment.

. Understanding of management’s basis and assessment in relation

to the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment.

. Assessing the reasonableness of management’s assumptions and
judgements in relation to the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section
above, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to satisfy
ourselves the nature of the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment
and whether the Loan Transactions and the Note Investment have been
appropriately accounted for and whether the write-offs of the Loan
Transactions and the Note Investment recognised during the current
year are free from material misstatement. Accordingly, we are unable to
conclude whether or not the other information is materially misstated with
respect to this matter.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
these consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error,

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.
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B & BA RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Amy Yau Shuk Yuen
Practising Certificate Number P06095

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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EfEERER

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

H £2022%F12H31H IL £ & For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022F 2021F
2022 2021
Wiz AR¥T ARET
Notes RMB RMB
W g% Revenue 7 1,481,644,241 1,209,270,875
Ui % R AR Cost of revenue I (1,139,793,628) (961,131,742)
ER Gross profit 341,850,613 248139,133
HEREHHAY Selling and marketing expenses I (2,000,851) (1,866,961)
THAX Administrative expenses 1 (82,179,138) (95,555,661)
BHRMFBENEEBERE  Credit loss allowance for trade receivables I (8,135,000) -
FERENGERRER Credit loss allowance for note investment 1 - (66,400,000)
e Research and development expenses 1 (75,341,624) (51,503,611)
Hith e A Other income 8 974,626 10,818,215
Hivdez /(BE)— 58 Other gains/(losses), net 9 11,869,338 (1,464,864)
BERF Operating profit 187,037,964 42166,251
B W A Finance income 10 1,435,829 1,793,792
BB AR Finance costs 10 (27,455,883) (29,842,022)
BB A% Finance costs, net (26,020,054) (28,048,230)
BR P 15 B4 A0 & A Profit before income tax 161,017,910 14,118,021
Frig M X Income tax expense ¥ (48,275,390) (40,934,550)
KARABEBEAELER Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
B (ER) owners of the Company 112,742,520 (26,816,529)
HirfraWs  MBKRHE Other comprehensive income, net of tax
REEAHEETAEE ltem that may be subsequently reclassified to
EmmEA - profit or loss:
EHER Currency translation differences (8,939,331) (9,646,981)
FREGEANEHAE Total comprehensive income for the year 103,803,189 (36,463,510)
RARBERAEN Total comprehensive income attributable
GEkRAE to owners of the Company 103,803,189 (36,463,510)
SEREAN/(FE) Earnings/(loss) per Share -
-Z.V%: 31 Basic and diluted 16 0.09 (0.02)
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EHBBERRER
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A2022F12A31H As at 31 December 2022

20224 20214
2022 2021
ks ARE T AR
Notes RMB RMB
IRBEE Non-current assets
W BENMEE Property, plant and equipment 17 1,560,472,364 1,540,715,120
FREEE Right-of-use assets 18 43,676,683 45,666,711
BEAE Intangible assets 19 - 269,348
EERIEE E Deferred tax assets 32 3,304,108 2,037,083
Hi&E Other assets 20 8,432,808 7,043,992
1,615,885,963 1,595,732,254
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 21 11,635,569 10,146,550
=078 3 &/ Trade receivables 22 567,035,544 427,210,523
U E R Loan receivables 23 - -
EBREE Note investment 24 - -
TENFIE Zek Prepayments, deposits and other
H b JiE Uk FR B receivables 25 22,568,010 51,963,472
BARBEEGAHEM Financial assets at fair value through
el m(RAR other comprehensive income
BEEFAEMEGE (“FVOCI”)
W DmEmEE 27 28,812,893 23,443,760
HekREFEY Cash and cash equivalents 26 360,738,465 297,552,618
990,790,481 810,316,923
REBEE Current liabilities
B 5 & B Ab T 3B Trade and other payables 29 584,316,014 470,608,990
aHaE Contract liabilities 7 8,853,806 9,344,878
LN Borrowings 30 241,760,000 288,510,000
HeEasE Lease liabilities 31 10,834,491 10,527,017
e ET1S R Income tax payable 14,721,087 8,841,502
860,485,398 787,832,387
REBEEFE Net current assets 130,305,083 22,484,536
EEHERARBAERS Total assets less current liabilities 1,746,191,046 1,618,216,790
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

12022612 H31H As at 31 December 2022

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
N3 ARETT AR T
Notes RMB RMB
kRBERE Non-current liabilities
LN Borrowings 30 330,770,119 313,206,301
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 2,428,882 3,195,352
EERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities 32 27,158,986 19,785,267
360,357,987 336,186,920
EEFE NET ASSETS 1,385,833,059 1,282,029,870
EAXRGEE Capital and reserves
ARG EBAEMLES Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
% 5 Share capital 33 836,016 836,016
H b % Other reserves 34 1,329,304,835 1,323,598,655

REBEF(R&HEE)

Retained earnings/(accumulated
losses)

BB TOTAL EQUITY

55,692,208

(42,404,801

1,385,833,059

1,282,029,870

AHMBERERAESEN2023F3A278#E
AENRREAENMBATATRARE:
behalf by:

%A
Yao Li
EZ

Director
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SE#
Gao Guimin
EF

Director

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issued by Board of Directors on 27 March 2023 and are signed on its



EHEREEK
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

H £2022%F12H31H IL £ & For the year ended 31 December 2022

KAREEAER
Attributable to the owners of the Company
EERH (BitER)/
B& B EE W EREH it RERA @it
(Accumulated
Statutory Currency losses)/
Share Share surplus  translation retained
capital premium reserve  differences Others earnings Total
ARBT AR%TR AR¥R AR%R AR%TR AR%R AR%R
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
Hit34(a) Hit34(b) Hit34(c) H #234(c)
Note 34(a) Note 34(b) Note 34(c) Note 34(d)
R01F1A1BNE S Balance at 1 January 2021 836,016  1144,391,968 132,003,720 10,537,872 33,428,253 (2,704,449)  1,318,493,380
FAEE Loss for the year - - - - - (26,816,529)  (26,816,529)
Ei el Other comprehensive income
-EXER - Currency translation differences - - - (9,646,981 - - (9,646,981
FRGaNESE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (9,646,981) - (26,816,529) (36,463,510
HEBEAUNEEEANSEHD  Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners:
ETHRE:
BEREETRBER Appropriation to statutory surplus reserves - - 12883823 - - (12,883,823) -
- - 12,883,823 - - (12,883,823) -
R2021512B318 % Balance at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
2022F1R1A M 836,016  1144,391,968 144,887,543 890,891 33,428,253 (42,404,801)  1,282,029,870
FAEF Profit for the year - - - - - 112,742,520 112,742,520
i e s Other comprehensive income
-ERER - Currency translation differences - - - (8,939,331) - - (8,939,331)
FRGANGEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (8,939,331) - 112,742,520 103,803,189
BEEAUHLBEEANES  Transaction with owners in their capacity as owners:
ETHRE:
BEREETRBER Appropriation to statutory surplus reserves - - 14,645,511 - - (14,645,511) -
o = 14,645,511 © - (14,645,511) o
R2022512ANAMNE S Balance at 31 December 2022 836,016 1,144,391,968 159,533,054 (8,048,440) 33,428,253 55,692,208 1,385,833,059

£ %5 Annual Report 2022 133



EHBEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

H £2022%F12H31H IL £ & For the year ended 31 December 2022

20224 20214
2022 2021
b e AR®T AR
Notes RMB RMB
RETEMERERE Cash flows from operating
activities
B BT 13 75 5 =2 B S ) Profit before income tax expenses 161,017,910 14,118,021
R Adjustments for:
m A EEH Amortisation of intangible assets 19 269,348 612,573
FRAEEESH Amortisation of right-of-use assets 18 1,990,028 4,767,859
M- - BERREFE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 17 124,107,610 111,614,153
EBREEMNEERSE Credit loss allowance for note
B investment 24 - 66,400,000
BSREWFIENEE Credit loss allowance for trade
B a8 receivables 22 8,135,000
2R SN Finance costs — net 26,020,054 28,048,230
HEWE MEMHZER  Loss on disposal of property, plant
&5 18 and equipment - 363,365
ME  BEK Written off of property, plant and
BRI equipment 17 7,537,864 -
FEMZHEAER Reversal of written off on inventories - (307,063)
b 5 U s % Exchange gain, net (18,837,634) (1,618)
EEETEBFZ Operating profit before working capital
A m\ﬂ changes 310,240,180 225,615,520
FEEGEM, W (Increase)/decrease in inventories (1,489,019) 43141

2 5 e W FRIE 3 N Increase in trade receivables
Z N BEFAEMES (ncrease)/decrease in financial assets at
W e rEE FVOCI
(&), kA
ENFE -Ze Rk
H M FE W IR,
B 5 & H bR RIE
#Zn, R )
BHABCRD), 15N

Decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other
payables
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

MEELEMHE L Cash generated from operations
BEARF 8 Interest paid
B ATE TR&J—‘E?D il Income tax and withholding tax paid

KEEBMEREFE Net cash generated from operating

activities
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(147,960,021)

(149,284,426)

(5,369,133) 23,379,430
24,955,419 72,784,666
83,510,625 (44,656,870)

(491,073) 3,031,713
263,396,978 130,913,174
(30,000,232) (31,633,475)

(36,289,111) (27,527,078)
197,107,635 71,752,621




EHEERER
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

20224 20214
2022 2021
b it AR%T ARMETT
Notes RMB RMB
RETHFRMESHEERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEZEBERE Purchase of note investment - (66,400,000)
BEEME - MERZRMELLKL Purchase of property, plant and
EMERHEE equipment and other long-term
assets (114,563,260) (71,282,838)
LEWME  BER Proceeds from disposal of property,

Bk plant and equipment - 144,602
KREERSART F8R Net cash used in investing activities (114,563,260) (137,538,236)
MEIBFSEESRE Cash flows from financing activities
f& KPS KA Proceeds from borrowings 480,833,818 383,179,900
BEBEXK Repayments of borrowings (510,020,000) (375,960,000)
HEBGEMNK Payment of lease liabilities (688,765) (781,080)
MARE KRS E Dividends paid to the Company’s

shareholders 15 = (148,771,500)
REESMTARSFE Net cash used in financing activities (29,874,947) (142,332,680)
ReRBEESEEY Net increase/(decrease) in cash and

®mn, R D)FE cash equivalents 52,669,428 (208,118,295)

FUOEREsRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of year 297,552,618 511,834,079
Exgmogg Effect of foreign exchange rate

changes 10,516,419 (6,163,166)
FERESRRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end

of year 360,738,465 297,552,618
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S BHRRME
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%F12H31H IL £ & For the year ended 31 December 2022

1.

— R & ¥

China Gas Industry Investment
Holdings Co. Ltd. ([A&2 8 ]) #2006
FOH4BEREHETMA L REH
RERAT o ARF R TSR
iif & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands ° EFiEBRAR]A
FELEMBAPEARLNME(H
Bl -

ARBR—RREERAT - AAF
LEWBAR (RREIAEE) 2R
FENETXREHEENHE-

B A B PR Bt 75 3 5 22 Al
(B B Bt %5 3R &5 22 A )

(a) B2022F1B1HERMANZ
WETEA| - RERBITAR
B 20224F1 510 B 14 #9 BF
B 4F JE AE Aok A B R B S i o
Bl R BB s R (B R & 5
Z8)E R E £2022F12H31
HIEFENEGHMBERETE
BER -

Bl &5 ER E37H 1B &
=BT ERIZ AR ZEET
ZiN

B et ERFEITHRATEEE
BN RETANBATERMR
B TRl R ) AR (R EAR
BAKAGERERNKAR) BiBTE
HIR % A K01 1 B 48 7 ) 2
HAaH -

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd. (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 August 2006 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s registered
office is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of its subsidiaries is the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) is principally engaged in the
production and supply of industrial gases in the PRC.

ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRSs”)

(a) New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
The adoption of IFRSs and
Standards (“IASs”) which are effective for the financial year
beginning on 1 January 2022 has been consistently applied

International Accounting

in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

IAS 37 defines an onerous contract as a contract in which
the unavoidable costs (costs that the Group has committed
to pursuant to the contract) of meeting the obligations under
the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under it.
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2.

BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PR 4 B PR Bt 75 R 5 22 Al
(B PR Bt 75 3 &5 22 Al 1)

()

(a) B2022F1B1R#KH =
FET A  REREBITR
(%)
R SR B E 37 E R A
B —BEITERZ KR ZIEET
(&)
o g 51 o BI| 5379 F68A (5
ZEITAME  HANEES
BRI AR A HE

s RBUUZAHMEEMXAR
(MEEBTIRME R

- HEUTANEERAEM
H Al PR AN &9 93 e (A0 FE 1T
BRFMEMRNME - BFE

RENTEERND
i) -

AEBEEERZFERTARZA
WEERMBRAL - ZEFT A
I A F B 75 R 2 ARAE A

B/ 488
TR o

H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

(@) New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract (Continued)

The amendments to IAS 37.68A clarify, that the costs relating
directly to the contract consist of both:

. The incremental costs of fulfilling that contract — e.g.
direct labour and material; and

. An allocation of other costs that relate directly to
fulfilling contracts: e.g. Allocation of depreciation charge
on property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract.

The Group, prior to the application of the amendments, did
not have any onerous contracts. The amendment do not have
impacts on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2022

2.

PR 4 B PR Bt 75 R 5 22 Al
(1Bl PR Bt 75 3R &5 22 A )

()
(a)

H2022F1B1HBH i<
FeT R - REREBITR

/4@ )
(75

F B AR EL165 1
B R 0 15 - (EHESE 2 AT
2 B ZIEAT A

B 5 R F16% 2 15 4T 4
REEBEDE BEERRE
BE A R

AR HOR A B BB R
A 3BT T E TS
£ 718 OB (0 0 15 2 AR
KRR 14 12 7E 7 36 25 2E B9 A
EHEAABBRMEEERRORR
QRO - HERS RO
HORBR R E R AS R R A
AFER

HZEEF AL BEHAREEF R
BHMBRRERTAZE
RARYEHERMES KT
MR 2R ERNY
X BEMRBRELENZS
AR e

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

(a)
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New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equijpment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendment to IAS 16 prohibits an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of PP&E any proceeds received
from selling items produced while the entity is preparing
the asset for its intended use (for example, the proceeds
from selling samples produced during the testing phase of a
manufacturing facility after it is being constructed but before
start of commercial production). The proceeds from selling
such samples, together with the costs of producing them, are
now recognised in profit or loss.

These amendments had no impact on the year-end
consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were
no sales of such items produced by property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of
the earliest period presented.



2.

BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

B 4 B PR B 7 R 2E A

(T B B B 75 3R &5 ZE 81 )

(%)

(a) B2022F1A1HERHAKZ
FETEA - REBRIET A

(43 )

(5 /
[ X A1 75 2R 25 2E RY 5 357 4
BERMER Z pE 4 2 (EFT AN

ZFER]ANE T B 8 75
HEAFEIFRE R FRELERT
20184 B 15 ¥R 5 B A AR 1T 3F
20105 AR AR AN © BZF{ERT
BRI RS ERIFIFRHIE
A—IERE - AIRERE A E
AIEITHRBEANEBMS
W ERBIR g st &R 37
FEENKERRESRBE
EHMEERBEER - HRE
BB REREREe -2
FIRABHEANE -
BIEABERYERERESR
Eg-—REFARUETENR
SNBEEENEEENHRE
ERWBERMZAEE %%
ERTIRE R — R - B
WEBTTEEREXBHAMHT

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

(a)

New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 3, References to Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update IFRS 3 refers to the revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of
the version issued in 2010. The amendments add to IFRS 3 a
requirement that, for obligations within the scope of IAS 37, an
acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition
date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For
a levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC-Int 21 Levies,
the acquirer applies IFRIC-Int 21 to determine whether the
obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy
has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also
add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BRANEBR B B 3RS A
(1Bl PR Bt 75 3R &5 22 A )

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(%) (“IFRSS”) (continued)

(a) B2022F1B1HERMHNZ (a) New standards, interpretations and
el R - REREFTAR amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
(#) (Continued)
BB 57 75 7R & E R 2018 FF = Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
2020 £ F 2 20

FENEHZHEEIETTE
7B

. B R B 75 R 15 4 Bl S5 15%
EpEET e P e
Bl B R TE B R R 49 R
HEARKMBARER
AMEERSHERESE
BEEINE R c AR & EE
A Wl EEEHER R
HRFE BN E AT
XE R EETRHE
{5 PR B R B 765 S 5 2 RN 28
15% : D16(a) 5 A9 F 8
ARIREI A LR BRI
TER A TR B BB B 75

SRR AR UE8
SHESRFEAHMBHRE
PRSI EMES
INETH RETTEZ o
{58 PR B B2 B 765 S 5 2 I 28
15% : D16(a) 5+ A9 #8579
Bt AR AE B EINA
LAETTRE A58 42 o
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The annual improvements amend a number of standards,
including:

IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, which provides additional relief
to a subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter
later than its parent in respect of accounting for
cumulative translation differences. As a result of the
amendment, a subsidiary that uses the exemption in
IFRS 1:D16(a) can now also elect to measure cumulative
translation differences for all foreign operations at the
carrying amount that would be included in the parent’s
consolidated financial statements, based on the parent’s
date of transition to IFRS Standards, if no adjustments
were made for consolidation procedures and for the
effects of the business combination in which the parent
acquired the subsidiary. A similar election is available to
an associate or joint venture that uses the exemption in
IFRS 1:D16(a).
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BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

B 4 B PR B S R 5 ZE A
([EIFR B B E 2R )
(#)
(a) B2022F1B1R#KH =
el 2R - REBEREFTR
(%)
B BR BT 7% 7 & 2E Rl 2018 F =
20204 B 4F J& 24 3 ()
. Bl B B % iR 5 % R 9
e w T H - HEEE
PR B 7 ¥R 5 ZE R 5B 05% &
B3.3.6E%[10% Al & BT &
EOER  UIEEER
ItHEREHBE  WHEE
EEBEERA B
SWIHER - BIEEE
HERARKEMT
KB -

- EBRMBEHmEEIFIEN
ME - EEFTH13EE
AR BRI ABETEE
HREEHHA - EMERE
Z Pl EE BRI HEA
S AR E LA EAA
MHEEERENELER
e

2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022

(Continued)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
(Continued)

(a)

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of
IFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a financial
liability, explaining that only fees paid or received
between the entity and the lender, including fees paid
or received by either the entity or the lender on other’s
behalf are included.

IFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example 13
to remove the illustration of reimbursement of leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to resolve any
potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how lease
incentives are illustrated in that example.
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted from 1 January 2022
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020
(Continued)

(a)
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IAS 41, Agriculture, which removes the requirement in
IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for taxation
when measuring fair value. This aligns the fair value
measurement in IAS 41 with the requirements of IFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement to use internally consistent
cash flows and discount rates and enables preparers to
determine whether to use pre-tax or post-tax cash flows
and discount rates for the most appropriate fair value
measurement. The amendment is applied prospectively,
i.e. for fair value measurements on or after the date an
entity initially applies the amendment.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“lFRSS”) (Continued)

(b) New or amended IFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new or amended IFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policiest
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates*

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction*

Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current?

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

IFRS 17 Insurance Contractst

Amendments to IFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRSs, IASs and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred as the “IFRSs”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) which is carried at fair value.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“USD”) and the subsidiaries established in the PRC
considered Renminbi (“RMB”) as their functional currency.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB
as in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, it presents
more relevant information to the management who monitors
the performance and financial position of the Group based on
RMB.
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On 24 March 2021, the board of Directors of the Company
(the “Board”) was informed by the previous auditor that they
required additional information and documentation on (i) three
overdue receivables of the Company as at 31 December 2020
(as detailed in sub-notes Il (i) to (i) below as Transaction 1,
Transaction 2 and Transaction 3 and also in note 23); and
(i) the investment in a loan note by the Company in January
2021 (as disclosed below in sub-note Il as Transaction 4
and also in note 24) during the course of the consolidation
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
According to the resignation letter of the previous auditor,
the management provided preliminary explanation that the
Transaction 1, Transaction 2 and Transaction 3 were entered
into in order to attract the counter-parties who intended to
subscribe for the Company’s shares (the “Shares”) upon the
Company’s initial public offering (“IPO”) and Transaction 4 was
entered into purely for the purpose of managing the Company’s
free cash to earn a higher return and was not associated with
Transactions 1, 2 and 3.

/. Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded

Investigation

Upon receiving the previous auditor’s notification, on
24 March 2021, the Board formed an independent
investigation committee comprising certain Directors,
including all the independent non-executive Directors
(the “Investigation Committee”), to carry out an
independent investigation (the “Investigation”) on the
matters raised by the previous auditor. On 12 April
2021, an accounting firm that is not the Company’s
auditor (the “Forensic Accountant”) was appointed
as the independent forensic accountant to assist the
Investigation Committee in conducting the Investigation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation (Continued)

On 8 May 2021, Mr. David T Chen (“Mr. Chen”) (a then
executive Director and the then chairman of the Board)
upon the request of the Investigation Committee and in
order to facilitate the Investigation, agreed to have all
his day-to-day duties, powers and authorities suspended
pending outcome of the Investigation.

The primary scope of the Investigation is to conduct
an independent fact-finding in respect of Transactions
1, 2, 3 and 4 (the “Transactions”), so as to help
assess whether or not there were reasonable
commercial substance and business rationale behind
the Transactions. The major investigation procedures
conducted by the Forensic Accountant included, but not

limited to, the following:

(i) obtaining and reviewing relevant documents and
correspondences relating to the Transactions
(including but not limited to the Loan Agreement
1, Loan Agreement 2 and Loan Agreement 3 and
Investment Agreement (all of which were defined in
the sub-heading “Summary of the Key Findings of
the Investigation”), correspondences between the
Group and the counterparties to the Transactions
or others with respect to the Transactions, internal
records of the Company, bank documentation,
payment proof of listing expenses incurred for
the IPO by the Company and the list of investors
during the IPO and the corresponding subscription
records;
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

L P& A f§9 58 & & 5 . Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
(%) Investigation (Continued)
iy TBEEXRXEEEB@A (i)  reviewing the internal control policies and
SR 5N ER 12 procedures of the Group in relation to the entering
R REF - W of the Transactions and conducting interviews
BENTEBAREFT with relevant personnel of the Group who are
WAL EEBEAS responsible for carrying out such procedures;

(i)

BATES

HEARKEAE ﬁ 8
s B

(i)

conducting interview with relevant personnel of

(’FE FES- the Group (including Directors, management,
- B % ulﬂEE\ & employees from the finance department and other
ﬁf@*ﬁ BAB)EST relevant personnel) to understand, among others,
B LATHER(HEAF the circumstances leading to the entering of the
BIE) B HET Transactions (including the approval procedures),
BB (BIEHLERE as well as its business rationale and commercial
FF)AR A2 H substance;
MEEEE:

vy HEIAHAZEEE (iv)  conducting interviews with relevant representatives
HH 7 B R R 2 B0 A8 of two of the underwriters to the IPO to
BRKRETEA understand, among others, the circumstances
TH®EFPBEIR leading to the entering of the Transactions, as well
SREHES as to ascertain whether they took any role in the
ERERBTLER entering of the Transactions and whether they have
5 UWREERS any relationships with the counterparties to the
BTSN 5HF Transactions; and

BIEMBE: K&

EREEBBAE
MEETHETH
BETRE - RET
HRXHHERNER
0 WiBBER R
MERHEESE
F8IE -

performing preservation on electronic data
under the custody of relevant personnel of the
Group, developing search terms pertaining to the
Transactions and reviewing electronic data with
responsive hits of the search terms.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Scope of the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation (Continued)

On 22 July 2021, having considered the then state of
findings from the Investigation, and with agreement
from the previous auditor, the Investigation Committee
Investigation
to cover certain business activities of the Group
conducted by Mr. Chen and Mr.
Bai”) (the then chief financial controller of the Company)
for the period between 1 January 2021 to 30 April
2021 (the “Expanded Investigation”
the Investigation, the “Independent Investigation”)
pursuant to the recommendation of the previous auditor.

decided to expand the scope of the

Bai Xueping (“Mr.

together with

The primary scope of the Expanded Investigation
focused on a review period from 1 January 2020 to
30 April 2021 to understand the involvement of Mr. Chen
and Mr. Bai in the management of the Group, including
as to day-to-day business operations, investment or
fund-raising activities, chop and contract management
process and conducting sample testing to investigate
whether Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai
conduct which overrode the Group’s existing corporate

governance mechanisms.

had engaged in

The Independent Investigation was completed in March
2022 with the following key findings:
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
The Independent Investigation had certain limitations
in respect of the nature and extent of the procedures
conducted. During the course of the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board took
into account the following findings of the Independent
Investigation, considered the relevant information and
supporting evidence available and had used their best
effort to estimate the relevant financial impact of the
matters identified in the Independent Investigation.

(i) Transaction 1 — RMB50,000,000 advanced by the
Company to Company A on 7 December 2020
pursuant to a loan agreement dated 30 November
2020 (the “Loan Agreement 1”) signed by the
Company as lender and Company A as borrower,
purporting to set out the terms for a loan of
RMB50,000,000 from the Company to Company
A at an interest rate of 2 % per annum, repayable
on 30 December 2020.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)

(i

(i)

Transaction 2 — RMB53,522,000 advanced by the
Company to Company B on 10 December 2020
pursuant to a loan agreement dated 1 December
2020 (the “Loan Agreement 2") signed by the
Company as lender and Company B as borrower,
purporting to set out the terms for a loan of
RMB53,522,000 from the Company to Company
B at an interest rate of 2 % per annum, repayable
on 30 December 2020.

Transaction 3 — RMB14,478,000 advanced by
the Company to Company C (Company C and
together with Company A and Company B, the
“Borrowers”) on 10 December 2020 pursuant to
a loan agreement dated 1 December 2020 (the
“Loan Agreement 3” and together with Loan
Agreement 1 and Loan Agreement 2, the “Loan
Agreements”) signed by the Company as lender
and Company C as borrower, purporting to set out
the terms for a loan of RMB14,478,000 from the
Company to Company C at an interest rate of 2
% per annum, repayable on 30 December 2020.
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d E—FRAESE) (d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
I HEMFELREE /. Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(%) (Continued)
vy, XRS54-1RIEBHA (iv) Transaction 4 — HK$80,000,000 (approximately
2021 1H18HH RMB66,400,000) paid by the Company on
REHE ([RE 28 January 2021 pursuant to a subscription
WE])  ARFR agreement dated 18 January 2021 (the
20215 1H28AX N “Investment Agreement”) in respect of
80,000,000/ 7T (47 HK$80,000,000 secured loan note (“Investment”)
ANE#66,400,000 issued by Company D with a fixed return of 4.5%
70) REARIDHET per annum, due on 17 December 2021.

#780,000,000/8 7T
EREZER (BT
WaRE AT F4.5%:
2021512 H17H
2E) ([RE]) -

PHE R Findings of the Investigation:
(i) 20204 11H30H (i) Between 30 November 2020 and 1 December
£2020%12A1H 2020, Mr. Chen on behalf of the Company entered
H M PR ER into the Loan Agreements with the Borrowers
?E$“ﬂéﬁi1ﬁ?k/\ for the advancement of short term loans in an
AN ERBE B aggregate sum of RMB118,000,000 (the “Loans”).
15 BERARK
118,000,0007T #) 52

HERT(ERD -
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(i

(i)

On 7 December 2020, the Company transferred
RMB50,000,000 from RMB sub-account (the
“Bank A RMB Sub-Account”) of a bank account
held by the Company at a bank (the “Bank A
Account”) to Company A. On 10 December
2020, the Company transferred RMB53,522,000
and RMB14,478,000 from the Bank A RMB
Sub-Account to Company B and Company C
respectively.

The telegraphic transfers of the Loans from the
Company’s Bank A RMB Sub-Account to each of
the Borrowers were approved by Mr. Chen and
Mr. Bai (at the behest of Mr. Chen).

The Loan Agreements were not tabled before the
Board for discussion or approval. The Board had
Chen
admitted that the Loan Agreements were entered

not approved the Loan Agreements. Mr.

into without the Board’s prior approval and any
background check on the Borrowers and that no
guarantee was provided as security for the Loans.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
Il. ~ Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(vy  Mr. Chen contended that the sum of
RMB118,000,000 paid out from the Company’s
Bank A RMB Sub-Account were dividend
payable to China Gas Investors Ltd. (a controlling
shareholder of the Company) (“CGI”) and were
therefore funds belonging to CGI. Mr. Chen had
not sought consent from CGI in relation to the
change of use of the said funds and the change
of use of the said funds had not been approved
in compliance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”). The Directors
interviewed by Forensic Accountant considered
that the funds in the Bank A RMB Sub-Account
were dividends payable to the shareholders of
the Company and belonged to the Company and
that any change of the use of the funds in the
Bank A RMB Sub-Account must comply with
the provisions of the Articles and the relevant
procedure of the Company.

(v  The Bank A Account is held in the name of and is
owned by the Company. The Bank A RMB Sub-
Account was set up to hold dividend payable to the
shareholders of the Company before completion
of the IPO. In the financial statements of the
Company published during the IPO and audited by
the previous auditors, the asset of the Company
comprised such Bank A Account.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(vii)

(viii)

According to Mr. Chen, the business rationale for
making the Loans was to obtain confidence and
good impression from the investors and fulfil their
financial needs, so as to attract investors to make
investment in the Company in the IPO and the
making of the Loans had no direct connection with
the IPO. According to Mr. Chen, it was after the IPO
that one of the underwriters of the IPO notified him
that a subscriber who subscribed for the Shares for
the sum of US$18,000,000 at the IPO is the sole
director and sole shareholder of Company A, the
sole director and sole shareholder of Company D,
and a former director and shareholder of Company
C. Based on the IPO share allocation list, such
subscriber subscribed for 13,138,000 Shares.

Notwithstanding the fact that the Borrowers were
three different companies, the Borrowers were
potentially associated with one another given that
the form and content of the Loan Agreements were
highly similar and that certain direct and indirect
connections among the Borrowers were identified
through desktop internet searches conducted by
the Forensic Accountant.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)
Il. — Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(ix)  On 18 January 2021, Mr. Chen on behalf of the
Company entered into the Investment Agreement
with Company D. On 28 January 2021, the
Company paid HK$80,000,000 to Company D
via a bank account maintained with another bank
(“Bank B”) (the “Bank B Account”) which held
the IPO proceeds. The Investment Agreement was
not tabled before the Board for discussion and
the Investment was not approved by the Board
contrary to the Company’s policy on financial
management and control. The telegraphic transfer
of the Investment from the Bank B Account of the
Company was approved by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai
(at the behest of Mr. Chen).
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)
Il.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(x)

In a board preparatory meeting held on 13 January
2021, Mr. Chen made brief reference to potential
investments with IPO proceeds. As the information
provided by Mr. Chen was limited, the Directors
who participated in the meeting required that the
use of the IPO proceeds must comply with law
and regulations and save for a portion of the IPO
proceeds allocated for use for the Company’s
Hong Kong office, the remaining IPO proceeds
should be remitted back to Mainland China and
be applied for the purposes set out in the IPO
prospectus of the Company. According to the
Company’s policy on financial management and
control, absent an applicable pre-approved budget
item, if the Company enters into, amends or
terminates a transaction or a series of transactions
under any agreement
exceeding RMB1,000,000, prior approval from the
Board shall be required. No resolution was passed

involving an amount

in such meeting in relation to the investment
products proposed by Mr. Chen.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(xi) According to Mr. Chen, the purpose of the
Investment was to earn a higher return. Mr. Chen
admitted that the Investment Agreement was
entered into (i) contrary to legal advice he had
obtained from the Company’s then legal advisers,
and (i) before any due diligence was conducted
and before any security documents were obtained.

(xii) Mr. Bai expressed the view that he personally
did not agree to the Transactions and suspected
that the counterparties of the Transactions were
potentially associated with one another, and
that there was a possibility that the Investment
Agreement was entered into for the purpose of
expediting the repayment of the Loans. According
to Mr. Bai, the telegraphic transfer was signed by
him at the behest of Mr. Chen.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.
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Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(i)

On 31 March 2021, Mr.
of Directors that if the Company agreed to a

Chen told a number

“put option” agreement (the “Proposed Option
Agreement”), Company A would procure
immediate
Company. Mr. Chen alleged that the Proposed

Option Agreement was proposed by Company A

repayment of the Loans to the

but to be entered into with another subscriber of
the IPO in respect of not more than 100,000,000
Shares at an option price of HK$1.5 per Share,
with an exercise period of 5 to 31 days after the
signing of the Proposed Option Agreement. The
Proposed Option Agreement was in draft form and
did not bear a signatory block for Company A or
any known representative of Company A. Mr. Chen
did not proffer a reasonable explanation as to
why Company A was willing to procure immediate
repayment of all three loans if the Proposed Option
Agreement was entered. Mr. Chen also did not
provide relevant background information about
the proposed counterparty. The Proposed Option
Agreement was voted down by the Board.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

1.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(Continued)

Findings of the Investigation: (Continued)

(xiv) The Forensic Accountant conducted an analysis
of the top 38 investors in the international
offering tranche of the IPO and found that as
at 15 November 2021, ten of such investors
(representing shareholdings of 96,178,000 shares
in aggregate) were potentially connected, of which:
() three investors (representing shareholdings of
36,110,000 Shares in aggregate) appeared to have
direct connection with the counter-parties of the
Transactions and (i) seven investors (representing
shareholdings of 60,068,000 Shares in aggregate)
appeared to have indirect connections with the
counter-parties of the Transactions.

Findings of the Expanded Investigation

(i) On 20 February 2021, the Company and Xijie’ai
(Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd
(“Xijie’ai”) entered into an agreement (“Xijie’ai
Agreement”) whereby the Company agreed to
reimburse Xijie'ai a sum of HK$2,000,000 for
expenses paid by Xijie'ai for the Company in
relation to the preparation of the IPO. Mr. Chen was
involved in the signing of the Xijie’ai Agreement on
behalf of the Company as well as for Xijie’ai.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)
Il.

Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation
(Continued)
Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)

(i

(i)

(iv)

On 7 April 2021, a sum of HK$2,000,000 was
paid to Xijie'ai via a bank account of the Company
maintained with Bank B.

Xijie’ai is a wholly-owned company established
in the PRC on 9 May 2007 by OxyChina Limited
(@ company incorporated under the law of the
British Virgin Islands and is owned as to 70% by
Mr. Chen, 10% by Mr. Bai and by two independent
third parties of the Company each holding 10%).
The legal representative of Xljie’ai is Mr. Chen.

According to the Company’s policy on financial
management and control, absent an applicable
pre-approved budget item, if the Company enters
into, amends or terminates a transaction or a series
of transactions under any agreement involving an
amount exceeding RMB1,000,000, prior approval
from the Board shall be required. There are no
documents (such as board meeting minutes or
board
Agreement was approved by the Board.

resolutions) to support that the Xijie'ai



BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2022512 3318 L £E For the year ended 31 December 2022

3. MHEEE
d E—FR/EH

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

I HENFELZEHE Il.  Summary of the Key Findings of the Investigation

(%) (Continued)

ERAEHFAELER Findings of the Expanded Investigation (Continued)

(%)

(v) IREBEEREMA - (v  According to the Articles, a director who to
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or in any other case at the first meeting of the
board after he knows that he is or has become
so interested. None of the supporting documents
or representations provided by the Company to
the Forensic Accountant shows that Mr. Chen and
Mr. Bai had declared his interest to the Board.

Save and except for the Xijie’ai Agreement entered
into with Xijie'ai, the Expanded Investigation has not
uncovered direct evidence of management override
of Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (continued)

The Board had reviewed the content and the findings of
the Investigation and the Expanded Investigation. The Board
was of the view that the Investigation and the Expanded
Investigation had comprehensively investigated into the matters
raised by the previous auditor. The Board was of the view
that, based on its review of the findings of the Independent
Investigation and on balance, the nature of Transactions 1
to 3 was likely to be as stated in the Loan Agreements that
they were loans from the Company to the Borrowers, and
the nature of Transaction 4 was likely to be as stated in the
Investment Agreement that it was an investment in loan note
made by the Company for the purpose of managing free cash
to earn higher return. None of the Transactions was approved
by the Board. Notwithstanding the Forensic Accountant’s
conclusion that save and except for the Xijie’ai Agreements,
the Expanded Investigation did not uncover direct evidence of
management override by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai, given that none
of the Transactions were approved by the Board, and that, in
particular, the telegraphic transfers made pursuant to the Loan
Agreements and the Investment Agreement were approved by
Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai themselves, the Board considered that
there was management override by Mr. Chen and Mr. Bai.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(d) Prior year Investigation (Continued)
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Although the Company had continuously demanded for
settlement with the Borrowers, the Company has not received
any repayment up to date. After taking into account that the
Loans became long overdue and recoverability of the balances,
the Group considered that it was unlikely to recover the
outstanding loan balances of RMB118,000,000 and hence an
impairment provision on loan receivables of RMB118,000,000
was made and recorded it separately as a line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

On 17 December 2021 when the Investment became due, the
Company did not receive any repayment, and the Company
has not received any repayment since then. Although the
Company had continuously demanded settlement from the
counter-parties, the Company has not received any repayment
up to date. After taking into account recoverability of the
balance, the Group considered that it was unlikely to recover
the outstanding investment balance of RMB66,400,000
and hence an impairment provision on note investment of
RMB66,400,000, which was made and recorded separately
as a line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Development for the year ended 31 December 2022

During the year ended 31 December 2022, after taking into
account the possibility of recoverability, RMB118,000,000 and
RMB66,400,000 of the loan receivables and note investment
were written off and are disclosed in note 23 and note 24
respectively.
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4. TESFTHEK 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@) KMIEBAF (a) Subsidiaries
=i Consolidation
MEAREARSEESHERZE Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The
HIENERE WAKEHRAZ Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has
£ E B8 BT 15 7] & [0 EoA s B b rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
AN BB EEEH and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to
EREINETERETEZEN direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
W AAREEYEHERER from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
T HIRE o BB A R) B R e They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
BEAEBZEREHFAR
B LI BEREILEA M
ABR o
FEANRARZENARRERS Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains/
BHRRRERZF W BB losses on transactions between the companies within the
&P T H 8 - Group are eliminated on consolidation.
iy EHBadt ()  Business combinations
REEFERWEEEAH The acquisiton method of accounting is used to
FIEEBE AR » mh account for all business combinations, regardless of
mEEEEE T ANE whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
HEE - WE—RWEQ The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
AIMEBENRERRE: subsidiary comprises the:

- HBERREENQA

fair values of the assets transferred

BE

. FIT U2 B 25 7% &) B . liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
EAEEMAE acquired business

. RE B TR AR . equity interests issued by the Group

. E s ARE R ZEm - fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
EANEREEK contingent consideration arrangement, and

BENAAEE R

. WEARERIEAR . fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
BREHAREE - subsidiary.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

L= NCINE ) (a) Subsidiaries (Continued)
& (&) Consolidation (Continued)
iy ZEBeot(E) ()  Business combinations (Continued)
EEBE PR ENT Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
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liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values
at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred, amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity,
and acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity over the fair value of the
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)
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Subsidiaries (Continued)
Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a

The discount rate used
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent
under comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity

financier

or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without
change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)
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Consolidation (Continued)

(i) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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(Continued)
(b) Segment reporting

(c)
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Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The board of Directors of the Company,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM?”). The Group’s
business activities, for which discrete financial statements are
available, are regularly reviewed and evaluated by the CODM.
The Group has determined that it has two reportable segments
as follows:

- Supply of industrial gas

- Liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and gas transmission
service

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The Company’s functional currency
is USD, and the subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and
these entities considered RMB as their functional currency.
Since the majority of assets and operations of the Group
are located in the PRC, the Historical Financial Information is
presented in RMB, which is the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised
in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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Foreign currency translation (Continued)
Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income on a net basis within
“Other gains/(losses), net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences
on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

- assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of
financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that consolidated statement of financial
position
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Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Group companies (Continued)

- income and expenses for each consolidated statement
of comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable

approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates,

income and expenses are translated at the dates of the

in which case
transactions), and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid,
the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) is stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment (Continuea)
Depreciation on Property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

EEX by 5T A] {55 A3 4F B

Residual Estimated

value rate useful lives

BEY Buildings 3% 30%F 30 years

- 23 Machinery 3% 20%F 20 years

BF&E Electronic equipment 0% 5% 5 years

TAREME Instruments and other equipment 0% 1055 10 years

"B Vehicles 10% 10 10 years
HENR Leasehold improvements 0% TMHEFGERIEE
HETRI A

B E A

Shorter of remaining
term of the lease and
the estimated useful
lives of assets

RERERKR  BEENERER
ERFRBTAERRN - X1E
HEE M E -

MEENREESREMGA
WEEwE MEEMREES
BBy OB = H AT I [l 2 8R

HE R et &2 BB BB L&
AR REREEEE IR
AftraRaERAIEpkEE,
(BR)—FEIhmER -

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised in
“Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statements of

comprehensive income.
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(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(e)

172 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

Construction in progress (“CIP”) represents leasehold
improvements, production line and manufacturing plants
under construction. Construction in progress is stated at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost includes
the costs of construction and acquisition, and capitalized
costs attributable to the construction during the period
of construction. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets
are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are available for use, the costs are transferred to
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance
with the policy as stated in above.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent the computer software purchased
from a third party. They are initially recognised and measured
at cost. Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated
useful lives (generally 3 years) using the straight-line method
which reflects the pattern in which the intangible asset’s future
economic benefits are expected to be consumed.

Research and development expenses
The Group recognised costs associated with the Group’s
research and development as an expense as incurred.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable and unique projects controlled by the
Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are met: (i) it is technically feasible to complete the
project so that it will be available for use, (i) the management
intends to complete the project and use or sell it, (iii) there is an
ability to use or sell the project, (iv) it can be demonstrated how
the project will generate probable future economic benefits, (v)
adequate technical, financial, and other resources to complete
the development, and to use or sell the project are available,
and (vi) the expenditure attributable to the project during its
development can be reliably measured.
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(e) BEEES) (e) Intangible assets (Continued)
T & 5 5 (42 ) Research and development expenses (Continued)
KRBT AR EA N H MR Other development costs that do not meet these criteria are
MATTREAXRER AR - recognised as an expense as incurred. The Group has no
RERN  REBVEFEZE development costs meeting these criteria and capitalised as
ERAWER L BEFLEENH intangible assets during the year.
B «
ZHIEDHER AR MR KA Development costs previously recognised as an expense are
TERNTLBREBEREEE - not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. Capitalised
ETERB K ANEEE development costs are amortised from the point at which the
AR AR E R ERAA® assets are ready for use on a straight-line basis over their
FBER T LA o useful lives.

f) FELMEERE (f) Impairment of non-financial assets
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Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group
of assets). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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(9 =EEE (9) Financial assets

SHE Classification

AEBBHEHeMEESAUT The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

FFEER: measurement categories:

- HEBEZRAARBEFAEM - those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
ek EE other comprehensive income,

-  EHERAARBEFAEBER - those to be measured subsequently at fair value through
R profit or loss, and

- REBENAFESE - - those to be measured at amortised cost.

DEIEANEEEESHEE The classification depends on the entity’s business model for

MEBEXUALREBEESREZS managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

LERME ° cash flows.

MDA BEFENEEMS For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be

ElamkBEELERNEBREX recorded either in profit or loss or other comprehensive income

Efiralm ((Htsmawas ) (“OCI"). For investments in equity instruments that are not

FoRWIERIEEEMNER L held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has

AEREME  ABEUARAKSE made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
SEVFERAFD/EET to account for the equity investment at fair value through other

TRERENEE AL BES comprehensive income.

AEMEERENERILEA

AEBEREREEREZRSEE The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when

CEBERSERBEFHHBE its business model for managing those assets changes.

BRE o
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Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
method.
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Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI’):
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in “Other gains/(losses),
net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in “Other
gains/(losses), net” and impairment expenses are presented
as separate line item in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”): Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within other losses in the period in which it arises.
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Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present
fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in “Other income”
when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at FVPL
are recognised in “Other gains/(losses), net” as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at financial assets at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its assets carried at amortised
cost and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
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(Continued)

(9)
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected

For trade receivables,
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Inventories

Inventories, mainly consisting of finished goods and spare
parts, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal
operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Costs of
purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates
and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Trade and other receivables
Trade
products sold or services performed in the ordinary course

receivables are amounts due from customers for
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(i)

(k)
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(m)
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at, amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of

transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings

using the effective interest method.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(m) Borrowings (Continued)

(n)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case,
the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-
payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period
of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other
income or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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Borrowing costs (Continued)
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion
of the Company and its subsidiaries, on or before the end
of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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(p) Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the consolidated statement of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

£ ¥ Annual Report 2022 183



SOt A R M &
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B £2022%F12H8318 Lt £ E For the year ended 31 December 2022

4. TESTHER®

(p)

(a)

EI]HE&LLF)? B @)
FEEFTZ (&
%ETW&%%%GW%H%
BT REERAEEREH -
A FE P 15 75 48 ek B R — B 7%
HEARRE - QA KRELERE
MEEHRBEEREE B8
BB A KOR 98 B R TTHE SHAE A
BEERFRERLEENRAR
BEREENMEERER - AR
MM AEEREBARRERE
8 -

%%&ELHE 18 a5 A

B AN EMEA RSN
E&F%\EWWEE%WO
EUBRT  HETDHRE
il 7 & U & 3 B B N 2 P R

=7
o °

AEBEBETARKAAELE
BRBEERELSERAE
R BB R AR o AR B %
FEREARINEHEARR &
BARR L A PTS M BV EI R
AR X

EBE®F

AT

TERFZ (BEBHANEER
48 B AR 75 1 B3 7] 48 R 1R 121
A W?&%{%Z%#f%?mﬂ
FREBBR)BENIIEER
HIRH) B B RS MR - WIRAE
CRERERESCREE LS RNk
E-AERAEHMBRAKRE
SMEEI R B A BT -
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(Continued)

(p)

(q)
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Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred income tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special
tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in
relation to qualifying expenditure. The Group accounts for such
allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
reduces income tax payable and current tax expense.

Employee benefits
Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries,
benefits, annual leave and sick leave that are expected to be
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in
which the employees render the related service are recognised

including non-monetary

in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Pension obligations

Full-time employees in the PRC are covered by various
government-sponsored defined contribution pension plans
under which the employees are entitled to a monthly pension
based on certain formulas. The relevant government agencies
are responsible for the pension liability to these retired
employees. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
pension plans. Under these plans, the Group has no further
payment obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the
contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed
as incurred and contributions paid to the defined-contribution
pension plans for an employee are not available to reduce the
Group’s future obligations to such defined contribution pension
plans even if the employee leaves.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees, subject to certain
ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these funds is limited
to the contributions payable in each year. Contributions to the
housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances
are expensed as incurred.

Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present contractual or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.
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Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

- the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares,

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

- the after income tax effect of interest and other financing
costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares,
and

- the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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(s)

(t)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for further operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
industrial gas generated and supplied or services provided,
stated net of value added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the goods or
services is transferred to a customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the goods and services may be transferred over time or at
a point of time. The following is a description of the accounting
policy for our principle revenue streams:
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Supply of industrial gas

Sales and distribution of natural gas are recognised at a
point in time when control is transferred to customers, which
generally coincides with the time when gas is transmitted and
used by the customers, and is based on the gas consumption
data derived from meter readings. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately at the point the customer consume
the gas.

Supply of liquefied industrial gas and liquefied natural
gas (“LNG”)

For supply of liquefied industrial gas and liquefied natural gas
for which the control of products is transferred to customer
on delivery, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains the physical possession of products and the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Gas transmission service

For gas transmission service for which the obligation of service
is satisfied on transmission of gas, revenue is recognised for
each reporting period based on the volume of gas transmitted
and the unit service fee as agreed in the service contract.

Others

Others consist of income from sales of compressed natural gas
and LNG for vehicles at natural gas station, and other special
gas etc., which are recognised when the relevant items are
delivered to the buyers.
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The Group leases land, office and buildings as lessee. Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 20 years
and may have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset
is amortised over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),

less any lease incentives receivable

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate
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Leases (Continued)
. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

any initial direct costs, and

- restoration costs.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases with a remaining term of 12 months or less as of
the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.

The right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities are present
separately on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(v) Government grant
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

relating to costs are deferred and

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)
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Deferred taxation

The Group’s operating subsidiaries in the PRC are subject
to Enterprise Income Tax. Significant judgement is required
in determining the deferred tax relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses in various jurisdictions. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises assets or
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Useful lives and residual value of property,

plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for
its property, plant and equipment. The estimates are based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives and
residual values of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives or residual values are
less than previously estimated values. Actual economic lives
and residual values may differ from estimated useful lives and
residual values. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable and amortisable lives and residual values, which
therefore affect the depreciation and amortisation charges in
future periods.
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5. FASE St fhEt R E
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(c)

(d)
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group evaluates the impairment risks of property,
equipment and leasehold improvements in accordance with
the accounting policies stated in note 4(d).
amounts of property, plant and equipment is the value in
use, which is higher than the asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal. When calculating the value in use, the Group is
required to estimate and evaluate the future cash flow of each
assets group and the discount rate to determine the current
value. As at 31 December 2022, the net carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment are RMB1,560,472,364 (2021:
RMB1,540,715,120).

Recoverable

Impairment of trade, notes and other

receivables

The loss allowances for trade, notes and other receivables
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
credit loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in note 39(a).
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive Directors of the Company have been identified as
the chief operating decision-makers of the Group who review the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance of the
Group on a regular basis and allocate resources.

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of
industrial gas in the PRC. The Group is also engaged in production
related gas
transmission service. The chief operating decision-maker assesses
performance of the business based on a measure of operating

and supply of liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and

results and consider the business from the product perspective.
Information reported to the chief operating decision-makers for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment
focuses on the operation results of the Group as a whole as the
Group’s resources are integrated. Accordingly, the Group has
identified two operating segments as follows:

Supply of industrial gas

- LNG and gas transmission service
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(i)  The Group reportable segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and requires

different business strategies. The following summary describes

REBSAHME DB EBH the operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:
AN
BZ2022F12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December 2022
MEITXRE BRILRXAKR
(BEERAL) REHERE Eaf rEE
Supply of
industrial gas LNG and gas
(pipeline and transmission
liquefied) service Elimination Group
AR R AR®T AR¥ T AR¥ T
RMB RMB RMB RMB
7 2B U & Segment revenue  1,194,342,987 305,207,749 (17,906,495) 1,481,644,241
E 7 Gross profit 334,105,185 7,745,428 = 341,850,613
B ZE2021F12 318 I FE
Year ended 31 December 2021
HEIXRE BRIERARK
(BB NRARILL) REBHERYE Eog REE
Supply of
industrial gas  LNG and gas
(pipeline and transmission
liquefied) service Elimination Group
AR AR AR N
RMB RMB RMB RMB
7 BB UK = Segment revenue 1,047,227,064 181,881,285 (19,837,474) 1,209,270,875
E 7 Gross profit 242,720,623 5,418,510 - 248,139,133
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6. 7HER » 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(i) HwEBEER (i) Geographic information

ARARFEEHSEMKL
MASEE 2N FEAMEE
HE® AEWGERRPEA
oo Bt - BEE 2 5 AU H

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while
the Group operates its business in mainland China and all
its revenue is derived in mainland China. Accordingly, no
geographical information on the total revenue is presented.

1 IR E R o
(i) EXrEEXEFEBENESR (iii) Information about major customers
HAREEERZFI0%NIA EHE The customers which contributed more than 10% of the total
FuT: revenue of the Group are as follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET ARETT
RMB RMB
EPA Customer A 1,005,008,243 914,180,236
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7. Wz 7.
AEEFEREIRATP AL -

REVENUE

All the Group’s revenue is derived from contracts with customers.

AEBFERPEALETEAERMET
¥R BRIERARREEREH X
fR7% o AEBENE Z= 20229 K& 20214F
VAR FERERNE SO ESD

The Group is principally engaged in the production and supply of
industrial gases, LNG and related gas transmission service in the
PRC. An analysis of the Group’s revenue by category for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is disclosed as follows:

MHEEBELOT -
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR ARMETT
RMB RMB
RE—RHEHER Recognised at a point in time
HEBEILERE Supply of pipeline industrial gas 927,740,024 802,178,617
HERCTERE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 228,032,728 206,386,946
frERIERARERERZX  Supply of LNG and gas transmission
AR %5 service 305,207,749 181,881,285
EHAh Others 20,663,740 18,824,027

1,481,644,241

1,209,270,875
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22
7. WH# 7. REVENUE (continuea)
BHRAE Contract liabilities
AEBREHPBHKAIREYER The Group presents advances from customers as contract liabilities
BRAEHNEE - on the consolidated statement of financial position.
AEEDHRTIEGHNEE: The Group has recognised the following contract liabilities:
20224 2021%F
2022 2021
ARY T AR
RMB RMB
FETFIEEN S EE - Contract liabilities arising from:
—HEREITERE - Supply of liquefied industrial gas 4,296,926 5,708,835
—HERIERAR - Supply of LNG 4,053,350 2,618,865
— H A - Others 503,530 1,017,178
8,853,806 9,344,878
HAHYEEHBENERKF Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
TERENWAREEHFEYEESLY The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
BEAEEANEERI - each of the year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T AR
RMB RMB
HERILIERE Supply of liquefied industrial gas 2,879,697 1,523,420
HERERAR Supply of LNG 2,176,986 316,403
Hth Others 524,318 733,896
5,581,001 2,573,719
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Hth Yt A 8. OTHER INCOME
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR AR
RMB RMB
I T 48 Bh (B at) Government grants (note) 830,219 6,084,933
HAh Others 144,407 4,733,282
974,626 10,818,215
BreE: RATHBY R AR - BZSBUTH Note: Government grants are all income related and there exists no unfulfiled
BY I N AFTE R M B MR sl H b 2R B B conditions or other contingencies attaching to these government grants.
# o
2 2 - 1=
HpWezz, (B E)— 9. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET
RG]
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR AR®IT
RMB RMB
HNEE W = (5 1B) JF 58 Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 19,620,971 (407,678)
HEME  MERZHEAEE Losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment = (363,365)
THEYE BRERZRE Written off of property, plant and
equipment (7,537,864) -
EHAh Others (213,769) (693,821)
11,869,338 (1,464,864)
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10. AR A —F 10. FINANCE COSTS, NET
2022F 20214
2022 2021
ARY T AR
RMB RMB
HBEHA - Finance income:
KERITFREFE U A Interest income from bank deposits 1,435,829 1,793,792
B - Finance costs:
RITEROF ERX Interest expenses on bank borrowings (29,826,809) (31,795,725)
HEaBENNERX Interest expense on lease liabilities (197,783) (315,222)
m:ERNe e Add: amount capitalised 2,568,709 2,268,925
Fr 3% H B 7 B AR Finance costs expensed (27,455,883) (29,842,022)
B A AN —F 58 Finance costs, net (26,020,054) (28,048,230)
HZE2022F12A31ALFE - 6T & Finance costs have been capitalized on qualifying assets at average
BOEENPBRAEERE - £ interest rates of 4.99% per annum for the year ended 31 December
F & 54.99% (20214 : 4.99%) ° 2022 (2021: 4.99%).
MERBERZ FEZREHBENM T Interest and related expenses mainly arise from the borrowings
30 fE K © disclosed in note 30.
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N BEETENRAX

11. EXPENSES BY NATURE

20224 2021%F
2022 2021
AR AR
RMB RMB
% 8L R B & Auditor’s remuneration 3,700,000 4,000,000
NAEENER Consumption of utilities 796,860,170 717,011,666
BEM R R EEEEFERAEFE Consumption of raw materials and low
value consumables 186,939,664 105,151,805
R mNGEEE Changes in inventories of finished
goods 102,409 (1,173,320)
ME - BERZHERE Depreciation of property, plant and
(H1i#17) equipment (note 17) 124,107,610 111,614,153
FREEERE A F18) Amortisation of right-of-use assets
(note 18) 1,990,028 4,767,859
EERAAZ(HiF12) Employee benefits expenses
(note 12) 58,384,236 54,041,647
B W S Freight expenses 13,730,005 13,488,313
BREREMX Equipment maintenance expenses 41,326,802 28,192,001
BRI E R Operating service charges 21,409,472 13,795,083
B hn &R Tax surcharges 6,344,803 5,531,439
ANED 85 TR AN Outsourcing labour costs 4,515,208 3,405,508
mREERE (A F19) Amortisation of intangible assets
(note 19) 269,348 612,573
HERBE Professional service fee 26,258,691 39,821,952
B RWHIENEERIEREE Credit loss allowance for trade
(Hit22) receivables (note 22) 8,135,000 -
ERRENEEEBBERSB Credit loss allowance for note
(K1 7t24) investment (note 24) - 66,400,000
Hit Others 13,376,795 9,797,296
1,307,450,241 1,176,457,975
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12. E & K A&

12. EMPLOYEE COSTS

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR ARETT
RMB RMB
T8  He - L4l Wages, salaries, bonuses 44,461,126 39,399,846
FTEAES  BERRE Housing funds, medical insurance and
H b2k & 18 F 43R0 22 3) other social welfare contributions
(note (i) 6,782,989 7120,795
RRAK AR — FE M KA & Pension costs — defined contribution
(K7 7% (i) plans (note (i) 4,958,873 5,270,356
H th 48 71 Other benefits 2,181,248 2,250,650
58,384,236 54,041,647
1 iE - Notes:

(il

AEENFTEEETVT2ES ARNEE
MEEAES  BERBRKEMESM
gRBRHE  -AEEFARKEEST S
#915% Z= 24% (20214F : 15% = 24%) (5%
BETERIAZSESELMR X
SERZSESHNEARREFREIMN
B R o

BREPRAEFIREREATE  AEER
H Ao Bl E B m B R & B i) 3R Ik 51 & fit
R AEEREEGBRAKRAEERA(BE
TE - Ha  EBREA) 8% (BE
FR)mZEEELER  MAEE
A% A B A H9 0% ZE 20% (20214F : 0%
F20%)(RAEEFER)ELMHZK - BB
HFINE EAERAER SRR
HipEAE - IR E B AR IR EIEIER
RAEEZMTRAEENN2HEL -

(ii)
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Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in various
government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance and other employee
social insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds
based on approximately 15% to 24% (2021: 15% to 24%) of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contributions payable in each year.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes to
state-sponsored retirement schemes for its employees in the PRC. The Group’s
employees make monthly contributions to the schemes at approximately 8%
of the relevant income (comprising wages, salaries, allowances and bonus,
and subject to maximum caps), while the Group contributes 0% to 20% (2021:
0% to 20%) of such relevant income, subject to certain ceiling and has no
further obligations for the actual payment of post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions. The state-sponsored retirement schemes are responsible for
the entire post-retirement benefit obligations payable to the retired employees.
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13.EEM LU AERES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

#FAL

(@ EEME(BETETR
AB)
REED EMRARE SRR
EABBOEFREBTRA

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief
executives)
Directors’ and chief executives’ remuneration for both years,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong

EMENMSIT: Kong Companies Ordinances is as follows:
EEAESE
BRIEA- BERERBR
I% %¢- REMR Hitir g
g TEl BRMHR ExHe MR @t
Housing
funds,
medical
Pension insurance
Wages, costs-defined and other
salaries, contribution social welfare Director’s Discretionary
bonuses plans contributions fees bonus Total
AR¥T AR¥T AR¥T AR¥T AR¥T AR¥T
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
B 520225 Year ended 31
12A31ALEE December 2022
HITEZ Executive Directors
BR K 4 (B () David T Chen (note (i) - - - 358,581 - 358,581
(0 i) Yao Li (note (i) - - - - - -
BERW ) Gao Guimin (note (i) 382,990 15,578 39,868 - - 438,436
HHTEE Non-executive Directors
RE R ()R (i)  Zhang Aimin (note (i) & (i) - - - - - -
R Lai Yui = = = 516,485 = 516,485
10 Ng Shuk Ming - - - 516,485 - 516,485
BUFHITEF Independent non-
executive Directors
v Siu Chi Hung - - - 516,485 - 516,485
HiAfR Xiao Huan Wei - - - 516,485 - 516,485
X Li Chun Elsy - - - 516,485 - 516,485
382,990 15,578 39,868 2,941,006 = 3,379,442
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13.EEMEURTEES

13.

;AT

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)

(@) EEME(EBREETH (a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief
AB)#E) executives) (Continued)
FEAES
BRKA-  BERRR
I %% REHRK Hipit g
b i E ER EZHe BB @zt
Housing funds,
medical
Pension insurance
Wages, costs-defined and other
salaries,  contribution  social welfare Director’s  Discretionary
bonuses plans  contributions fees bonus Total
AEBT AEBT AEBT AEBT NS AEBT
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
HZ2021F Year ended 31
12A31ALLEE December 2021
HITEE Executive Directors
A% David T Chen - - - 1,015,220 - 1,015,220
kN Yao Li - - -
BE Gao Guimin 108,335 25,376 32,003 - - 165,714
FHTEE Non-executive Directors
RER Zhang Aimin - - - - - -
Ra Lai Yui - - - 507,610 - 507,610
hiER Ng Shuk Ming - - - 507,610 - 507,610
BUFHTEE Independent non-
executive Directors
BEl Siu Chi Hung - - - 507,610 - 507,610
HafR Xiao Huan Wei - - - 507,610 - 507,610
g Li Chun Elsy - - - 507,610 - 507,610
108,335 25,376 32,003 3,553,270 - 3,718,984
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BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13.EEMEURTRES
;AT

(@ EEME(BEETETHR

AB)#E)
et -

0] FR K # 2021455118 B (2
B 7% - 18 720225858 1 B
% o

(ii) o H =& § R EEE £2022
FRAMHIEFERBRAES
& AR #1,032,9707T M A R
#1,032,9707T (2021F : A R %
1,015,2207T 1 A & #1,015,220
) e RFMITERFRERRASE
& F20224F £ 2021F12 A31H |E
FENFRBRAEZHEARE
516,4857T 1 A £ #507,6107T °

(il R ERM2023F1820H B T ©

vy REEH BEEEALAEEK
BEMME  (ERBRSIMARE
B oI AR S Bl 40 22 ) R B B
HE -

(v) TEEEXRREHE WD KUK
BUE o R AR A AR LR A o

(vi) RMEH AEEILARFIREM
BERG MR ERSE =T IR
= o

(viiy 720224 }2021%12A31H
EUES  XZFEFENOE
AEEBREZEEZZHNER
RESANER - EERKHA
RHEYE -

H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (including chief
executives) (Continued)

Notes:

(i) David T Chen was suspended his duties since 11 May 2021 and
removed on 5 May 2022.

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2022, Yao Li and Guo Guimin

agreed to waive their directors’ fee of RMB1,032,970 and RMB1,032,970
(2021: RMB1,015,220 and RMB1,015,220). And the non-executive
Director, Zhang Aimin agreed to waive his director’s fee of RMB516,485
and RMB507,610 during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
respectively.

(iii) Zhang Aimin resigned on 20 January 2023.

(iv) No Directors received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office during the reporting period.

(v) None of the Directors received or receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits during the reporting period.
(vi) The Group did not pay consideration to any third parties for making

available Directors’ services during the reporting period.

(vi) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings arrangement in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and controlled entities with such Directors.
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13.EEM LU AERES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE

.
#FALT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
(Continued)

(b) EEEBREFAL (b) The five highest paid individuals
AEEREERHALTH =4 Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
(20215 : =ZR) RAEEESE - Group, 3 (2021: 3) were Directors of the Group, whose
HE @ &8N 5E13() - SR TA emoluments are included in note 13(a). The emoluments of the
THE ST remaining individuals were as follows:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARET
RMB RMB
TE - #s  fe4L Wages, salaries, bonuses 517,396 1,803,120
BN A —FREH-REE Pension costs - defined
contribution plans 2,577 54,184
FEAES - BERK KL  Housing funds, medical insurance
H 4t & 18 F 5K and other social welfare
contributions = 100,542
4R 148 7 Termination benefits 3,537,746 -
4,057,719 1,957,846
EMENFTo&EER : Their emoluments were within the following bands:
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AE N
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
% B 6 (=) Emolument band
£ %1,000,000/% 7T Nil to HKD1,000,000 1 1
1,500,008 70 & HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
2,000,000 7T = 1
4,000,008 L & HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000
4,500,0007% 7T 1 -
2 2
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13.EEM LU AERES 13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND THE
;AT FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(Continued)

(b) EBEZREHFALTE) (b) The five highest paid individuals (continued)

RER AKREYEAETAE
EFXREMRBERFMALX
NERME - ERRSIIMAKR
SEHMAREE R ZE K
BERHE -NFR EEHE
RIMEM R BEAME R R E K
ZEAME -

B F2022F12A31H IFF & -
AEBEVEARATS AL
AT E B (5 R E AR EEE
67 ZITRRTE &) - Bl E 20214
P2A3IBILESFE AEERAS
BERHFATERAMEZAAH
Bl (5 = A3 mm E R 5 27
R &) & A KR 1849,6177T ©

14. TEHEX

AEBENFABIHRAITNAT:

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as
compensation for loss of office. There were no arrangements
under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any
emolument during the year.

No remuneration of the five highest paid individuals were
paid by the Group through the payment of service charges
to its related party for the year ended 31 December 2022.
Remunerations for two of the five highest paid individuals were
paid by the Group through the payment of service charges to
its related party with the amount of RMB849,617 for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR AR
RMB RMB
B ER 4 18 Current tax
—HE D EER - PRC enterprise income tax 31,152,096 31,965,302
IR AR 1B (K7 7#32) Deferred tax (note 32)
—FTAFEER - Charged to profit or loss
17,123,294 8,969,248
FFr 15 5t 5 32 Income tax expense 48,275,390 40,934,550
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14. IS BB @
74 8 I8 A 2 1 B0 B O LR R o
B P 55 S 2500 B A 0 8

14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate of 25% in

BARE - ZREFERRTZHAE G

=

T

mainland China, being the tax rate applicable to the majority of

consolidated entities as follows:

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR%T AR
RMB RMB
B BT 15 4 B S A F Profit before income tax expense 161,017,910 14,118,021
REAREBREEERA  Tax thereon at domestic rates
BR A REFENTIE  applicable to profit or loss in the
jurisdictions concerned 40,254,478 3,529,505
Eﬁﬂ‘j EEEEBMTREMER Effect of different tax rates in other
7 B (M it (a) jurisdictions (note (a)) 3,272,144 29,406,110
RHB AR NS ARK  Preferential income tax rates
%ﬁiﬁﬁ TR & (K7 7 (b)) applicable to subsidiaries and
branches (note (b)) (1,556,682) (284,136)
TAMBMAL 2B G2 Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes 152,806 139,972
FEIFERE MO ENT Withholding tax on profits made in
(Kt &t (c)) China (note (c)) 18,390,319 8,661,123
ER 2 BI AR TR A AT R Utilisation of previously unrecognised
i C deductible temporary differences (331,868) (290,580)
WEBRRELEMSHEERN  Tax losses for which no deferred
MIEEE income tax assets were recognised 4,799,287 5,101,902
Tt 2% 9 368 58 #8340 (MY 22 (@) Super deduction for research and
development (note (d)) (16,651,814) (4,991,177)
\EAEBBEO A E () Income not subject to tax (note (e)) (63,171) (311,026)
ﬁ ftty Others 9,891 (27,143)
5 fi X Income tax expense 48,275,390 40,934,550
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14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continueq)

Notes:
FEHEMEH (@) Cayman Islands income tax
AARRBEREHESRARERHAEHS The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
HEMRZRERRBRAA - |BHM with limited liability under the Cayman Islands Companies Law and is not
FTiS R o bLoN - ARAA] A E AR R R subject to income tax. In addition, upon payments of dividends by the Company
BROBRUANAEHSTEMNS - to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be imposed.
FEDERER (b) PRC enterprise income tax
RBRITED REREO - NEER Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Mainland China
R A S EA RGN BETD has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated assessable
MR PR A 1 5T B AR B R R B A A R profits for the period, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
A PR -REEMEH ER25% - practises in respect thereof. The general corporate income tax rate in the PRC
AEENBRARELEHRREBERAR is 25%. Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was
BRI APE M ZE - 72019 approved as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC and was entitled
F - 20205 R20215 2 BEEBEMIEHE to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2019, 2020 and 2021.
15% ° R2022F - FILEHTEERA In 2022, Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. renewed this qualification and will
RIEEZ AR - 115120229 - 2023 continue to enjoy this preferential tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023
FR024FHEZHB BT TS o K and 2024. Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, was
SEMHBEAREGZERNREBERAAN approved as High and New Technology Enterprise in the PRC in 2022, and
202F KR APHESHEMEZE - I was entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in the years of 2022, 2023
20224 -~ 2023%F K204 T BB E and 2024
FAS T %&15% ©
AR TE 0 R (© PRC withholding tax

RIBERTEBIER  AETEKL
B2 R FE PR 20081 1R 1 FT EE 4 KR
FrESMNEIRE & DI SR E AR
T P15 5i10% © A7) 2 5t H o B
BB 2 RIR 7 IR B HE RIEE B R AE ©

Tt 2 B sz Ay R ER A T

BEPEARENERARR G LB HE
5 2008 4F 8 4 SR O AEBR SR R ROE AR
HEMEEINEEERREETHBR
PERBR T B A X FTE £ R AR A
150% EEATMBIMA XL - RIBEPEAR
HFNEBIR B 75 48 B AT R M 122018 5F &
20204 ~ SIBLEE 2023 FEMAER -
HEMEEINEEERREETHBR
FERBLE IR 1S Z FTE £ R R H
175% TE E AT HI R G S (B RRIR 0 ) -

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by a
company established in the PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits
derived after 1 January 2008 are generally subject to a 10% withholding
income tax. The Company has recognised deferred tax liabilities for
undistributed profits of its subsidiaries in the PRC.

Super Deduction for research and development expense

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China that was effective from 2008 onwards,
enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 150% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that period.
According to regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the People’s
Republic of China that was effective from 2018 to 2020, later extended to
2023, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled
to claim 175% of their research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that period
(“Super Deduction”).
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14. FRIBBLHA X @ 14. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
B it (#) Notes: (Continued)
(€ AT A WA (e) Income not subject to tax

BREFEARENEBEARBERHBEMHD
BREEEER  RNER  AEEEPE
W E M B A R L T B R BUE R A
BNMBREREETEEIRXESREEN
17 % #910% ©

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax
Bureau of the People’s Republic of China, the Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland
China are entitled to deduct 10% of their revenue generated from supply of
self-produced industrial hydrogen gas when determining their assessable profits
during the period.

15. & & 15. DIVIDENDS
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T AR
RMB RMB
FHEMNKRE Dividends payable at beginning of
the year 100,671,500 249,443,000
FARERKE Declaration of dividends during
the year = -
FAERNKE Dividends paid during the year - (148,771,500)
100,671,500 100,671,500
HR2023E3R2TENEETe o5 - At a meeting of the Directors held on 27 March 2023, the Directors
EEVIAEERREHIRNARER S did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Reporting
(20214 : #) - Period (2021: Nil).
EHE2022F12 A31H IFFE A & No dividend was paid during the year ended 31 December 2022
1 Bg B.(2021%F : A K #148,771,500 (2021: RMB148,771,500).
JT) e
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16. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per Share is

TR EERE - based on the following data.

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET ARETT
RMB RMB
BR(F8) Earnings/(loss)
RARIHEBANEEEA Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
wm A (E1E) owners of the Company 112,742,520 (26,816,529)
20224 20214
2022 2021
#H #HH
Number Number
[ &vig - gE| Number of Shares
T3 IR N A S 2 Weighted average number of
ordinary shares 1,200,000,000 1,200,000,000
K &F - Note:

R AN 52 B A L 2 20224F 2021412 A31H 1
FEUTFEBEHSERR UTREER
MEB) BEEREART(EE)ER -

Diluted earnings/(loss) per Share were the same as the basic earnings/(loss) per
Share as the Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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172 Y
17. ¥ - BERRE 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
IR
BEY HERR BH EFRE Aok RE ERIR @t
Instruments
Leasehold Electronic and other Construction
Buildings improvements Machinery ~ equipment  equipment Vehicles in progress Total
ARET ARET ARET ARET ARET ARET ARET ARETR
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
H2021%1A1R At 1 January 2021
WA Cost 112,091,677 54,068,343 2,066,200,164 5,975,086 56,282,048 10,585,632 147195763 2,452,398,713
2T Accumulated depreciation (54051488) (3321503 (819503862  (565L241)  (37174044)  (6,40670) - (956,842,899)
REFE Net book amount 58,040,189 19,746,750  1,246,696,302 323,845 19,108,004 4,444,962 147195763 1,495,555,815
BENANF12RBLEE Year ended 31 December 2021
FNRAFE Opening net book amount 58,040,189 19,746,750  1,246,696,302 323,845 19,108,004 4444962 147195763 1495555815
RE Additions - - 1,601,770 685,841 - 2485874 109,872,612 114,646,097
BREERIER Transfer from prepayments for construction
HENRATE in progress and equipment - - - - - - 42635328 42635328
nHEE Internal transfer 109,700,867 - 171,021,402 248,612 4,567,557 - (285,538439) -
HE Disposals - - - - - (507,967) - (507,967)
FEER Depreciation charge (2665205  (2103320) (10L0SL080) (277284 (4667440 (849,734) - (1614159
FREERE Closing net book amount 165,075,761 17643430 1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008,121 5,573,135 14,165,265  1,540,715,120
#202112531R At 31 December 2021
WA Cost 221,792,544 54,068,343  2,238,823,336 6,909,539 60,849,605 13,071,506 14,165,265  2,609,680,138
2iE Accumulated depreciation (56716783 (36424913 (020554942 (5028525 (41841484 (149837 - (1068965,018)
REFE Net book amount 165,075,761 17643430  1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008 121 5,573,135 14165,265  1,540,715,120
R2022F151A At 1 January 2022
s Cost 221,792,544 54,068,343 2,238,823,336 6,909,539 60,849,605 13,071,506 14,165,265 2,609,680,138
23t E Accumulated depreciation (56,716,783)  (36,424,913) (920,554,942)  (5,928,525)  (41,841,484) (7,498,371) - (1,068,965,018)
REFE Net book amount 165,075,761 17,643,430 1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008,121 5,573,135 14,165,265 1,540,715,120
BE02F12ANALEE Year ended 31 December 2022
FNEEFE Opening net book amount 165,075,761 17,643,430 1,318,268,394 981,014 19,008,121 5,573,135 14,165,265 1,540,715,120
HE Additions o o 249,381 1,707,628 191,150 = 142,731,942 144,880,101
BRATRIRE Transfer from prepayments for construction
RENEARE in progress and equipment - - - - - - 6,522,617 6,502,617
nEE R Internal transfer 14,064,380 - 64,479,356 o = - (78,543,736) =
it Wiitten off (7,537,864) - - - - - - (7537,864)
HERR Depreciation charge (8,080,400)  (2,103,320)  (109,013,176) (338,588)  (3,957,023) (615,103) - (124,107,610)
FREERE Closing net book amount 163,521,877 15,540,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
20225128318 At 31 December 2022
WA Cost 215,378,961 54,068,343 2,303,552,073 8,617,167 61,040,755 7,991,840 84,876,088 2,735,525,227
ZiHE Accumulated depreciation (51,857,084)  (38,528,233) (1,020,568,118)  (6,267113)  (45,798,507)  (3,033,808) - (1,175,052,863)
REFE Net book amount 163,521,877 15,540,110 1,273,983,955 2,350,054 15,242,248 4,958,032 84,876,088 1,560,472,364
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
REeEHEGEERERNBOITERX Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated
R statements of comprehensive income as follows:
20224 2021%F
2022 2021
ARY T AR®ETT
RMB RMB
§H & A AR Cost of sales 91,361,141 83,651,823
THRAX Administrative expenses 23,062,378 19,372,789
ML Research and development
expenses 9,684,091 8,589,541
124,107,610 111,614,153

$2022F12 A31H © & & B {3 £ &
FEETEEYNEEMM B #E
B OZEERYNEELENRA
R #425851197T (20214 : A R #
53,424,0937T) - A& B EEREE L
EiREERARERD QG L HH
T HbfE A -

REBAEETIXERBEBHRE
BR - BEECEEAKBEARRNE
LEEIRTTERNS  RAFEHAE
BEEEYE - BERREETRE
Afh - BEERREELEM(RE
EEEMN BRI FAERENRE
LHBEERBRELBEMKTE
1TaHE - AT B S R EE AEER
DNRBEBREEKAME PR ERE

[}

IE °

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is still in the process of applying
for the building ownership certificates of certain of its buildings, and
the aggregated carrying amounts of these buildings amounted to
approximately RMB42,585,119 (2021: RMB53,424,093). The Group
is in the process of obtaining land use rights for the land at Yutian
Branch of Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd..

In preparation for the Group’s future development on its industrial
gas business, the management has performed an impairment
assessment on the Group’s related property, plant and equipment
during the current year, taking into account the Group’s future
operating plans and the outlook of the industry. The assessment was
performed on the relevant assets or cash generating unit (“CGU”)
level when there are indicators of possible impairment of that assets
or CGU. The recoverable amount has been determined based on
the higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.
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17. ¥ - BEREE =) 17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NEBRE E2022F12A31H It FE
BERENEERREEMARAR
SERXERSCELAEVNANFEER
PRHERBHEZEY - TPREBE -
HEAEETBEGEMAR - MEXE
ERETENREEEENM - At
AEBEREEL2EAAABERLEE
AR EE B S5 - tEREA™
SR EITHEIBRTE - ERNIERE
BEVENATS  EEEETAR
BEAARKEEZIT -

BETEER  NEBRE £2022
FIL2ABBILFERBMETHRA
R #7,537,8647T (20214 : #) » I
el ERNEM = (8
B) —FEIBETAR o BRIRIER
. AETEEN20225F12 3184
EEQREBEERLENAE AR
TIT - B E2022F12H31HIEFER

FHEem A AREKT537,8647T °

b=1]

(Continued)

The assets that were impaired by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 included buildings used specifically to serve a
particular customer within one of the Group’s CGU. Following the
customer’s relocation, the relevant assets held no further alternative
use and could not be transferred to a different CGU. Accordingly,
management of the Group assessed their recoverable amount
with reference to their fair value less cost of disposal as level 3
measurement using the market approach. Given there was no
available market for the relevant assets, management determined
the fair value to be RMBNIl.

Based on the assessment result, the Group recognised a written
off for properties of RMB7,537,864 for the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil) and recorded it under the line item of “Other gains/
(losses), net” on the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. As a result of technological written off to its fair value
less cost of disposal which was RMBNiIl as at 31 December 2022
and the amount written off was RMB7,537,864 for the year ended
31 December 2022.
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18. EHEEE 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
T i AR HEME @t
Land Leased
use rights properties Total
AR¥T AR® T AR¥T
RMB RMB RMB
H £2021F12H31H Year ended 31 December
LEE 2021
FYE®EFE Opening net book amount 42,710,846 6,760,194 49,471,040
NE Additions — 963,530 963,530
BB RN 711 Amortisation charge
(note 11) (877,215) (3,890,644) (4,767,859)
FEREMEE Closing net book amount 41,833,631 3,833,080 45,666,711
7"20215F12831H At 31 December 2021
[N Cost 43,747,138 17,100,703 60,847,841
EE Accumulated amortisation (1,913,507)  (13,267,623) (15,181,130)
REFE Net book amount 41,833,631 3,833,080 45,666,711
B £2022F12A318 Year ended 31 December
ILFE 2022
FYIREFE Opening net book amount 41,833,631 3,833,080 45,666,711
BB RN 711 Amortisation charge
(note 11) (877,215) (1,112,813)  (1,990,028)
FRIEEMEE Closing net book amount 40,956,416 2,720,267 43,676,683
7A20225F12H31H At 31 December 2022
[N Cost 43,747,138 17,100,703 60,847,841
REt# Accumulated amortisation (2,790,722) (14,380,436)  (17,171,158)
REZEE Net book amount 40,956,416 2,720,267 43,676,683
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18. EREEE® 18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
20224 2021%F
2022 2021
AR¥T AR T
RMB RMB
i PR B = O Amortisation of right-of-use assets 1,990,028 4,767,859
FMEREZ Interest expenses 197,783 315,222
HEHHSHEBNERESR The cash outflow relating to

short-term leases 3,587,430 125,357

HEERKEEHNR R The cash outflow for leases as
operating activities 49,046 77,417

HEERMEEHNR RN The cash outflow for leases as
financing activities 639,719 781,080
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SFE BB
Computer
software
AR T
RMB
B 22021F12831HILEE Year ended 31 December 2021
FUIREFE Opening net book amount 881,921
BHBR W 711 Amortisation charge (note 11) (612,573)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 269,348
#20215F12831H At 31 December 2021
DN Cost 1,837,718
RET#H Accumulated amortisation (1,568,370)
REFE Net book amount 269,348
B £2022F12A31A 1L FE Year ended 31 December 2022
FHEREFE Opening net book amount 269,348
BB R A 71D Amortisation charge (note 11) (269,348)
FRIEEZFE Closing net book amount -
712022512 A31H At 31 December 2022
DS Cost 1,837,718
R Accumulated amortisation (1,837,718)
FRIEEZFE Closing net book amount -

B T AR 269,348t M A R
#612,5737C 5 Bl 5T A B = 2022F &
2021F12 A31H L FEM A FHER &I

ERPHOITHAP -

Amortisation expenses with the amount of RMB269,348 and
RMB612,573 have been charged to administrative expenses in the

consolidated statements of comprehensive income for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 respectively.
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20. Htt & &= 20. OTHER ASSETS
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARY T ARETT
RMB RMB
FRIERSBOENKIE Prepayments for construction in
progress and equipment 8,432,808 7,043,992
21. 8 21. INVENTORIES
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARYTT AR
RMB RMB
S PX on Finished goods 9,181,456 7,013,367
& 14 Spare parts 2,454,113 3,133,183
B Less: provisions - -
11,635,569 10,146,550
[==-} =k
22. 8 5 EWKE 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES
20224 2021%F
2022 2021
ARY T AR T
RMB RMB
B 5K HKIA Trade receivables 575,170,544 427,210,523
OB EEE Less: allowance for impairment (8,135,000) -
567,035,544 427,210,523
720224 202112 A31H * A& E As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, fair values of the trade
B RWFIEN A BEELRmE receivables of the Group approximated their carrying amounts.
G o
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

b it - Notes:
(@) ATRNEZEHMAEENEFHERIGK (@) Ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance) based on the invoice
HNBREE) WRE DT : date is as follows:
20225 20214
2022 2021
AR¥ T AR T
RMB RMB
BZE6MEA Up to 6 months 529,420,167 338,620,018
61E A =14 6 months to 1 year 14,346,868 63,762,320
15224 1 to 2 years 22,230,873 24,612,666
2F A Over 2 years 1,037,636 215,519
567,035,544 427,210,523

AEENEZERAE-—REZEZAEH
HBEH180K (20214F : 180K ) WA Yz 8] ©
B S ERKRBRREBE[FE -

(b) 20224 % 2021F12 A318 - AE@EE
SFERZENREEAAREE -

The Group’s trade receivables are generally collectible within 180 days (2021:
180 days) from the invoice date. No interest is charged on the trade receivables.

(b) As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of the Group’s trade
receivables are denominated in RMB.

© AEBZSEWSENEEEEEEY (c) Movements on the Group’s credit loss allowance of trade receivables are as

BEMT follows:

20225 20214

2022 2021

AR AR

RMB RMB

RF A At the beginning of the year - -

ERERANEEEEREE Credit loss allowance recognised 8,135,000 -

RER At the end of the year 8,135,000 -
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22. ESEWNFIE @

Bz (&)

(d)

NEEFER RIS HREEREIRM
A AT ERREEBE A&
HRETEH 2 BB BRI HERERER -
TEHBEEDUEBTEEOMFREE R
HENBAEEBBAEE - BAE
BEOTFURAE  URBEEREFEHE
FEUR FRIB BE 180 B B K A BE 1 R B AT
HEZR - 12022912 318 - F18 #
BEBETNT:

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(d) The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition. The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of
related customers and the corresponding historical credit losses. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The loss allowance provisions as at 31 December 2022 is
determined as follows:

BHBR g B R B
B 5 318 A 3Z6f8A 618 B et

Up to 3 3to6 Over 6

months months months
20224 2022 Current past due past due past due Total
AR¥T
RMB

TEH R B X Expected loss rate 0.45% 0.59% 0.75% 15.73%
BRE 4 (E Gross carrying amount 521,062,694 12,903,641 5,063,327 36,140,882 575,170,544
EEEE Loss provision 2,337,500 75,500 38,000 5,684,000 8,135,000

=+,
23. EWE R 23. LOAN RECEIVABLES
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARY T AREETT
RMB RMB
AR R A R R B Unsecured and non-guaranteed,

EMEER fixed-rate loan receivables 118,000,000 118,000,000
W B Less: written off (118,000,000) -
- 118,000,000
B Allowance for impairment (118,000,000) (118,000,000)
n: B2 Add: written off 118,000,000 -

W & R—F 5

Loan receivables, net

(118,000,000)

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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23. EWE R
REE2020F12A318IEFE - K &%
B =mEXRGH 2B EAA
R#118,000,0007C ° ZEX 5157
I NE

@)

720204118300 » 7 £ E &
NAIAFT S BERHEL RIEE
Kzl AEEMRARARH
N4 58 A K #50,000,0007T &)
BEX - mMZERGEH - BX
BEASBBEUNTAESR
KA A B 2020912 A308 #
RO B 8 FE 1+ + B 702022412
A318 X&2021412A318 * &

R2020F12 A1 - REFEEN
RAIBEI L ERIH#E2 - RIBER
W2 AEERARBIREAR
& % A R #53,522,000TH) &
o MZERERE - BXRE
BASERBUARTERARAN
A B 722020412 30 H #5 Bl B
BIHRE (S - B 72022412831
A &2021F12 4318 KB & °

7R2020%12 A1H » REBERQ
RICRIA EFIH#3 - RIBEER
W3 AEE A A ACREEAR
% % A R 14,478,000 T Hh &
FoMZERERE  BXRE
BASBRRIAN FTE BT AR
F| B 72020412 5308 #5 Bl B
ZIHAfE (Y - B 72022412 731
HNM2021F12A31B K EE -

AEEBREHEAEKZERSP
BSREBEAERBEE)
A R #118,000,0007T © 18& 7
2020912 A31H A B EA & &
B o A 22022912 A31H I F
& A8 E AT Uk [ 1 A AT BE 1
% - A R%118,000,000TH &
RETEH -

23. LOAN RECEIVABLES (continueq)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had entered
into three loan agreements with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB118,000,000. Details of these transactions are listed as below:

(@)

On 30 November 2020, the Group entered into the Loan
Agreement 1 with Company A. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement 1, the Group provided a loan with the principal
amount of RMB50,000,000 to Company A, and the loan would
mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

On 1 December 2020, the Group entered into the Loan
Agreement 2 with Company B. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement 2, the Group provided a loan with the principal
amount of RMB53,522,000 to Company B, and the loan would
mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

On 1 December 2020, the Group entered into the Loan
Agreement 3 with Company C. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreements 3, the Group provided a loan with the principal
amount of RMB14,478,000 to Company C, and the loan would
mature and the aggregate principal amount outstanding and
all accrued and unpaid interest shall be immediately due and
payable on 30 December 2020 and was outstanding as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

The Group recorded an impairment loss of RMB118,000,000
separately as a line item on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income which represent the aggregate amount
of principal outstanding as at 31 December 2020. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, after taking into account the
possibility of recoverability, RMB118,000,000 of the loans were
written off.
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24. ZERE 24. NOTE INVESTMENT

20224 20214

2022 2021

AR®TT AR T

RMB RMB

BIHEENEZRRE Secured fixed-rate note investment 66,400,000 66,400,000
B B R 8 Less: written off (66,400,000) -
= 66,400,000

VERIEREY = Allowance for impairment (66,400,000) (66,400,000)
n:esxs Add: written off 66,400,000 -
= (66,400,000)

EBRERE—FE

Note investment, net = -

R2021F1H18H - R E B E QR FD
IV B AR EARDET
MIEHEREE TSR EERE
#80,000,0007 JTt(H8 & B A R #&
66,400,000 C)([ EE ) - RIFEEW
#ARDAEEAEELATERE
ZE A H2021F12 A17H (B4 % H)
FIEREEIAE - ZEMEEFER
R EA5% - tERZREMER - AFID
M) AN 5 (B & 4R H E W RO o 742022
FR2021F12A31H - AL EARE
66,400,000 C K EE  RAEEMNEG
HH BRI ABEEIRE -

REBREHEAEREERFPHS
BEBEEAREREEBEARE
66,400,0007T * #8E 72021412 H31
HYAREERS SR - LEEA YD
MR AT RE IR - Bl E 202212 A31H
IFFE - AR#66,400,0007T H) 2
Bk e

On 18 January 2021, the Group entered into the Investment
Agreement with Company D to subscribe for a secure loan note
issued by Company D with the gross proceeds of HK$80,000,000
(equivalent to RMB66,400,000) (the “Note”). Pursuant to the
Investment Agreement, Company D shall repay the principal amount
outstanding together with all interest accrued thereon up to and
including the date of repayment on 17 December 2021. Fixed return
of the Note is 4.5% per annum. As securities for the Note, Company
D grants a charge on its receivables in favour of the Group. As at
31 December 2022 and 2021, the total amount of RMB66,400,000
was outstanding and was recorded as note investment on the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group recorded an impairment loss of RMB66,400,000
separately as a line item on the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income which represent the amount of principal
outstanding as at 31 December 2021. During the year ended
31 December 2022, after taking into account the possibility of
recoverability, RMB66,400,000 of the Note was written off.
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25. A FIE - &Kk HM 25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

=%
FE W 5% 18 RECEIVABLES

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T AR T
RMB RMB
AT EIEE R (B E B ) Value-added tax (“VAT") recoverable 10,190,850 39,262,715

FE U A Bt 5 k1B Receivables due from related parties
(K1 &£38(c)ii) (note 38(c)(ii)) 67,629 1,335,425
NAEEREMIENHIEA Utilities and other prepayments 9,267,645 8,600,858
2 Deposits 2,338,587 2,055,746
EHAh Others 703,299 708,728
22,568,010 51,963,472

M20224F K% 2021912 A31H « E M fE
WHIENEBREEZZEANARE RS
TLETE - WEERSHERHN AR
BEMAE -

BE KB HIE - B MEMN
1R GH PR AR BT 2 R0 H Ath FE R TE I
REBEREERRE  HMNE Z=2022
F % 2021F12 A31A IEFEH B 1 R
BERETRBREAELEE - 8
HEEERBE  RARZIZEKNK
BEENRES B TREWRIEBEREED
FHE - MR20224F K% 2021F12 431
B - BER BT AEATH RN R
T8 BI AR PR A B R A e

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of other
receivables were primarily denominated in RMB and HKD and
approximated their fair values at each of the reporting dates.

Other receivables that are measured at amortised costs included
receivables due from related parties, deposits and others were
considered to be of low credit risk, and thus the impairment provision
recognised during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
was limited to 12 months expected losses. The expected credit
losses was minimal as these receivables had no history of default,
certain amount of receivables were subsequently settled, and there
was no significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast
future economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.
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26 RERBEEEEY 26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@ RERRTEEWERE: (a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

20225 20214

2022 2021

AR ANREETT

RMB RMB

RITHE < Cash at banks 360,738,465 297,552,618
AT EIEE: Denominated in:

20225 20214

2022 2021

AR ARETT

RMB RMB

AR RMB 296,516,532 120,812,282

x5 UsD 4,673,069 4,275,822

BT HKD 59,548,864 172,464,514

360,738,465 297,552,618
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continueq)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

BR . financing activities:
=E HESHE @t
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
AR¥TT AR%R AR¥T
RMB RMB RMB
R2021£181A At 1 January 2021 594,496,401 13,303,732 607,800,133
RERSRENED: Change from financing cash flows:
RETER Additions of new borrowings 383,179,900 - 383,179,900
BEER Repayment of borrowings (375,960,000) - (375,960,000)
HERK Lease payments - (858,497) (858,497)
EARE Exchange adjustments - (1,618) (1,618)
Heth# g Other changes:
BBK A Finance costs - 315,222 315,222
HET S New lease entered - 963,530 963,530
M2021F12A318 K At 31 December 2021 and
2022F1A1H 1 January 2022 601,716,301 13,722,369 615,438,670
RERERENEE: Change from financing cash flows:
AEFER Additions of new borrowings 480,833,818 - 480,833,818
BRER Repayment of borrowings (510,020,000) - (510,020,000)
HERK Lease payments - (688,765) (688,765)
ERRE Exchange adjustments - 31,986 31,986
Hih@ s Other changes:
KR Finance costs - 197,783 197,783
20225124318 At 31 December 2022 572,530,119 13,263,373 585,793,492
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27. B AR EBHEFTAHME 27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
eWE(EAAEBES THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
AHfGZeWm)NE INCOME (“FVOCI”)

RMEE

BRARBEFAEMEE RGNS F The financial assets at FVOCI comprise the following investments in
BERB TSN ERERKEE notes receivables:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T AR
RMB RMB
e Z & Notes receivables 28,812,893 23,443,760
HRZEEENIHARE  EES These assets are classified as current assets due to their short
HARDEE - maturity.
PHEEZLZSREER KA REBE On disposal of these financial assets, any related balance within the
SEAHMARE U S W B A T T 48 FVOCI reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

BBREEFHEERS -
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CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial assets

and liabilities:

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®RT AR T
RMB RMB
SREE Financial assets
HEEKLT BN EE Financial assets at amortised
cost
—Z S WHIE — Trade receivables 567,035,544 427,210,523
— %% BARIEREMEK - Deposits, prepayments and
B (T BERREEE other receivables (excluding
WoBENARSERAEM recoverable VAT and
B 5K IE) prepaid utilities and other
prepayments) 3,109,515 4,099,899
- BERREEEY - Cash and cash equivalents 360,738,465 297,552,618
BARBEIAREMES KA Financial assets at FVOCI
THEE
— W EE - Notes receivables 28,812,893 23,443,760
TREE Financial liabilities
BEBELLTENEHERE Financial liabilities at amortised
cost
—fER (e R EFFE) - Borrowings (principal and
accrued interest) 573,949,079 603,308,685
—B5 R HEMERMNRIE - Trade and other payables
(TEEFH e RENTEAK (excluding salaries and bonus
FET R IE R BT F) B payables and taxes payable
and interests payable) 575,418,828 461,377,839
—HERE-AH - Lease liabilities — current 10,834,491 10,527,017
—~-HESE R - Lease liabilities — non-current 2,428,882 3,195,352
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9. EZKHMENKIE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR AR¥ETT

RMB RMB

B 5 ME IR Trade payables 381,680,822 247,284,424
BRREREENRIE Payables for construction and

equipment 49,457,365 75,922,101

J& < % B Dividend payable 100,671,500 100,671,500

BB RS B R R IE Payables for operating service fee 21,168,000 14,334,000

FERBLIE Taxes payable 829,098 3,997,219

JET 3 & RAIE4L Salaries and bonus payable 6,649,128 3,641,548

HERBKEENKIE Payables for professional service fee 13,744,238 18,599,275

Ze Deposits 1,887,472 1,746,538

A F) B Interests payable 1,418,960 1,592,384

Hith Others 6,809,431 2,820,001

584,316,014 470,608,990

NEREHR/EENEZ RN FTIAD

Ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date are as

RO follows:
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR® T AR
RMB RMB
D1 Less than 1 year 320,585,126 227,833,173
1Z22%4 1 to 2 years 55,841,805 16,730,884
2FE3F 2 to 3 years 3,662,931 1,197,500
FBiA3F Over 3 years 1,590,960 1,522,867
381,680,822 247,284,424

R20224 K 2021%12 A31H * "&EH
MEZREMRENRDEUARES

'fgo

CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.
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30. f& X

30. BORROWINGS

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T AR T
RMB RMB
JEBNER : Non-current:
1F % BB RBERM D) Long-term borrowings due after one
year (note i) 330,770,119 313,206,301
BIHA Current:
1F R E ) & BE R D) Long-term borrowings due within one
year (note i) 41,760,000 90,510,000
% B A R (B At Short-term borrowings (note i) 200,000,000 198,000,000
572,530,119 601,716,301
Krata) Note (i):

M20196128 - AEEFIZ—HREXBRTT
A& BB A R 560,000,000 &) A F
HER®E RZEXRERDMNERAAR
SEMBARFTRKZ(EL)REERARNE
FEEFEER  THEARERFRR(BELWE
BARRANIXERBEEME © K20205F
9A - 2021%2A - 20226 A K 202249A © F
= 54.9875% 8 A F B E A R 121,496,401
7T+ AR26,179,9007T « A R %#12,833,8187T
K AR #28,000,0007T 755 5l 8 5% # & R EX ¢
2022412 A31H K%2021F12A31H * AR
62,530,1197C ]2 A R#41,716,30LC R B8 - &
A R #19,760,0007T & A R #8,510,0007T 1R
BEEFHERR —FRIE - 02022612731
AK&2021F12 A3IBE M EENREFE S
Bl A A K #16,597,96670 & A K #16,957,489
5T e

In December 2019, the Group entered into a five-year loan facility with an aggregate
principal amount not exceeding RMB560,000,000 from Bank of Communication.
Borrowings drawn down from the loan facility are collateralized by the fixed assets
of Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group, and
shall be used in the construction of the industrial gas production plant of Zhonggqi
Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd.. In September 2020, February 2021, June
2022 and September 2022, five-year loans of RMB21,496,401, RMB26,179,900,
RMB12,833,818 and RMB28,000,000 with an annual interest rate of 4.9875% were
drawn down from the facility respectively. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, RMB62,530,119 and RMB41,716,301 was outstanding in which RMB19,760,000
and RMB8,510,000 was due within one year according to repayment schedule. The
net book value of the pledged assets was RMB16,597,966 and RMB16,957,489 as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 respectively.
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30. ﬁ% %’ik(/%) 30. BORROWINGS (continuea)

Bt - (&)

72020548 - REBT =R BERIMNRT
RN 4 5 T8 B A K #5100,000,0007T £ = F
HERRME - ZHFMEASIBNN =ZFHE
A R#100,000,0007T J5 % 5 72020434 -
202096 % 2020F10A B A S IR AL » AN &
EERRAGESEER Wl UMBEFF
% H4.90% ) = F 81 B 5 A K #100,000,000
TL 0 S ER D BIR2022F118 K 202212 A
#2 B o 742022412 A31H 2021412 A31H -
A & 200,000,000t & A K #252,000,000
TLAEE - Hp ARM22,000,0007T & A R
82,000,000 TR FEEHBMAN —FAEH -
ERBEEAREER -

2021567 - ANEEET Y —HAR SN E L E
R ERITAS M5 T iE A K#200,000,000
THEREE - AR#¥110,000,0007TE & Z &l
EIRE - FF & A5.00% ° 122022912 A31H
2021412 A318 - A R#110,000,0007T & A
R ¥110,000,000 7T A (& 32 o {5 5B TR K&
EIR -

B 72 (i) -

M2019F 1A » REBFTZ—HRBE R WMRITA
4 5 TR B A K #100,000,0007T K 7 4F £
BRERRME - K2022F12 A318 2021612
A318  EEFHEA4.568%H G HRITIE K
AR #100,000,0007T 5 ZERERFERE »
ERBEEAREER -

2021108 » AL BT —HAREHRE T
iR 1T A & 48 %8 B A K 149,000,000 #) —
FHER B R - R2021F12A318 « &
FRABABRHAEERHBETERARE
49,000,000t Iy B ZBER E R MR - B
202212 A31H - ZEREBEE - EEEER
BEERREER-

Note (i): (Continued)

In April 2020, the Group entered into three three-year loan facility with an aggregate
principal amount not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of Cangzhou. Three
three-year loans of RMB100,000,000 with an annual interest rate of 5.13% were drawn
down from the facility in March 2020, June 2020 and October 2020 respectively.
The Group reschedule the loans through early settlement and entered two three-
year loans of RMB100,000,000 with an annual interest rate 4.90% which were drawn
in November 2022 and December 2022 respectively. As at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021, RMB200,000,000 and RMB252,000,000 was outstanding in which
RMB22,000,000 and RMB82,000,000 was due within one year according to repayment
schedule. The borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.

In June 2021, the Group entered into a loan facility with an aggregate principal
amount not exceeding RMB200,000,000 from Hebei Tangshan Rural Commercial
Bank. RMB110,000,000 was drawn from the facility with an annual interest rate of
5.00%. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, RMB110,000,000 and
RMB110,000,000 was outstanding. The borrowing is unsecured and unguaranteed.

Note (ii):

In January 2019, the Group entered into a two-year revolving loan facility with
an aggregate principal amount not exceeding RMB100,000,000 from Bank of
Communications. As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021, short-term
bank borrowings of RMB100,000,000 with a fixed rate of 4.568% per annum were
drawn down from such revolving loan facility. The borrowings are unsecured and

unguaranteed.

In October 2021, the Group entered into a one-year revolving loan agreement with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB49,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China. As at 31 December 2021, short-term bank borrowings outstanding
of RMB49,000,000 with annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down from such
revolving loan agreement. As at 31 December 2022, the borrowing was repaid. The
repaid borrowing is unsecured and unguaranteed.
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30. f& K@)

B et - (%)

M20215F1A AKEFT Y -—HEHREFET
R 1T A & 48 %8 B A K %49,000,0007T #) —
FHER B R W - KR20215612A318 « &
FRABABRH A EERHETERARE
49,000,000t 1Y E ZBERE BE R M HE R - B
2022F12A318 - ZEREBEE  -BEEER
BEERREER-

2022498 AKEFL—BABEFET
iR 17 A € 42 5 & A R #550,000,0007T £ —
FHERE R E - K2022612A318 © &
FRABABRHAEERHBEITERARE
50,000,0007C T B Z R E R B IR » 3K
BEERREER-

2022108 - AE BRIV -—HEREFET
iR 17 8 € 42 5 & A R #550,000,0007T £ —
FHERERIHE - K2022612A318 © &
MR RA3BNH R EERBRITERARE
50,000,0007C 73 B Z R E R B IR A » &K
BEERRERER-

#H £2022512 3318 L £E For the year ended 31 December 2022

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note (ii): (Continued)

In November 2021, the Group entered into a one-year revolving loan agreement with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB49,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China. As at 31 December 2021, short-term bank borrowings outstanding
of RMB49,000,000 with annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down from such
revolving loan agreement. As at 31 December 2022, the loan was repaid. The repaid
borrowing is unsecured and unguaranteed.

In September 2022, the Group entered into a one-year revolving loan agreement with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB50,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China. As at 31 December 2022, short-term bank borrowings outstanding
of RMB50,000,000 with annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down from such

revolving loan agreement. The borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.

In October 2022, the Group entered into a one-year revolving loan agreement with
an aggregate principal amount of RMB50,000,000 from Industrial and Commercial
Bank of China. As at 31 December 2022, short-term bank borrowings outstanding
of RMB50,000,000 with annual interest rate of 4.35% was drawn down from such

revolving loan agreement. The borrowings are unsecured and unguaranteed.

£ ¥ Annual Report 2022

231



B ORI R M A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ E For the year ended 31 December 2022

30. B K@) 30. BORROWINGS (continuea)

R20225F 2021512 A31H - A&
EFRATI EEE:

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in following currencies:

20225 20214

2022 2021

AR ANRETT

RMB RMB

AR RMB 572,530,119 601,716,301

REFE R 2022F K 2021F12 A318H)
BB BB RIOT

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the maturities of the Group’s
borrowings are set out as follows:

2022%F 20214

2022 2021

AR T AREETT

RMB RMB

1F R Within 1 year 241,760,000 288,510,000
1224 Between 1 and 2 years 211,560,000 180,200,000
2Z3%F Between 2 and 3 years 119,210,119 133,006,301
572,530,119 601,716,301

A20224 2 2021F12 A3LHHI B A

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the effective interest rates are

R as follows:
2022%F 2021%F
2022 2021
FRERIRITER Short-term bank borrowings 4.45% 4.67%
RHERITER Long-term bank borrowings 5.06% 5.21%
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N HEAE 31. LEASE LIABILITIES

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR T ARETT
RMB RMB

SIEBEERNFKEH Minimum lease payment due
-1F K — Within 1 year 10,983,063 10,723,994
-1E24F - Between 1 to 2 years 832,104 1,747,129
-2%54F — Between 2 to 5 years 1,830,708 1,830,708
13,645,875 14,301,831
B RREEE A Less: future finance charges (382,502) (579,462)
HEBEBRE Present value of lease liabilities 13,263,373 13,722,369
-1 A - Within 1 year 10,834,491 10,527,017
-1ZE2%F - Between 1 to 2 years 717,994 1,484,464
—2F5%F — Between 2 to 5 years 1,710,888 1,710,888
13,263,373 13,722,369
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2. ELERBH 32. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
RIEFEHEFBE AT : Details of the deferred income tax are analysed as follows:
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR AR
RMB RMB
RIERIBEE Deferred tax assets 3,304,108 2,037,083
BEERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities (27,158,986) (19,785,267)
(23,854,878) (17,748,184)
PHREEHEBEEERABARE Details of the deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and
FRAFERBEFENFBOT movements during the current and prior year is as follows:
V¥ BER AEERN  BZEWRNE
RERHE OREEIE HERR o
Impairment Allowance on
on property, Withholding impairment
plant and tax on profit to of trade
equipment be distributed receivables Total
AR®TR ARBTT AR®BTT ARMR
RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2021F1A1H As at 1 January 2021 (2,345,208) 11,124,144 - 8,778,936
BRaftaelak Debited to the consolidated
statements of comprehensive
income 308,125 8,661,123 - 8,969,248
R2021F12831B K At 31 December 2021 and
2022F1A1H 1 January 2022 (2,037,083) 19,785,267 - 17,748,184

2,/ (BR)AfGAMWER  Debited/(credited) to the
consolidated statements of

comprehensive income 308,125 18,390,319 (1,575,150) 17,123,294
KN Payment during the year - (11,016,600) - (11,016,600
RK2022F12A31H At 31 December 2022 (1,728,958) 27,158,986 (1,575,150) 23,854,878
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ELZEMEH

Hyat -

BERBECEMEREREBBRE  A%E
ARPBECEDIRGEIEPEEIIEEER
AR A% B 3 B 2008 F1A1E #B = & ) & F 1
MI0%H B - BRIEBBRIDERLTHE
B T A2008F1A1E 2 Bl E & B K 5 R & F
B R BRFEINBL o B3 AR5 B 1% ) AN & B BB
BRAAINKEBE  FtAEERBENERR
BARDIRFETEENETEHIESEEAES
ARARBRDIENEBRERRETIRERE -

RIEFMEHEED R A BB EEB B RATHR
B E R AR M AT R K SR E R BOE
MERBEATKEERRR - R20224F %2021
FI2A31H AEBEVERBRESFIARE
142,611,528 &2 A R#102,821,789 7T HE R IR T
FISTHEE - LS B IEERFR20235F %2032
FEH -

H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

32. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES (continued)

Note:

According to the PRC CIT Law and its related regulations, the Group is subject to a
withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements, for dividends
distributed by a PRC enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the PRC
or earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008 and undistributed earnings
generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempted from such withholding tax. Since the
Group controls the dividend policy of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries, deferred tax liability
arising from the undistributed profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries is only provided
to the extent that such profits are expected to be distributed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carrying forwards and
deductible temporary differences to the extent that realisation of the related tax
benefits through the future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2022 and
2021, the Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets in respect of losses of
RMB142,611,528 and RMB102,821,789 respectively. These tax losses will expire from
2023 to 2032.

B% 2R 33. SHARE CAPITAL
B EE o
Number of
shares Amount
EE Authorised
SRMEE0.0001ETHEEMR : Ordinary shares of
USDO0.0001 each:
2022412 A31H & At 31 December 2022 and 2,000,000,000 UsD200,000
2021412 A31H 31 December 2021 (Equivalent to

RMB1,388,691)
200,000 7t
(ZEAR®
1,388,6917T)
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33. B& ()

33. SHARE CAPITAL (continueq)

R & B AR R
Number of
shares RMB
ERTRBEEER: Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
2022412 A31H & At 31 December 2022 and
202112 A31H 31 December 2021 1,200,000,000 836,016

34. & 1H
rEE
H 220225 % 2021F12 A318 -5
B AEBRESHFBEEINE6H
EEEERK -

BalNFEEERBHONT

@ BHHEERBZBBRGHOEE
B ERBEITHAR (D - 20195
67 AEBHECCIFLEEE
ik - A& £%859,650,000
X T ° N2019F 1178 + CGl#EH
BRREERERNABARRTA
4,245,49408 Bty - EHR AR
2,9897T & A K #67,930,1177C
DR ARA R HA M -

(b) ETRBEEFEERBEABEFRE
SEER AP EIA A KB A A A
FRH (ERHBARKFE
EEMBRER)EBENNRE B
EREEATRGRBERZSE
B A RS AR 8950% A 1k o
REEZTRBEBT AN -
MDA BE 2 AT s 1B g & A
BRoN - BARREOSRTEHRT
BIRZEMNBRAREFMER
#)25% °

34. RESERVES
The Group

Details of the movements of the Group’s reserves for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity.

The nature and purposes of reserves within equity as follows:

(@ Share premium is arising from the issuance of new shares
at price in excess of the par value of the shares. In June
2019, the Group entered into an interest-free loan agreement
with CGI with the principal amount of USD9,650,000. In
November 2019, CGI capitalised such shareholder loan into
4,245,494 shares of the Company, of which RMB2,989 and
RMB67,930,117 were recorded as share capital and other
reserves, respectively.

(b)  Statutory surplus reserves represented the amount transferred
from net profit for the year of the subsidiaries established in
the PRC (based on the subsidiaries PRC statutory financial
statements) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until
the statutory surplus reserves reach 50% of the registered
capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory surplus reserves
cannot be reduced except either in setting off the accumulated
losses or increasing capital, provided the remaining balance
of this reserve is not less than 25% registered capital of the
subsidiaries.
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34. % E )

AEEE)

(b)

(%)

AN - RIBEFBEINE B EIER
FEIIEBEENBARAME
RARMRX AT - BHAEF
EHEENRFTERENENA
MR ERRETERTEENM
BEL NETHEESOHA
MEDHEAFDREFEI10% -
ERBECEREIEIMER
50% B Al 8 7B B 5K -

B 34,2 4860 45 4 B DA A R MDA
ob ) 3 B B 15 71 B ¢ 2 1 Bt
B E SRR R E
o BRI A0 TR
BT -

REEBNEZELERAFIELE
MREeRAa((EHRE)
R2007F L BEERE - B
ANATE oM m A R AT (A
8 B 17 ) 9 Bl ¥k 5 50% K 50% °
FR20154F - IRIE—RIAAE
Hipa - WG B EH R EH
REEH50% R EEETAAR -
URBaikHn=EMRB R
Al EBEERMEEFRAA
(EBEEENIFHAENARA
BT 1D H50% ° % AR E
B FEHREKARQRD
2EMBAG  MARAHLEL
B EEFMECGIH B #E50%
50% °

34. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

In addition, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on
Enterprises with Foreign
provisions of the articles of association of wholly owned foreign
subsidiaries in the PRC, appropriation from net profits (after

Investments and the stipulated

offsetting accumulated losses brought forward from prior
years) should be made by these companies to their respective
Reserve Fund. The percentage of net profit to be appropriated
to the Reserve Fund is not less than 10% of the net profit.
When the balance of the Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the
registered capital, such transfer needs not be made.
Currency translation differences comprise all relevant
translation differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of operations with functional currency
other than RMB. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with
the accounting policy set out in note 4(c).

Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd. (“TTG”), the major
operating company of the Group, was established in 2007 as a
joint venture company owned as to 50% by the Company and
50% by HBIS Company Limited (“HBIS Company”). In 2015,
pursuant to a series of corporate restructuring agreements,
HBIS Company transferred its 50% equity interests in TTG to
the Company in exchange for 50% of the Company’s issued
shares which were held by Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment
Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of HBIS Company. Following this corporate restructuring, TTG
became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and the
Company became owned as to 50% by SH Huitang Zhihe and
50% by CGI.
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34. % E )

rEE

(d)

(&)

2007 K 37 E i mEE R - K
NCIDSOTE il v RS =NCIh= -9 =
&t 51 A fE iR S g s A E
E N R #72,068,6007T  Ft Al
AR EE M S - ARG R
iR BT EM
RESE RN AR B T E &
BEYMEN(BZEYERN
Z) HRA30F HERE
MRENEXEERR - E2E
Wi RmET A EEESYE
BER ZEREREEDE
EHETERMIEERTMKG
MHE - BIEE = H{HER
EHEERE  FTNETRE
ZEFHREEEMRBEHNE
1 B A R#72,068,6007T ° &
R Aok R = LY B
MEFHFERAEEE  EBE
BAEGEEIFREN - I
B {5 A AR AR 8 AR ) 7 7F 3
RENLERMEEMEZSE
FFAEEPRH MR -

RARAME * ARAMELRS
& - 20074 B fE i JEE R
VREBERHBERLZH A28
%A A R#72068,600T ° B
HARR &304 ¢ a0 X Pt
HAAT SRR 15 TR B M G SR ) ¥ o
FTEREMREEZ BPERAR
HRENEHER - AEER
2015F AR BMHF - AR AT
TREEZERERNERNT
CGl » IRIEBEA LR KCGIER
WA EREBRERBZE
HRETHEEBAENEE -
I % 5% % 3R B A0 8% A 20154F 12
A3IB &M AR RRPES
WEAAREE] -

34. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(d)
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(Continued)

Upon establishment of TTG in 2007, each of the Company
and the HBIS Company agreed to make additional capital
contributions into TTG in the same proportion with the
amount of RMB72,068,600, respectively. With respect to
HBIS Company’s contribution, HBIS Company entered into
an agreement with TTG to grant TTG the rights to use
certain of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings (“Building
Use Agreement”) for a period of 30 years, same as official
joint venture period of 30 years of TTG. The Building Use
Agreement also specified that the plants and buildings
should be transferred to TTG as HBIS Company’s capital
contribution when the property certificates are obtained.
Based on a valuation report issued by a third party appraiser,
both parties agreed that the value of such use rights as at
the agreement date was RMB72,068,600. TTG recorded this
amount as right of use assets in its statement of financial
position, and amortized them on a straight-line basis over the
30-year period, and correspondingly credited “other reserves”
under equity since the use rights were considered as HBIS
Company’s capital contribution to TTG.

With respect to the Company, the Company made cash
contribution and entered into an interest free long-term loan
arrangement with TTG in 2007, with a total principal amount
of RMB72,068,600. The term of the loan was 30 years and
shall be automatically converted into TTG’s paid-in capital upon
the transfer of HBIS Company’s plants and buildings to TTG
as described above. In the Group’s corporate restructuring
in 2015, the Company transferred its right on the loan to
CGI at Nil consideration. Based on the contractual terms
and the commitment made by CGI, management concluded
that the loan did not meet the definition of financial liability
and recorded the amount in “other reserves” in equity
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2015.
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34. #E=

M2018F12 A - REEECGIF]
UiHENIER R P ERE
oEINERREHRENAE
M CGIE & B EIR £9.658 &8
FL(HHE N AR%66,667,025
TL) o BRGESAHMEBER
E}‘]?D/@Z °

A CGI 2 5 5 5/ B8 10 & 50 1% &
RATAZ I E R - FEH R R

A D ET HaR R AT AR L
MmBEEME R HE Wl L—
HIWMEEFBHZE Bt

FEMRESBEMRERAZER
5 R 322 S ) () A 8 AR 19 2 A A8
o At EHREAKLLER
HEAEEENREHER
ANR#44,041,9227C 0 HE&5E
EEHEMBEREESRTPIR -

34. RESERVES (Continued)

The Group (Continued)

(d)

(Continued)

In December 2018, the Group entered into agreement with
CGI to early terminate the above loan agreement and both
parties agreed that the loan would be fully settled with a cash
repayment of USD9.65 million (equivalent to RMB66,667,025)
by TTG to CGIl. The repayment was recorded as a reduction
in the balance of other reserves.

Concurrent with the early termination of the loan agreement
between CGl and TTG, TTG and HBIS Company entered
into an agreement to early terminate the above Building Use
Agreement and entered into a new Assets Use Agreement
whereby TTG will pay rental fees to HBIS Company for the
use of the plants and buildings going forward. Accordingly,
TTG wrote off the unamortised balance of the right of use
assets with the amount of RMB44,041,922 at the time of the
termination, with the same amount being reduced from the
balance of other reserves.
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35. R ATINBBEARRTE 35. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

20224 20214
2022 2021
ks AR®T ARETT
Notes RMB RMB
ERBEE Non-current assets
FHREEE Right-of-use assets 80,294 562,059
HER —HEHBAR Investment in a subsidiary 920,668,379 920,668,379
ERT—HEHEB AR Loan to a subsidiary 214,384,800 196,224,000
1,135,133,473 1,117,454,438
REBEE Current assets
bi-da Deposit 48,966 44,825
& U B8 B 5 FOE Amount due from a related
party 44,690 -
JE W — R B /B A |l 3R IR Amount due from a subsidiary 301,445 -
JE UL E R Loan receivables 23 - -
ZEKRE Note investment 24 - -
HeREZEY Cash and cash equivalents 86,241,483 33,573,700
86,636,584 33,618,525
REBEE Current liabilities
B 5 & B A T B Trade and other payables 112,545,738 117,985,996
A —EKBAr KA Amount due to a subsidiary - 510,242
HEAE Lease liabilities 90,398 481,555
112,636,136 118,977,793
REBEEFE Net current liabilities (25,999,552) (85,359,268)
BWEERABERS Total assets less current
liabilities 1,109,133,921 1,032,095,170
kERBEE Non-current liability
HEARE Lease liabilities - 82,740
EEFE NET ASSETS 1,109,133,921 1,032,012,430
EXRRFHE Capital and reserves
fi% 7% Share capital 33 836,016 836,016
1 Reserves 1,222,061,271 1,209,394,896
RETEBE Accumulated losses (113,763,366) (178,218,482)
ExmE TOTAL EQUITY 1,109,133,921 1,032,012,430
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35. R AT BEARRLE 35. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF

(%) FINANCIAL POSITION (continuea)
AARRREROFEBEESHOT

The movements of the Company’s reserves during the reporting
period are as follows:

R 135 B EXER ESlF A
Currency
Share translation  Accumulated
premium differences losses Total
AR AR AR ARBTT
RMB RMB RMB RMB
®2021F1A1A At 1 January 2021 1,208,504,005 10,537,872 (60,594,040)  1158,447,837
FRBER Loss for the year — - (117624,442)  (117,624,442)
BEANAFELZELEZE Exchange differences arising on
translation of the Company — (9,646,981) — (9,646,981)
R20215F12831B K At 31 December 2021 and
2022F1A1H 1 January 2022 1,208,504,005 890,891 (178,218,482 1,031,176,414
FNER Profit for the year - - 64,455,116 64,455,116
BERNAFMEEZERLZE Exchange differences arising on
translation of the Company - 12,666,375 - 12,666,375
#2022F12A31H As 31 December 2022 1,208,504,005 13,557,266 (113,763,366)  1,108,297,905
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36. 1 M B 2~ B B #E = 36. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
20224 K 2021F12 A318 © BTB A Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are
AIFEBWOT: shown as follows:

BREXR/
WEARAE MR LS EEMEX KARAEERELS TEER

Proportion of
Paid up capital/  equity interest attributable to Principal

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation registered capital the Company activities
EE F:
Direct Indirect
ELERRRARAR ML) E - EREELA ARHT77,965,40470 TERBNEERLERE
Tangshan Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.* PRC, limited liability company* RMB777,965,404 100% - Production and supply of
(BILERRBERRE) fotg) industrial gases
REERRRERAA (W) P BERERAH A #12,000,0007 BRI RARMEER
Luanxian Tangsteel Gases Co., Ltd.* PRC, limited liability company RMB12,000,000 - 100%  Production and supply of
(£ EEARRERAT) (hote) LNG
BUEERTNMANERAR W) E - BREELA AR 3,000,0007 RERIRARME S
Tangshan Tangsteel Dongxin Village Gases PRC, limited liability company RMB3,000,000 - 100%  An automobile LNG
Refuelling Station Co., Ltd.* filing station

(BWEARFH MR IRERAR) fmote)

PAR(BWRERRAR W2 hE - BREERA AR 72,000,000 IERENEERME
Zhonggi Investment (Tangshan) Gases Co., Ltd*  PRC, limited liability company RMB72,000,000 - 100%  Production and supply of
(PEE(BEL)REBB L) (note) industrial gases
Hat: FARARIEBEHRA12A3BEREBMIK Notes: All companies have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.

FEHER -

# BEFEERELRAIEBEECE # Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law

* The English is for identification purpose only.
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37. EXREE 37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
RERBETAERREENERL Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet
T incurred is as follows:

2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR R AREETT
RMB RMB
U 1 DA T B R Commitments for the acquisition of:
—ME - BEREE - Property, plant and equipment 126,129,153 47,275,986

3. BHML X5 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
fis —77 Al B Bk Rl B 1 i 55 — 7 s Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability,
S AEHT B REERKREHT directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant
CERTEN AEFHEREH influence over the other party in making financial and operating
EoWERFXHARES HAEX decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are
TENMAES T TERR subject to common control, common significant influence or joint
BRE - control.

THRmACEAEEEEESRK, The following companies are related parties of the Group that had
ARG AREB @ T - balances and/or transactions with the Group.
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38. B AR Z )

(a)

LAWK AR S V&R

38.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(@) Names and relationships with related parties

=t B
Name Relationship
hEREREERAF(CGI) KRR
China Gas Investors Ltd. (“CGI") Shareholder
LEEEBAREFRAR(LEERBA) S
Shanghai Huitang Zhihe Investment Co., Ltd. (“SH Huitang Zhihe”) Shareholder

B HAERDE(CTHEER)
HBIS Company Limited (‘HBIS Company”)

LBEEBNNERF
Parent company of SH Huitang Zhihe

BUREEEEREEAR(DTHESR]) R 17 B AR 3R

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Co., Ltd. (‘HBIS Tangsteel”) Shareholder of HBIS Company
AHEEERAR(CTEAER]) AHERNET QA

HBIS Group Co., Ltd. (‘HBIS") Parent company of HBIS Tangsteel
BLRERMARRAAF A B A7 B B R R

Tangshan Middle and Heavy Plate Co., Ltd.
EHRBRENBERARA
Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace Charge Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary of HBIS Company
A5 B A B B R R
Subsidiary of HBIS Company

AMEZMEBRAR A 8 B A B B R A
HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Company
BUWAFHAEREEAR k3 0kl NG
Tangshan Stainless Steel Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
EILMEEEEREKERERAR AREROIERR
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Heavy Machinery and Equipment Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
BLUREEERRIERERAR 5 7 S ) O I A
Tangshan Iron and Steel Group High-strength Car Plate Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
BILAITAAERERALE LA k3 okl PN
Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda Electric Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
EHBLEEL)KBEEREELDT AHERGBEA
Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan) Water Co., Ltd. Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
EHERELECIBERARN(ERESR) MHEROBEA

HBIS Tangsteel Meijin (Tangshan) Coal Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan Meijin") Associate of HBIS Tangsteel

EHIENES -
Tangshan Hongci Hospital

AHEEROBEA
Associate of HBIS Tangsteel

ERERIREMRABRAA AHEERGOBEA
Tangsteel International Engineering Technology Corp. Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
ZRREEBSNER (@) Names and relationships with related parties
=L B
Name Relationship
BILERMHHMEERAF EE-F ol IN
Tangshan Huitang Wulian Technology Co., Ltd. Associate of HBIS Tangsteel
AR (LB REERERAA —AREERRNHERR
CGll (Shanghai) Investment Management Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of an indirect shareholder
BLUBENEERNERAA A 58 75 S8 ) O/ 2
Tangshan Huitang New Business Co., Ltd. Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
EFLREsEeBrEERANA(ELEE]) 3k PN

Tangshan Iron and Steel Group Jinheng Enterprise Development Corporation
(“Tangshan Jinheng”)

ElLeBANBRERAF

Tangshan Jinheng Human Resource Management Co., Ltd.

BILEEIEARMREERAF

Tangshan Huitang Industrial Technology Service Co., Ltd.

MM I ERMRBEER AR

Hegang Industrial Technology Service Co., Ltd.

Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel

ElLeEaHBAF
Subsidiary of Tangshan Jinheng
9] 58 7 8 A R R )
Subsidiary of HBIS Tangsteel
AREENKE R
Subsidiary of HBIS
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38.FEE AR Z#)

(b) HEBETNEARS
() BEIHEX YE-

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties
(i) Purchases of utilities, property, plant and

%5 K 3R equipment
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARM T AR T
RMB RMB
A 8] {19 7B PR 2 Rl HBIS Company Limited 87,647,146 97,926,325
B TS EREE QR Tangshan Stainless Steel Co.,
Ltd. 1,984,394 44,481,681
Bl ERMBR AT Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. 220,705,113 160,758,268
FE #ff 5% $7 Tangshan Meijin 175,858,195 103,263,893
= 3 gk 7 7 (B L) 7K 7 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan)
BEREERAA Water Co., Ltd. 12,352,570 11,975,559
A 8] 4 = 3 i B PR A 7 HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co.,
Ltd. 408,234,630 363,406,147
906,782,048 781,811,873
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38.FEE AR Z#) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(b) EEEBENEARZ (&) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
(i) 35 EE dm (i) Sales of products
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARY T AR®ETT
RMB RMB
] #f % 19 B BR A A HBIS Company Limited 1,926,585 22,601,027
BULUNEMERETAA Tangshan Stainless Steel Co.,
Ltd. 340,316 59,022,986
BEWFRERMBRAF Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. 324,732,184 219,422,942
LR E R TER Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAA High-strength Car Plate Co.,
Ltd. 54,250,217 52,374,969
&5 8 35 §8 Tangshan Meijin 10,064,485 5,898,783
B R E B R Tangshan Iron and Steel
BRAA] Group Heavy Machinery and
Equipment Co., Ltd. 1,330,914 978,731
NS 1 Tangshan Hongci Hospital 266,814 213,518
ELi#EEBEREE QR Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. 1,622,666 1,128,486
BEILEITARER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BREMERA Electric Co., Ltd. 25,398 14,314
Al S g2 = S S8 A R A A HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co.,
Ltd. 607,598,828 505,028,909
EilERENERAR Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace
Charge Co., Ltd. = 626,605
A TE MR AR QR Hegang Industrial Technology
Service Co., Ltd. 137,212 -
1,002,295,619 867,311,270
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38.EABE AR F @

(b) BEBEABAOIMNERRS @)

(i) [AIEGHE T HE S A By X

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(i) Gas transmission and other services provided to

K B IR 7% related parties
2022F 20214
2022 2021
AR R AR
RMB RMB
7 8 Pz 0 B PR A A HBIS Company Limited 13,043,923 52,901,621
FLHEEEGRET DA Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. = 79,646
13,043,923 52,981,267
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BEREBINEARRS#)

% X IR

(Continued)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

(Continued)

(iv)  Receipt of services

2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARY T AR®ETT
RMB RMB
AERY(EB)REER CGll (Shanghai) Investment
BRAFA Management Co., Ltd. - 7,075,472
A B0 B IR AR HBIS Company Limited 24,609,472 6,834,000
EIWElTHARXER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEREMERTA Electric Co., Ltd. 13,274 4,304,336
BELEEFSERMER AT  Tangshan Huitang New Business
Co., Ltd. 94,180 227,344
FELi##EBEEREE QR Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. 1,197,485 1,117,220
FLHEEESEMEEE  Tangshan Iron and Steel
FEW/N] Group Jinheng Enterprise
Development Corporation 1,359,678 340,819
E LR ERM B RAFA Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. 349,430 87,357
BELEEANBRERAT Tangshan Jinheng Human
Resource Management Co.,
Ltd. 874,670 821,948
B ILEE W R Tangshan Huitang Wulian
BRAF Technology Co., Ltd. 540,620 -
BILEE I EEMRS Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAA Technology Service Co., Ltd. 145,416 -
29,184,225 20,808,496
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3. AR Z ) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) EEEBENEARZ (&) (b) Significant transactions with related parties
(Continued)
V) JETEHTHHERE (v) Interest expenses on lease liabilities due to related
T8 B parties
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARY T ARMETT
RMB RMB
A A B R A A HBIS Company Limited 150,940 237,805
FELFERMBR QG Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. = 8,153
150,940 245,958
i) BEEF (vi)  Purchase of materials
20224 20214
2022 2021
ARY T AR
RMB RMB
Al 8 iR 19 B IR A Al HBIS Company Limited 15,364 -
BLEEYBARERAA Tangshan Huitang Wulian
Technology Co., Ltd. = 397,788
15,364 397,788

250 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

38.FEE AR Z#) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) EEEAEE S WA BR (c) Balances with related parties
() EZEWKNE () Trade receivables
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARMETT
RMB RMB
AR B R AR HBIS Company Limited 35,781,332 94,907,310
o] 3 42 = 3§ 5 PR R ) HBIS Laoting Iron and Steel Co.,
Ltd. 316,021,429 175,656,724
&5 i) 35 8 Tangshan Meijin 6,745,179 11,838,080
ELFRERMBR QG Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. 150,012,972 74,461,920
B T#MEREERQF Tangshan Stainless Steel Co.,
Ltd. 22,484,250 26,934,888
J L8 5 &R [ = 58 )R BB AR Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
BRAA] High-strength Car Plate Co.,
Ltd. 18,351,087 16,903,928
JE L R E R Tangshan Iron and Steel
BRAA] Group Heavy Machinery and
Equipment Co., Ltd. 3,071,727 1,675,355
EH S REER AR AR Tangsteel Qinglong Furnace
Charge Co., Ltd. 1,004,608 1,004,608
FILHEEEAREERA Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. 2,942,654 1,269,919
=lE Y15 Tangshan Hongci Hospital 110,625 19,500
A 8 T 25 1% i AR 75 Hegang Industrial Technology
BRAA Service Co., Ltd. 94,360 -
556,620,223 404,672,232
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38. LT R Z @ 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(c) EHEBE L MR E) (c) Balances with related parties (Continued)
(i)  EMERHE (i) Other receivables

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T AR®IT
RMB RMB

FLHEEEEREE QT Tangshan Iron and Steel Group

Co., Ltd. 22,939 27,425
EEEEBMEE Shanghai Huitang Zhihe
BRAR Investment Co., Ltd. 44,690 -
=REg Tangshan Meijin - 1,308,000
67,629 1,335,425
JE U5 B Bt 5 9 EL At SR IR T Other receivables due from related parties are
EER - AHEREREX unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
EE- demand.
(i) BAIEE (i) Contract liabilities
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
ARM T AR T
RMB RMB
ELATHAKER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEREME QA Electric Co., Ltd. 3,180 630
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38.FEE AR Z#) 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(c) R L &R E) (c) Balances with related parties (continued)
(iv) BZENKE (iv) Trade payables
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARMETT
RMB RMB
A #l % 9 B PR A &) HBIS Company Limited 145,720,796 81,469,116
JE 8 ¢ 87 Tangshan Meijin 154,209,365 116,397,503
BEWLFERMEBRAF Tangshan Middle and Heavy
Plate Co., Ltd. 23,144,909 5,794,464
J& 8 B 2 76 (B W) K 5 Tangsteels Veolia (Tangshan)
BEREME AT Water Co., Ltd. 9,608,032 7,649,627
BLEEYBEEER AR Tangshan Huitang Wulian
Technology Co., Ltd. 301,650 49,500
BILEEHEERMABRAR  Tangshan Huitang New Business
Co., Ltd. 435,214 747,760
FLREEEGRET LA Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. 866,019 625,193
FLATAKER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEREMERTA Electric Co., Ltd. 63,044 462,844
EILSAER BB Tangshan Hongci Hospital - 27,096
Bl EESENEEE  Tangshan Iron and Steel
FEW/NG] Group Jinheng Enterprise
Development Corporation 78,930 73,206
BILEE IR Tangshan Huitang Industrial
BRAF Technology Service Co., Ltd. 164,320 -
334,592,279 213,296,309
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38.FEE AR Z#)

(c) EHEAEE S V&R (&)
(v) B ETHIE

(Continued)

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(v)  Other payables

20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T ARMETT
RMB RMB
PERERERRAR China Gas Investors Ltd. 100,671,500 100,671,500
AR B R A A HBIS Company Limited 17,551,629 7,524,029
FEILEITT A RER Tangshan Chuangyuan Fangda
BEREERA Electric Co., Ltd. 3,430,890 11,044,526
FLHEEEBREF AT Tangshan Iron and Steel Group
Co., Ltd. 1,013,351 1,013,351
BT #MEREERQF Tangshan Stainless Steel Co.,
Ltd. 700 700
ARN(EBKREEE CGll (Shanghai) Investment
BRAA] Management Co., Ltd. 7,500,000 7,500,000
& i B PR A2 B 17 AR 19 Tangsteel International
BRAA Engineering Technology
Corp. 2,586,900 3,845,639
132,754,970 131,599,745

e BB 07 B B OB T
WA - THEREER
g -
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38.FEE AR Z#)

(c) EEEAEETS V& &R0

H £2022%512831H L £ For the year ended 31 December 2022

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(c) Balances with related parties (Continued)

vij) HEEE (vi) Lease liabilities
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®ET AR
RMB RMB
A #l % 1 B PR A &) HBIS Company Limited 12,557,141 12,406,201

BHEENEHRBRES
EEBREEGRES
i E B EMERTERR
BHEEA KT AR RE
BREE -

(d BREEAEBNFTFMH
B S E A B R FAH B

The balances which are trading in nature will be settled
in accordance with respective normal commercial credit
terms, and the balances of lease liabilities are expected
to be settled according to the payment schedule
prescribed in the lease contracts.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of members of key management during the

T year was as follows:
20225 20214
2022 2021
AR AR®IT
RMB RMB
TE - Fakftil Wages, salaries, bonuses 3,942,723 3,739,207
FEAES - BERKBR &  Housing funds, medical insurance
H b1t & 18 F 53K and other social welfare
contributions 160,893 252,314
RIRK AR EHAKETE Pension costs — defined contribution
plans 112,826 346,749
4,216,442 4,338,270
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39. B 1% B B B BB

AEENESEEERRLLBRES
MR8 A & B T A A & & B %
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AEENEERREZEAR
HE 5 WA - H A YR
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TERMEERR -

REBWEEIZHFREH
AR -RBESHR AEEF
TETEERRBREY  HPE
5 FE W 5K I8 4B 58 #)96% (2021
F 1 92%) }98% (20217F : 97%)
ADRERAEBREAEFMA
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks which
result from the use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations. The financial risks include market risks (mainly
foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
notes below. The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Directors
meet regularly to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate
strategies to manage financial risks on timely and effective manner.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out below.

(@) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial
instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under the terms
of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not obtain collateral from the counterparties.
At the end of reporting period, the Group has a certain
concentration of credit risk as 96% (2021: 92%) and 98%
(2021: 97%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.
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0. KEAREE»

(a)

SERk#E)
EZEYE
AEBZEENEZHEHREE
EBENSHETEE S ENRE
HEIEEE - AiTEEHEE
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wEB RS EZEY
RIEETHE - BESENFKE
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ARBTENCELEEASE
AR R IRITH RS A
BEEMMELMET - BHE
EEENBFEABEEER I
KB2ENRTEEBALEE
W SR TE B 7 ) B2 BE R R AT s AR
W e

H2022%12A31H 5t 12 B 5
EUWZEREEREARE
8,135,0007T (20214 : #) -

AEBEEENFETHAAER
AR REEER - BRETR
RAITE A HIE R ERMIEHH
BREGE UYRLERRBAE

B B I K BB 00

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. To measure the ECLs,
the trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix
by reference to past default experience of the debtor, current
market condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure. The
ECLs also
reference to general macroeconomic conditions that may affect

incorporated forward-looking information with

the ability of the debtors to settle receivables.

An impairment loss of RMB8,135,000 (2021: Nil) for trade
receivables was made at 31 December 2022.

The management of the Group has also assessed all available

forward-looking information, including but not limited to
expected growth rate of the industry and expected subsequent
settlement, and concluded that there no significant increase

in credit risk.
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(a)
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, approximately 97% and
95% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from HBIS
Group Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries and their respective
associates (collectively the “HBIS Group”). Given the strong
business relationship with the HBIS Group and its good
reputation, management does not expect that there will be
any significant losses from non-performance by HBIS Group.
The credit period granted to the Group’s customers, including
the HBIS Group, is usually no more than 180 days and the
credit quality of these customers is assessed, which takes
into account their financial position, past experience and other
factors. In view of the sound collection history of receivables
due from them, management believes that the credit risk
inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivables balances
due from them is not significant. In addition, there was no
significant unfavourable current conditions and forecast future
economic conditions identified as at 31 December 2022 and
2021.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

Other receivables
ECLs model for other receivables are summarised below:

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial
recognition are classified in “Stage 1” and have their credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The ECLs are measured
on a 12-month basis.

- If a significant increase in credit risk (as define below)
since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but it not yet deemed
to be credit-impaired. The ECLs are measured on lifetime
basis.

- If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The ECLs are
measured on lifetime basis.

- At Stages 1 and 2, interest income is calculated on
the gross carrying amount (without deducting the
loss allowance). If a financial instrument subsequently
becomes credit-impaired (Stage 3), the Group is required
to calculate the interest income by applying the effective
interest method in subsequent reporting periods to the
amortised cost of the financial asset (the gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) rather than the gross
carrying amount.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no provision was made
against the gross amount of other receivables because the
Group considered the impact of the impairment of other
receivables to be insignificant based on past credit history and
the nature of the other receivables.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Credit risk (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at FVOC/

To manage risk arising from cash and cash equivalents and
financial assets at FVOCI, the Group only transacts with state-
owned or reputable financial institutions in mainland China.

There is no recent history of default in relation to those financial
institution.

The credit policies have been consistently applied and are
considered to be effective in managing the Group’s exposure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able
to meet its obligations associated with its financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of settlement
of trade and other payables and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.

The liquidity policy has been followed by the Group during the
year and is considered by the Directors to have been effective
in managing liquidity risks.

The following table summarises the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and the earliest
date the Group can be required to pay.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (coniinued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

SME 122% 258 BiB5E st RaE
More than  More than
1year but 2 years but
Less than less than less than ~ More than Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total Amount
AR®R  AR¥T  AR¥n ARz AR¥R  ARE:n
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
R202251231R At 31 December 2022
BR(ELREFHE) Borrowings (principal and accrued interest) 267,060,333 223,992,868 124,398,289 - 615451,490 573,949,079
BHREBERNTAE Trade and other payables (excluding
(TREERESR salaries and bonus payables and tax
TARERHER payables and interests payable)
ERHME) 575,418,828 = = - 575418828 575,418,828
MEER Lease liabilties 10,983,063 832,104 1,830,708 - 13645875 13,263,373
853,462,224 224,824,972 126,228,997 - 1,204,516,193 1,162,631,280
DiE 122% 2558 BiEsE it FHE
More than More than
Tyearbut 2 years but
Less than less than less than More than Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total Amount
ARET ARETR ARET ARET ARET ARET
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
R20215127331R At 31 December 2021
ER(rEREHTIE) Borrowings (principal and accrued interest) 315,616,655 190,394,621 137162432 — 643173708 603,308,685
BHREBERNTAE Trade and other payables (excluding
(TREERELR salaries and bonus payables and tax
THREAHER payables and interests payable)
ERHE) 461,377,839 - - — 461377839 461377839
HERE Lease liabiites 10,723,994 1747129 1,830,708 — 14301831 13722369
787718488 192141750 138993140 — 1118853378 1,078,408,893
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk primarily
arose from borrowings with floating rated (details of which have
been disclosed in note 30) and cash and cash equivalents.
Those carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk whereas those carried at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

If the interest rate of borrowings with floating rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower, the profit before income tax for the
years ended 31 December 2022, and 2021 would have been
approximately RMB166,032 and RMB208,582 lower/higher,
respectively. This analysis doesn’t include the effect of interest
capitalised.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been 50
basis points higher/lower, the profit before income tax for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 would have been
approximately RMB1,803,692 and RMB1,487,763 higher/lower,
respectively).
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(d)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through operation
outside PRC which give rise to other payables and cash and
cash equivalents that are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate.

The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily USD and
HKD. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign
currency exposures regularly and considers no significant
exposure on its foreign exchange risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group’s profit before income tax in response to reasonably
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the
Group has significant exposure at the end of reporting period.
The sensitivity analysis includes balances between Group
companies where the denomination of the balances is in a
currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or
the borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit and other equity where the USD strengthens against
the relevant currency. For a weakening of the USD against
the relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and other equity, and the balances below
would be negative.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

BE & HERFAEHA

E#A(FEK) BB &
Increase/

(decrease) Effect on
in foreign profit before
exchange rate income tax
AR ARY T
RMB RMB

2022%F 2022
ETT usD 5% 233,653
(5%) (233,653)
BT HKD 5% 2,468,606
(5%) (2,468,606)

20214 2021
E7T usD 5% 213,791
(5%) (213,791)
BT HKD 5% 8,259,131
(5%) (8,259,131)

FREESTRERETE
ERHEMRBLEMET @ X
ERZHERRSEEERT
EOTERETESR TARMR
ASEERER - MAAEMmE
E USRI R =) A R¥5 A& o

264 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain
constant.
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(e)
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PRt ZEERREEEHEET
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AAENRaNTEEL BT
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AR BINEBHMERREE
RAREEO2Y G MEE/W
ERo

EXER

AEEEABEZTERANRER
REAEBERFELLEZENT
HEBRBREARLE  UXHHR
EBRBEREREAER-

AEEEREEARBLRE
AR R LY 8 EAF 5
E-REBIFAEERRE
AEERSRHBHBRHBE
&R MRRREEARES
MRTTER - REFER - EEE
AHBEE  BRRIEFHREL
&1k -

ERARENN—HD  AKH
EEZEETEARANUARBAE
BERHBENRR REES
MEERE  AKE/RBBAR
T 7 BCIA B2 38 D0 3 8 5% 2K F 1
HEBENERE -

HITAREME % ~EH
NEEBBELRETER - &
e R EHREBERR A REARGT
5 EBREEREERREE
EREEEREGHUBEMRR
REPFREIORBRIERE A
B) -

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(d) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

(e)

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over
the period until the next annual reporting date. Results of
the analysis as presented in the above table represent an
aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit
for the year and equity measured in the respective functional
currencies, translated into RMB at the exchange rate ruling
at the end of reporting period for presentation purposes.
The analysis excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into
the Group’s presentation currency.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividends payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or obtain new bank borrowings. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.

As part of this review, the Directors of the Group consider
the cost of capital and the risk associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through issuance of
new shares as well as the addition of new borrowings.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total capital. Total debt consists of total
borrowings, as well as lease liabilities (including “current and
non-current” items as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position).
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(e) EXEEH)
20224 K 2021F12 A31HME

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

(e) Capital management (Continued)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as

EABLERINT: follows:
2022%F 20214
2022 2021
AR®T AR T
RMB RMB
BB Total debt 585,793,492 615,438,670
W 4 EE Total equity 1,385,833,059 1,282,029,870
BEABEBELX Gearing ratio 42% 48%

40. P REEFTE
@ AREEER
BARBEMNESHELALE
BN TAEAIKERRT=E
N EENGE ST E A U
EBRETHE - BASBERA
AEEERFPSEANT=1E
EEE

F1EA: MRBEERNEERM
HHMEBCREH
)

F2BG: B —RBABURMN
SNA] E B Sk MR
= A 8%

FEIBH: TR EREGABE
(BPIEIENTHE B TS
IR ©

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(@) Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value
was disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs
are categorized into three levels within a fair value hierarchy
as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level
1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market
data).

266 CHINA GAS INDUSTRY INVESTMENT HOLDINGS CO. LTD.



BOFM I mRM A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#H £2022512 3318 L £E For the year ended 31 December 2022

40. A REEFTTE®

(a)

ARBEEERED

HRIBERE  AEEEH
EEBBERAERASEEY
HHRUHKIE Bk EME
W) AR eRAaE(BEE
7 R EAM B FOR - 5B RTT
tEREHERE) MREERR
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IS R FIREFE

TR 2 5K £ B 1R2022F &
2021F12 A31B L A £ BE 5t

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)

(a)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and deposits
and other receivables and financial liabilities including trade
and other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings, and
lease liabilities, approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities. The carrying amount of the Group’s non-current
borrowings approximate their fair values as they are carried at
interest rate close to market rate at each year end.

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities
that are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and

ENEENBE: 2021
F1BR F2E R EIER ‘et
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
iz ARET AR®n AR¥n AR%:x
Note RMB RMB RMB RMB
R2022612831H As at 31 December 2022
BEAREBEEGAEZD Financial assets at FVOCI
BANENEREE 27 - - 28,812,893 28,812,893
M2021F12A318 As at 31 December 2021
BARBE;AER Financial assets at FVOCI
GeElameREE 27 - - 23443760 23,443,760

FIBHRTEBEERERE - A
REZETATERZBEMEE
B EANRERAAEBEAEDRES
BEEHE LGB ENEHD
HEAPRBAEREET - B
W Z i (M 5E27) A A EEWR
REEEBEBMERS -

REA - EREERERE
BT BUEREF2E RN
ARABEFAEZHLEERZR
WEEBAFEIERKBEEIBER
B

The level 3 instruments include notes receivable. As these
instruments are not traded in an active market, their fair
values have been determined based on discounted cash flow
using the expected return based on management judgement
and estimates. Fair value of notes receivables (note 27) are
considered approximate to their carrying amount.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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40. AR EBEFTEw

(b)

FRAEXRFTABERAR
B(EIBRAINAAEE
ks

T &R 25 E = 20224 %2021
FRANALFERAABE
FAEMGEREcEmMEE

40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continuea)

(b) Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

WEIERTA
20224 20214
2022 2021
AR®T N
RMB RMB
REH As the beginning of the year 23,443,760 46,823,190
W B Acquisitions 268,520,610 194,688,233
k= Disposals (263,151,477) (218,067,663)
ARBEEEY Change in fair value - -
RER As the end of the year 28,812,893 23,443,760

Net unrealised gain for the year
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40. AR EBEFTE@® 40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(c) HEBREREM (c) Valuation process and techniques
AEEXREEKERE AETK The Group has a team that manages the valuation of level
MENFIERTAME - ZE 3 instruments for financial reporting purposes. The team
BZE—EREERENMHE manages the valuation exercise of the investments on a case
WEDL—FFEARGEREM by case basis. At least one a year, the team uses valuation
EEAEEFEIERTANAR techniques to determine the fair value of the Group’s level 3
=RI= instruments.

ERZETIAETERNTRMS As these instruments are not traded in an active market, their

BEE HEARBENERAZRE fair values have been determined by using various applicable

EAMGERN - B valuation techniques, including:

- MIRBeRERI KA - the discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs
BB ABE  XZ8E mainly including assumptions of expected future cash
TEERRRIR & ME K AR flows and discount rate; and
20

- EA TR AN A B R g - a combination of observable and unobservable inputs,
ABUE - BIEMRESE - including discount rate etc..
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40. MR EEFTEw 40. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
(c) HEBRERFI(E) (c) Valuation process and techniques (Continued)
REAN - HERITTESS - There were no changes to valuation techniques during the
year.
TURERAYE
B 2022% 02105 FUBREAALE 2022% 0215 HRMEENBE
Relationship of
Unobservable unobservable inputs to
Description 2022 2021 inputs 2022 2021 fair value
AR%TR ARBT
RMB RMB
BUEE 28,812,893 23443760 ERARERE 1.62%-5.00%  242%-335% ERARHBRAZ
RREEBE
Notes receivables Risk-adjusted The higher the risk-adjusted
discount rate discount rate, the lower the
fair value
AREREEREA A EEMBED Key assumptions used in the valuation of the fair value of
FTERRBIERKRFAZIIRE notes receivables include risk-adjusted discount rate, if the
ik 2 B 77 22 B 35 3= 188 5% 3% 1M P risk-adjusted discount rate had decreased or increased by
BEMEHEFET  EZE 3% with all other variables held constant, the fair value of
20224 K 202112 A31H 1 f& notes receivables would have been increased or decreased by
WEBAABEGEROAR approximately RMB191,972 or RMB189,738 and RMB205,851
#191,9727T 3k A [ #189,738 or RMB213,590 as of 31 December 2022 and 2021.
TR A R#205,8517T 3 A R ¥
213,5907T °
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme prepared in
accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Share Option
Scheme was conditionally adopted and effective upon Listing by the
written resolutions of its then shareholders passed on 17 June 2020.
The Company is thus entitled to issue a maximum of 120,000,000
Shares upon exercise of the share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme limit, representing 10% of the Shares in issue
immediately after the completion of the Global Offering and as at
the date of the Listing (i.e. 29 December 2020). The purpose of
the Share Option Scheme is to motivate any director of, manager
of, or other employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory
or similar position in, any member of the Group (an “Employee”),
any proposed Employee, any full-time or part-time Employee, or
a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or part-
time for any member of the Group (an “Executive”), a director or
proposed director (including an independent non-executive director)
of any member of the Group, a general staff of any member of the
Group, a consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee,
contractor, agent or representative of any member of the Group, a
person or entity that provides advisory, consultancy, professional or
other services to any member of the Group, or a close associate
(as defined under the Listing Rules) of any of the foregoing persons
(collectively, the “Eligible Persons”) to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past
contributions, to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
relationships with Eligible Persons who are significant to and/or
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance,
growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the case of
Executives, to enable the Group to attract and retain individuals
with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past
contributions.
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41.

42,

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coniinuea)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no option
was granted by the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
The Company did not have any outstanding share options as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As of the approval date on these financial statements, the Group
had no significant events after the Reporting Period which need to
be disclosed.
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